
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session.  The 
Council will webcast the meeting. 

Please ask for: 
Sharon Keenlyside 

 
28 January 2020 

 
Dear Councillor 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE to be held on Thursday 6 February 2020 
at 7.30 pm in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City, 
Herts, AL8 6AE 
 

 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
Corporate Director 
Public Protection, Planning and Governance 
 
 

A G E N D A 
PART 1 

 

1.   SUBSTITUTIONS  
 

 To note any substitution of Committee Members made in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rules. 
 

2.   APOLOGIES  
 

3.   MINUTES  
 

 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 9 January 2020 
(previously circulated). 
 

4.   NOTIFICATION OF URGENT BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER ITEM 13 
AND ANY ITEMS WITHDRAWN FROM THE AGENDA  
 

5.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST BY MEMBERS  
 

 To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-disclosable 

Public Document Pack



pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items on the Agenda. 
 

6.   THE LAWN CEMETERY, SOUTHWAY, HATFIELD, AL10 8HS - 6/2019/1208/MAJ 
- ERECTION OF A NEW CREMATORIUM AND MACHINERY STORE, TO 
INCLUDE NEW CAR PARKING PROVISION AND LANDSCAPING FOLLOWING 
DEMOLITION OF EXISTING CHAPEL, MACHINERY STORE, LODGE HOUSE 
AND CENTRAL COLONNADE (Pages 5 - 42) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance). 
 

7.   MINSTER HOUSE, MINSTER CLOSE, HATFIELD, AL10 9JN - 6/2019/2086/MAJ 
- ERECTION OF 90 RESIDENTIAL UNITS FOR OVER 55'S WITH ASSOCIATED 
COMMUNAL AREAS, AMENITY SPACE, CAR PARKING AND ALTERATIONS 
TO EXISTING ACCESS FOLLOWING DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BUILDINGS 
(Pages 43 - 82) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance). 
 

8.   22 THE COMMON, HATFIELD, AL10 0ND - 6/2019/2478/MAJ - ERECTION OF 4 
STOREY CAR PARK COMPRISING 420 PARKING SPACES, MOTORCYCLE 
AND CYCLE PARKING, STORAGE AND ANCILLARY SPACE AND 
ASSOCIATED LANDSCAPING AND PUBLIC REALM WORKS TO ROBIN HOOD 
LANE (Pages 83 - 108) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance). 
 

9.   41-43 TOWN CENTRE, HATFIELD, AL10 0JJ - 6/2019/1665/MAJ - PART 
RETENTION OF GROUND FLOOR AND BASEMENT LEVEL RETAIL AND 
RETAIL STORAGE (A1 USE) WITH THE FIRST FLOOR CONVERTED AND 
EXTENDED FROM RETAIL STORAGE (A1 USE) FOR FOUR STOREYS OF 
47NO STUDENT FLATS (C2 USE) AND ASSOCIATED GROUND FLOOR 
CYCLE AND REFUSE STORAGE (Pages 109 - 134) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance). 
 

10.   APPEAL DECISIONS (Pages 135 - 136) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Direction (Public Protection, Planning and Governance). 
 

11.   PLANNING UPDATE - FUTURE PLANNING APPLICATIONS (Pages 137 - 150) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance). 
 

12.   DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE REPORT OCTOBER - 
DECEMBER 2019 (Pages 151 - 160) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance). 
 

13.   SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, IS OF 
SUFFICIENT URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION  
 



14.   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 The Committee is asked to resolve: 
 
That under Section 100(A)(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be now excluded from the meeting for Item 15 on the grounds that it 
involves the likely disclosure of confidential or exempt information as defined in 
Section 100(A)(3) and Paragraphs 2 (Information likely to reveal the identity of an 
individual), and 6 (Statutory notice or order)  of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said 
Act (as amended). 
 
In resolving to exclude the public in respect of the exempt information, it is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 
 

PART II 
 

15.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS OF AN EXEMPT NATURE AT THE DISCRETION OF 
THE CHAIRMAN  

 
Circulation: Councillors J.Boulton (Chairman) 

S.Wrenn (Vice-Chairman) 
S.Boulton 
J.Broach 
A.Chesterman 
S.Elam 
B.Fitzsimon 
 

P.Hebden 
S.Kasumu 
M.Larkins 
F.Marsh 
J.Ranshaw 
P.Shah 
 

 Corporate Management Team 
Press and Public (except Part II Items) 

 
 
If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Sharon 
Keenlyside, Governance Service on 01707 357443 or email – 
democracy@welhat.gov.uk  
 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Main author: Mark Peacock 
Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton 
(South Hatfield & Welham Green) 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 6 FEBRUARY 2020 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE)  
 
6/2019/1208/MAJ 
 
THE LAWN CEMETERY, SOUTHWAY, HATFIELD, AL10 8HS 
 
ERECTION OF A NEW CREMATORIUM AND MACHINERY STORE, TO INCLUDE 
NEW CAR PARKING PROVISION AND LANDSCAPING FOLLOWING DEMOLITION 
OF EXISTING CHAPEL, MACHINERY STORE, LODGE HOUSE AND CENTRAL 
COLONNADE 
 
APPLICANT: Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 
 

 
      

1 Background 

1.1 Planning permission was granted on 3 May 2017 (ref: 6/2016/2623/MAJ) for the 
erection of a new chapel, machinery store and crematory, to include new car 
parking provision and enhanced landscaping following demolition of existing 
chapel, machinery store, lodge house and central colonnade.  The lawfulness of 
this permission was challenged by judicial review and subsequently quashed by 
The High Court, ruling that the local authority did not properly consider capacity 
at a nearby facility.  Sir Wyn Williams, sitting as a High Court judge, said the 
spare capacity at Crematoria Management’s site at near Broxbourne should have 
been considered and that failing to do so was a material error, and one where he 
was unable to say the decision would have been the same had it not occurred.  
In giving judgment, Sir Wyn Williams dismissed a challenge on whether an 
Environmental Impact Assessment had been needed but upheld one about 
Welwyn Hatfield’s ability to demonstrate that there was a need for the 
development given the cemetery’s Green Belt location. 

2 Site Description 

2.1 The site is located to the south of Hatfield and comprises an area of land 
measuring approximately 4.24 hectares in area (10.4 acres).  The site lies within 
the Green Belt and on the edge of open countryside.  To the south and east of 
the site there are fields.  A park and ride facility is located to the west and there is 
residential development to the north.  Lawn Cemetery was opened in 1984 and 
provides services for burials and memorialisation.  Both burial and cremation 
plots are available at the cemetery.  The site also has a mausoleum for above 
ground internment.  Over half of the cemetery site has been utilised for burials to 
date, with capacity for more burials in the future.   

2.2 The cemetery has an undulating topography, from the highest point near to the 
access, sloping down to the south western corner of the site.  A backdrop of 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



trees to the western boundary hides views of the park and ride, which is 
separated from the cemetery site by a public footpath. 

2.3 Existing buildings are located near to the site access from South Way.  These 
consist of a former gate lodge, a chapel which holds around 50 people and 
facilities for ground staff, including equipment storage, staff area, public health 
services and a work’s yard. 

2.4 There are a number of existing built structures in addition to the chapel and 
administrative building, including mausoleum, machinery store and large brick 
pergola feature.  The land identified to accommodate the future crematorium is 
located towards the southwestern corner of the site, an area currently laid to 
lawn. 

2.5 A public footpath extends close to the eastern site boundary, connecting South 
Way and the residential area to the north, to Bush Wood / Welham Green to the 
south.  Dellsome Lane restricted byway is located 300m to the south of the site, 
which connects Roestock in the west, to Dellsome Bottom in the east and a third 
footpath extends along the western boundary, connecting the restricted byway to 
South Way (A1001) to the north. 

 
Aerial view showing the site (not to scale) 

 
3 The Proposal 

3.1 The current proposal is for a new planning application for the same development 
applied for under application 6/2016/2623/MAJ.   

3.2 Full planning permission is sought for the demolition of the existing chapel, 
machinery store, lodge house and central colonnade and the erection of a 
building comprising a chapel, machinery store and crematorium and the 
establishment of car parking area and associated landscape on the south-
western end of the site.  The building would be predominantly single-storey built 
with the chapel parapet rising to 8m and to 10m at the catafalque end.  The 
chapel and crematorium building would have a footprint of 921.5m² and would be 
T-shaped in form measuring approximately 38m wide and 50m wide.  

Page 6



3.3 Access to the site would be as existing via a route along the northern boundary 
from South Way.  Visitors by car will use the existing entrance and proceed 
around the site in a counter clockwise direction, using the existing road 
alignments. 

3.4 The application is accompanied by a Design and Access Statement which 
describes the building as being of contemporary design with glazed areas, faced 
in brick with trabeated structures (column & beam) and having a porte cochère 
feature supported on light column and the brick skin of the chapel volume is 
accented by a panel of translucent onyx.  The chimney is subservient to the 
chapel volume, as opposed to being designed as a significant vertical statement. 
The plans suggest an open parkland landscape with a garden of remembrance, 
additional trees, and two ponds (water gardens) planted with rushes and weeping 
willows presenting a bucolic view and also a practical way of attenuating flood 
water. The crematorium would be designed as a secular space but capable of 
accommodating temporary religious symbolism. 

3.5 A new landscaped car park for 66 vehicles is proposed near to the crematorium.  
In addition, 29 in-line parking spaces would be provided across the cemetery 
site, together with two lay-bys, each accommodating up to 3 vehicles.  In total 
there would be 101 parking spaces available. 

3.6 In support of the application, a review has been undertaken in terms of the need 
for a crematorium for this location (Amended Needs Assessment report and 
Alternative Site Options report).  These studies have been updated since the 
previous planning application and The Broxbourne, Woollensbrook crematorium 
has been factored into the analysis since opening in March 2017.  The Amended 
Needs Assessment makes the case for a quantitative and qualitative need based 
on demographics, population projections, drive time analysis and existing 
cremation provision.  This need is also qualified by the need placed upon the 
Borough in the event of a pandemic. 

4 Reason for Committee Consideration 

4.1 This application is presented to the Development Management Committee 
because it has been advertised as a departure from the development plan and 
because Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council is the applicant. 

5 Relevant Planning History 

5.1 Application Number: S6/2015/0268/FP  
Decision: Granted 
Decision Date: 05 May 2015 
Proposal: Extension to existing colonnade and alterations to form a mausoleum 
 

5.2 Application Number: S6/1983/0436/DC 
Decision: Granted  
Decision Date: 01 September 1983 
Proposal: Gardens of remembrance, pergola and covered shelter 

 
5.3 Application Number: S6/1983/0437/DC 

Decision: Granted  
Decision Date: 01 September 1983 
Proposal: Cemetery including caretakers lodge 
 

Page 7



5.4 Application Number: S6/1980/0722/DC 
Decision: Granted  
Decision Date: 19 February 1981 
Proposal: Use of land as cemetery 

 
6 Relevant Planning Policy 

6.1 National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF)  

6.2 Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 (District Plan) 

6.3 Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 2016 (Emerging Local Plan 2016) 

6.4 Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 (SDG) 

6.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance, Parking Standards 2004 (SPG) 

6.6 Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards and Garage Sizes 2014 (Interim Car 
Parking Policy) 

7 Site Designation  

7.1 The site lies within the Metropolitan Green Belt; Landscape Character Area 29 
and Watling Chase Community Forest as designated in the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005. 

8 Representations Received  

8.1 The application was advertised by means of site notice, press notice and 
neighbour notification letters.  One representation has been received from 
Westerleigh Group objecting to the proposal as originally submitted.  A further 
objection was received from Westerleigh Group following the submission of the 
Amended Needs Assessment report.   

8.2 The objection initial objection can be summarised as: 

 The Need Assessment report to be misleading as it is based on out of 
date information, a number of un-substantiated and false assumptions and 
incomplete analysis.  

 The Need Assessment report does not demonstrate a compelling need. 

 Very special circumstances, based on need, do not exist to outweigh the 
harm arising from inappropriate development in the Green Belt. 
 

8.3 The subsequent objection can be summarised as: 
 

 The information submitted only demonstrates that a new crematorium 
would be viable and desirable but does no demonstrate need. 

 The 30 minute drive time map is incorrect. 

 The bulk of the proposed catchment is already within the drive time of 
existing crematoria. 

 The areas not currently served appear to have a much lower population of 
circa 43,000 than the 70,247 claimed. 

 All areas are served within a 40 minute adjusted drive time. 

 Disagree that Woollensbrook does no serve the needs of the catchment. 

Page 8



 The updated report has used a hypothetical calculation for assessing 
capacity which is incorrect and misleading. 

 No data on direct cremations which do not involve services within core 
hours. 

 The information from Funeral Directors cannot be relied upon or given any 
weight by the planning authority and should be discounted. 

 
9 Consultations Received  

9.1 The statutory consultation responses received are summarised below, and where 
appropriate expanded upon in later sections of this report. 

9.2 Hertfordshire County Council Right of Way (RoW): Commented – North Mymms 
public footpath 52 runs along the boundary of this site and although it appears 
unaffected by the works, we would like to see it re-fenced to represent the correct 
legal boundary.  Currently the Cemetery boundary fencing protrudes out into the 
width of the public footpath, when as per the land registry plan and OS Mapping 
it should be a straight line following the historic boundary. 

9.3 Hertfordshire County Council – Growth Team: Based on the information to date 
the Growth & Infrastructure Unit will not be seeking financial contributions at this 
point in time. 

9.4 Hertfordshire County Council Ecology: No objection subject to conditions and 
informatives. 

9.5 Hertfordshire County Council – Transport Programmes and Strategy (HCCTPS): 
No objection subject to suggested conditions. 

9.6 Hertfordshire County Council – Lead Local Flood Authority: No objection subject 
to suggested conditions. 

9.7 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council – Public Health and Protection: No objection 
subject to conditions and informatives. 

9.8 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council – Landscape and Ecology: No objection 
subject to suggested conditions.  

9.9 Hertfordshire County Council – Historic Environment Advisor: No objection  

9.10 Environment Agency – No objection  

9.11 Thames Water – No objection  

9.12 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council – Estates Team: No comment 

9.13 Hertfordshire Gardens Trust: No comment 

9.14 No response from: Borough of Broxbourne, WHBC Parking Services, HCC 
Spatial Planning & Economy, Cadent Gas, Place Services, Affinity Water Ltd and 
Herts Middlesex Bat Group. 

 

 

Page 9



10 Town/Parish Council Representations 

10.1 Hatfield Town Council – submitted with the following comment: 

“Members welcome this application. They wish to see checks on air quality.” 

10.2 North Mymms Parish Council – submitted the following comment:  

“North Mymms Parish Council support the improvement of the proposed facilities 
to meet local needs and comment that it must comply with Green Belt policies.”  
 

11 Analysis 

11.1 The main planning issues to be considered in the determination of this 
application are: 

1. Principle of development in the Green Belt 
2. Quality of design and impact on the character of the area  
3. Amenity and living conditions of neighbouring occupiers 
4. Highways and parking provision  
5. Other considerations 

i) Air quality 
ii) Contaminated land 
iii) Drainage 
iv) Ecology and protected species 
v) Environmental Impact Assessment 

6. The planning balance  
 
 

1. Principal of development in the Green Belt 
 
11.2 The site is located within the Metropolitan Green Belt as defined by District Plan 

Policy GBSP1.  The National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF) identifies 
that the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by 
keeping land permanently open.  Para.143 of the NPPF states that inappropriate 
development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be 
approved except in very special circumstances.  Para.144 states that local 
planning authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to 
the Green Belt and very special circumstances will not exist unless the potential 
harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm 
resulting from the proposal, is clearly outweighed by other considerations. 
 

11.3 Within that context the main issues to consider in terms of Green Belt policy are:  
 

 the appropriateness of the development in Green Belt; 

 the effect on the openness and purposes of the Green Belt; and  

 whether the harm by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is 
clearly outweighed by other considerations so as to amount to the very 
special circumstances necessary to justify the development. 

 
Appropriateness 
 

11.4 The construction of new buildings should be regarded as inappropriate in the 
Green Belt, subject to a number of exceptions as set out in para.145.  The 
development of a crematorium does not fall within any of the exceptions to the 

Page 10



general policy presumption against the construction of new buildings in the 
Green Belt and is therefore inappropriate development by definition.   
 
Openness  
 

11.5 In terms of openness, para.133 of NPPF states that the essential characteristics 
of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence.  There is no definition 
of openness in NPPF but, in the context of the Green Belt, it is generally held to 
refer to freedom from, or the absence of, development.  Whilst the physical 
presence of any above ground development would, to some extent, diminish the 
openness of the Green Belt regardless of whether or not it can be seen, 
openness also goes beyond physical presence and has a visual aspect.  In the 
visual sense, openness is a qualitative judgement. 
 

11.6 Indeed, in line with Turner v Secretary of State and East Dorset Council [2016] 
judgement the concept of openness should not be limited to a volumetric 
approach comparing the size, mass and physical effect of openness before and 
after development.  Such an approach would be far too simplistic and ignore the 
wider aspects of openness which goes beyond the physical effect of buildings or 
structures.  Factors relevant include how built up the Green Belt is now and how 
built up would it be after development has taken place.  
 

11.7 In Samuel Smith Old Brewery (Tadcaster) Oxton Farm v North Yorkshire County 
Council & Anor [2018] the visual impact of the scheme was considered as 
important as its “spatial” effects.  Para.38 of the judgement affirms that to exclude 
visual impact, as a matter of principle, from a consideration of the likely effects of 
development on the openness of the Green Belt would be artificial and 
unrealistic.  A realistic assessment will often have to include the likely perceived 
effects on openness, if any, as well as the spatial effects. 
 

11.8 The approach set out above is supported within National Planning Practice 
Guidance (NPPG) through the amendments which were published in July 2019. 
 

11.9 As outlined above, the application site comprises 4.24 hectares of land which 
accommodates an existing cemetery.  It lies within the Green Belt on the edge of 
Hatfield.  To the south and east of the site there are fields.  A park and ride 
facility is located to the west and there is residential development to the north.  
There are a number of buildings and/or structures upon the site and within it 
there are plots for deceased persons who have been cremated as well as those 
who are to be buried.  There are also extensive areas of hard surfacing which 
provide for car parking, access and circulation, as well as the concrete platforms 
required for the siting of headstones.  Whilst the access and concrete platforms 
extend widely across the site, it is notable that the majority of the built structures 
are situated within the central and northern part of the site, whilst the southern 
part, in particular the south west corner, is less developed being mostly laid to 
lawn.     
 

11.10 The site is generally well contained by extensive mature trees and hedges to all 
its boundaries.  The boundary vegetation can be seen clearly from South Way 
which runs to the north or the site, as well as other surrounding public vantage 
points, including a public footpath which runs to the west of site and more distant 
views from the south and east.  The site itself can only be seen in glimpsing 
views, particularly during the winter months.  The apex of the existing gate lodge 

Page 11



can be seen from South Way and locations along the public footpath to the west, 
as wells as more distant view points to the south and east of the site.   

 
11.11 Access to the site is from South Way via a gated entrance to the north east 

corner of the cemetery.  The access road is steeply sloping as levels rise up from 
the edge of the highway.  The entrance gates are supported by brick pies, behind 
which the access road is flanked by tall brick walls.  Near to the entrance is a 
substantial building which comprises a gate lodge, a chapel and an 
administrative building.  This building is situated at a high point in the landscape 
and, on entering the site, it obscures what would otherwise be expansive views 
over the cemetery and the surrounding landscape. 

 
11.12 There are a number of existing built structures in addition to the gate lodge, 

chapel and administrative building, including a large brick colonnade at the 
centre of the site and, towards the western site boundary, a mausoleum and 
machinery store.  The Design and Access Statement which accompanied the 
application provides existing and proposed floorspace and volume figures for 
comparison.  These figures were relied upon in the consideration and 
determination of the 2016 planning application for the same development. 
 

11.13 The footprint breakdown of the buildings to be demolished are as follows: 
 

 Gate lodge / chapel / administrative building - 341m² 

 Colonnade - 713m²  

 Total - 1,054m² 
 

11.14 In addition to the above, it is proposed to demolish the walls which are linked to 
the gate lodge building and which enclose a maintenance compound and garden 
area which served the gate lodge.  The enclosed area equates to 744m². 

11.15 Taking the above into consideration, the total developed area to be demolished 
has a footprint of 1,798m².  

11.16 The footprint breakdown of the proposed buildings are as follows: 
 

 Chapel / crematorium - 921m² 

 Porte-cochere (arrival canopy) - 325m² 

 Cloistered flower garden and flower court - 289m² 

 Compound - 315m² 

 Total - 1850m²  
 

11.17 According to these figures, the total enclosed area to be demolished has a 
footprint of 1,798m² whilst the footprint of the proposed enclosed area would 
measure 1,850m².  This represents an increase of approximately 52m² or 3% 
compared to the existing situation.  

11.18 In terms of volume, the Design and Access Statement provides figures for the 
existing buildings and colonnade for comparison against the proposed chapel 
and crematorium.  These figures do not include the enclosed garden areas, 
compounds or canopies either as existing or proposed.  The figures are as 
follows: 
 
 
 

Page 12



 Existing building - 1,363m³ 

 Existing colonnade - 2,307m³ 

 Total volume as existing - 3,670m³ 

 Proposed building - 4,390m³ 
 

11.19 The figures above demonstrate an overall increase in volume of 720m³, which 
equates to 20% increase compared to the existing situation.  
 

11.20 In terms of openness of the Green Belt, the proposed increase in footprint and 
volume demonstrate that the proposal would materially increase the amount of 
development on the site, thereby reducing the openness of the Green Belt to a 
degree.  Notwithstanding this, for the reasons outlined earlier in this report, it is 
acknowledged that openness goes beyond physical presence and that the visual 
sense openness is a qualitative judgement pertaining to the whole, including 
disposition of buildings, height, bulk, mass, roofscape, landscape and 
topography. 
 

11.21 In this case, it is notable that the proposed building would have a greater 
proportion of its bulk at first floor level.  Moreover, the highest element of the 
proposed building would reach approximately 10m compared to the existing 
building which measures approximately 7m in height.  However, there are other 
factors which weigh in favour of the proposal, such as its limited visual 
prominence within the wider landscape.  The new building, though taller and 
larger than the existing, would be situated in a low lying area at the far corner of 
the site (approximately 6m lower).  This means that, taking into account the 
topography of the site, the ridge height would be 300mm lower than the existing 
(15.8m above datum compared to 16.1m as existing).  Whilst the building would 
contain a chimney, it would not project above the height of the main part of the 
building, and would be sensitively designed to avoid a utilitarian, industrial 
appearance.  Given the extent and height of surrounding trees, it is unlikely that 
the building would be particularly prominent within the wider landscape.  Even 
when viewed from within the cemetery itself, it is considered that the siting and 
design of the prosed building would be assimilated more successfully within the 
surrounding landscape, compared to the existing buildings, thus reducing its 
perceived scale.  
 

11.22 The most prominent existing building on the site is the gate lodge / chapel and 
administrative building.  This complex of buildings is visible from South Way and, 
being located on the crest of the hill, it looms over visitors as they enter the site. 
The signposted route into the site takes visitors through the gate lodge, which 
emphasis the perceived scale of the building as experienced by visitors.  In the 
centre of the site there is an existing brick colonnade, which although not solid in 
form, still acts as a substantial visual barrier, particularly when viewed from 
certain angles.  The proposed removal of these structures will therefore enhance 
views across the site from the most important public vantage point – the point of 
access and the highest part of the site.  
 

11.23 As well as the physical differences between the existing and proposed buildings, 
there would also be a need for additional hard surfacing associated with vehicle 
parking for the crematorium.  In this regard, a new landscaped car park for 66 
vehicles is proposed near to the crematorium.  In addition, 29 in-line parking 
spaces would be provided across the cemetery site, together with two lay-bys, 
each accommodating up to three vehicles.  In total there would be 101 parking 
spaces available.  At present, there is a small car park of just seven spaces 

Page 13



situated to the rear of the gate lodge, whilst informal parking takes place along 
the access roads throughout the site.  As well as the extent of new hardstanding, 
the coming and goings of vehicles at the site would inevitably increase which 
would result in a noticeable visual difference between the developments, further 
reducing openness, albeit in a temporary basis.   

11.24 Whilst the implementation of surface materials, including a type of ‘grasscrete’ 
could be secured by condition to minimise the visual impact of the car park, it 
would nevertheless bring about a significant change to the appearance of the 
site, particularly when in use by parked vehicles.  In favour of the development, 
are extensive landscaping proposals which would go some way to mitigate 
against the visual impact of the new building and additional car parking.  
Significantly, enhancements to landscaping are not limited to the area around the 
new crematorium.  New trees are proposed to be planted throughout the site, 
whilst existing mature trees would be retained and protected where feasible. 

11.25 The lighting requirements on the site are limited, given the cemetery is generally 
closed to visitors during hours of darkness.  Bollards lighting the ground, marking 
roads around the site, are therefore required to ensure safe access during the 
winter months only, likely between the hours of 4-6pm.  Lighting around the 
building is proposed in key areas when light levels are low, to ensure safe access 
for people arriving for a funeral service.  Service areas will also be sufficiently lit 
to create lux levels to meet the needs of the workers.  Whilst the type of lighting 
and hours of use can be restricted by condition to the minimum necessary, the 
extent of illumination resulting from the proposed development would result in a 
noticeable visual difference in the appearance of this part of the site and 
consequently an impact on the openness of the Green Belt.   

11.26 On the positive side, the extent of demolition proposed would improve openness, 
whilst existing and proposed landscaping would mitigate some of the visual 
impact of the new building.  However, for the reasons set out above, regardless 
of the relatively minor change in footprint and volume resulting from the proposed 
development, the application site would appear noticeably more developed than 
the current situation.  Whilst it is acknowledged that the design and siting of the 
new building have been carefully considered to minimise its impact, the 
increased physical scale of development, together with the visual differences 
identified, would be readily apparent to observers.  Therefore, the proposed 
development would reduce the openness of the Green Belt.    

 
Purposes of including land in the Green Belt 

 

11.27 It is necessary to consider whether the proposal would conflict with any of the 
five purposes of including land in the Green Belt when compared to the existing 
development. Paragraph 134 of the NPPF states that the Green Belt serves five 
purposes: 

a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 
b) to prevent neighbouring town merging into one another; 
c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 
d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 
e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and 

other urban land. 
 

11.28 In this case, the development would not lead to the unrestricted sprawl or 
encroachment onto the surrounding countryside having regard to its setting 

Page 14



within the confines of the existing cemetery, which has an urban fridge character 
well defined and contained by mature boundary planting.  There would still be a 
substantial area of Green Belt between Hatfield and surrounding settlements 
such that the development would not result in neighbouring towns merging into 
one another.  Neither would not affect the setting or special character of historic 
towns or the efforts to direct development towards derelict and other urban land.  
Although there is an absence of harm to purposes of including land within the 
Green Belt, this is taken to be neutral factor. 

Conclusion on the principal of development in the Green Belt 

11.29 For the reasons above, it is concluded that the proposal is inappropriate 
development within the Green Belt and would harm openness.  The proposal is 
therefore contrary Section 13 of the NPPF.  Similarly, the proposal would be 
contrary to Policies SP3, and SADM34 of the Emerging Local Plan which have 
similar aims. 

Very special circumstances 

11.30 Para.144 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should ensure that 
substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt and very special 
circumstances will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by 
reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the proposal, is 
clearly outweighed by other considerations.   

11.31 What constitutes very special circumstances will depend on the weight of each of 
the factors put forward and the degree of weight to be afforded to each is a 
matter for the decision taker, in this case the Development Management 
Committee, acting within the “Wednesbury Principles”.  A reasoning or decision 
is Wednesbury unreasonable (or irrational) if it is so unreasonable that no 
reasonable person acting reasonably could have made it. 

11.32 A number of factors, none of them “very special” when considered in isolation, 
may when combined together amount to very special circumstances.  However, 
the test is a stringent and demanding one.  Very special circumstances requires 
a set of circumstances that are compelling and outside the norm.  These must 
clearly outweigh the harmful effects of the Development, and harmful effects to 
the Green Belt must be given substantial weight.  In forming its judgement, it is 
essential therefore that the Members have a full understanding and appreciation 
of those harmful effects as well as all relevant positive planning benefits of the 
development and that the weighing up of these factors is transparent and 
rationally made. 

11.33 What is required of the decision taker above all, is a value judgement and 
inevitably decision takers are given wide latitude, as indeed is inherent in the 
entire development control regime. 

11.34 In this case, the applicant accepts that the proposal is inappropriate development 
and have set out their case for very special circumstances within the submitted 
Planning Statement.  The accompanying Alternative Site Options report, 
Amended Needs Assessment report (Dec 2019) and Landscape Visual Impact 
Assessment report are also referenced as supporting documents.  The Amended 
Needs Assessment is supplemented by a letter from the applicant, dated 28 
August 2019, written in response to the objection received from Westerleigh, 
operators of the Broxbourne, Woollensbrook crematorium.   

Page 15



   
11.35 The applicant’s very special circumstances case is summarised below: 
 

The quantitative and qualitative need for a new crematorium 

11.36 In their assessment of need the applicant acknowledge that there is no ‘standard’ 
methodology for assessing need, such as there is when dealing with retail 
proposals or in relation to housing need.  However, the applicant has considered 
appeal decisions in which assessment of need for crematoria were part of the 
evidence base taken into account by the Secretary of State and have used 
common features of these decisions in producing a need assessment in this 
case.  This is considered to be an entirely reasonable approach to take.  The 
applicant has used information produced by the Cremation Society of Great 
Britain and statistics produced by the Office of National Statistics (ONS) to inform 
the assessment.  

11.37 It is acknowledged that the provision of adequate cremation facilities is an 
essential social need.  In this regard, bereaved relatives organising a funeral 
should be able to access suitable facilities within a reasonable distance, without 
significant delay.  The adequate provision of cremation facilities is therefore a 
weighty planning consideration. 

11.38 The Amended Needs Assessment report submitted in support of the application 
has assessed the potential quantitative and qualitative need for a new 
crematorium in Hatfield.  The study considered the likely need for the proposed 
facility considering the capacity and location of existing crematoria and 
population projections.  The Broxbourne, Woollensbrook crematorium has been 
factored into the analysis since opening in March 2017.  
 

11.39 Qualitative need is concerned with matching the demographic evidence of death 
in the local population, its distribution, the number likely to require cremation and 
the capacity and distribution of existing facilities in the area concerned.  An 
assessment is required regarding the ability of existing crematoria to cope with 
the need for their services, taking account of the standard of service that is 
expected.   

11.40 A key factor in establishing the catchment population is by reference to the time it 
takes for funeral cortèges to travel to available crematoria.  While there are 
factors that may influence a family to choose to hold their funeral at a more 
distant crematorium, the general and well established pattern is that people 
select the crematorium that is located closest to them.  Minimising travel time has 
qualitative impacts upon those attending funerals, exemplified by a number of 
responses from the survey of local funeral directors contained within The 
Amended Needs Assessment report. 

11.41 The Amended Needs Assessment report identifies a catchment area based on a 
travel time of 30 minutes from the application site at cortege speed (0.6 average 
driving speed).  This are extends from Woolmer Green in the north to Potter Bar 
and Borehamwood in the south; from St Albans in the west to Cuffley and 
Panshanger Park in the east.  The analysis identified that a total population of 
289,827 (ONS, 2017) people reside within this area.  Out of these residents, 
70,247 currently reside within a 30 minute drive time from the proposed site and 
are more than a 30 minute drive from any other crematorium.  There are 
therefore approximately 70,247 residents that are currently not served by existing 

Page 16



crematorium facilities that would be served by the proposed site.  The Amended 
Needs Assessment identifies this as “exclusive unserved need”.   

11.42 To put this figure into perspective, it is notable that The Federation of Burial and 
Cremation Authorities advise that a population of around 120,000 is sufficient to 
provide and manage a crematorium with a reasonable expectation of operating 
on a sound financial basis (A Guide to Crematoria 2016).   

Notwithstanding the apparent shortfall in the exclusive catchment population, the 
Amended Needs Assessment report goes on to suggest that a significant 
proportion of the 219,580 residents (289,827 – 70,247) who reside within the 30 
minute drive time of more than one crematorium would be highly likely to use the 
new facility given that many live closer to the Hatfield site than any other 
crematorium.  To ascertain which areas are closer to the new facility than any 
other crematorium a 22 minute drive time was used.  The population residing 
within this area is estimated to be 160,998.  By deducting the exclusive 
catchment population from this figure, the report estimates that the population 
residing within the areas of overlap between existing crematoria and the 
catchment of the proposed facility, but still closer to the new facility than to any 
other crematorium, to be 90,751 (160,998 – 70,247).  The report refers to this 
area as the “minimum drive time catchment” (MDC).   

11.43 Based on these assumptions, the estimated population that is likely to use the 
proposed crematorium is approximately 160,998.  The calculations can be 
summarised as follows: 

289,827 – The total population within a 30 min drive time of the site. 
 
70,247 – The population not within a 30 min drive time from any other 
crematorium – referred to as “the exclusive catchment”. 
 
219,580 – The population within a 30 minute drive time of more than one 
crematorium (289,827 – 70,247). 
 
160,998 – The population within a 22 minute drive time of the site. 
 
90,751 – The population beyond the exclusive catchment but still closer to the 
new facility than to any other crematorium – referred to as “the minimum drive 
time catchment” (160,998 – 70,247).  
 
160,998 – Total catchment population (70,247 + 90,751) 
 

11.44 In terms of calculating cremation rates, the regional average death rate is 
approximately 0.8% and the average cremation rate is 79%.  If the population of 
an area is 1,000 for example, the death rate of this population is 8per year and 
approximately 6.3 of these would be cremations according to national average 
cremation rates: (1,000 x 0.08) x 0.79. 

11.45 As described above, the Needs Assessment report details that there are 70,247 
residents residing outside of a 30 minute drive time catchment of existing 
crematoria but within the minimum distance of the proposed crematorium.  This 
exclusive catchment would currently equate to 444 cremations per annum.  

11.46 The minimum drive time catchment (MDC) where the population are closer to the 
proposed site than to any other crematorium beyond the exclusive catchment 

Page 17



equates to 90,751 and provides for a further 574 cremations (90,751 x 0.008 x 
0.79).  Thus, the total likely catchment that would best served by the proposed 
crematorium equates to 1,018 cremations per Annum (444 + 574).  The total 
predicted number of cremation is approximately 1,018 per annum.  

11.47 It is notable that these figures do not allow for future population growth or 
changes in the death rate.  If approved, the crematorium could be operational in 
2022, although it would take a number of years to reach maturity.  In this regard, 
the Council’s Emerging Local Plan 2016 identifies that 12,000 new homes are to 
be built within the Borough by 2032 which will significantly increase its 
population.  Further evidence is provided by the ONS population 2016 
projections which indicate that by 2039 the population of Welwyn Hatfield will 
have increased by approximately 20,900 people.  Accordingly, on the basis of the 
evidence available, the catchment population is projected to be significantly 
higher in the years ahead. 

11.48 In addition to the population increases highlighted above, analysis of the data 
from the ONS suggests that the death rates are projected to rise in the future in 
line with population increases and the aging demographic of the catchment area.  
According to ONS projections, the number of annual deaths within the Borough 
will rise from 1,002 in 2019 to 1,170 in 2039, an increase of 16.8%. 

11.49 The ONS are very clear that population projections based in assumptions and 
are not predictions.  Demographic behaviour is inherently uncertain and therefore 
projections will inevitably differ from actual future population trends.  
Notwithstanding this, the projections described above can reasonably be 
considered as indicators of future growth in demand for cremations from the 
residents of the Borough.   

11.50 There are a number of factors influencing demand for crematoria and the 
locations chosen including length of service desired, waiting time and time slots 
available, traffic issues at peak times and the fees charged.  Crematoria cannot 
work at 100% of their annual Core Hour Capacity because it is impractical to fill 
every slot in the core hours, every day of the week and every week of the year.  
Using the approach accepted a number of appeal hearings, most recently noted 
by Mrs Justice Patterson when considering a claim for Judicial Review for a 
crematorium in Gedling (Timmins, R vs Gedling Borough Council & Anor, 2016), 
the Amended Needs Assessment report calculated the “practical capacity” by 
working out 80% of the core-hour capacity.  Using the core hour capacity of 
seven cremations per day for a crematorium with a single chapel, the annual 
core-hour capacity is calculated to be 1,711 and the practical capacity is 1,417 
cremations per year.  As described earlier in this report, based on 2017 
population data and death rates, the total number of cremations arising from the 
catchment population is estimated to be 1,018 per annum.  This further 
demonstrates significant demand for the proposed facility, noting also that 
cremations are projected to be higher in the years ahead considering the national 
projected death rates and cremation rates.  

11.51 The wider catchment is currently served by a number of other crematorium 
facilities located in Watford, Stevenage, Enfield, New Southgate, Hendon, Luton 
and Broxbourne.  The Amended Needs Assessment report provides an analysis 
of the capacity at existing local crematoria which concludes that there is 
considerable pressure (especially at peak times) on some existing facilities.  It is 
clear that West Herts Crematorium (Watford) and Harwood Park Crematorium 
(Stevenage) in particular are operating over practical capacity and are unlikely to 

Page 18



be able to cope satisfactorily with projected death rates, without sacrificing the 
qualitative experience.  The proposed Welwyn Hatfield Crematorium will support 
other crematoria to meet the quantitative need that exists currently and which will 
increase in line with projected increases in the population and death rates.   

11.52 Whilst across the other crematorium facilities identified there is further “core 
capacity” to conduct additional cremations over the course of the year, that does 
not take account seasonal fluctuations which affect demand.  The data provided 
within the Amended Needs report shows that there are considerably more deaths 
in the winter months and therefore crematoria need to be able to keep abreast of 
requirements during the winter season, in particular January, the busiest month. 

11.53 In each set of interviews referenced in Amended Needs report, the Funeral 
Directors reported families have to wait longer than two weeks in peak periods, 
which is seen by families as the maximum amount of time they should have to 
wait for a cremation.  In the instance of an epidemic as seen in January 2015 
they have experienced delays of 6 weeks (Table 10).  On 2nd November 2016 
one Funeral Director reported his current booking time at Harwood Park was for 
the first week in December for a lunch-time cremation, and the second week in 
December for a Friday, therefore by the end of November 2016 their clients had 
to wait for funerals until after Christmas.  In the most recent communication with 
a Funeral Directors (Feb 2019), waiting times were one month. 

11.54 High usage of crematoria mean a restricted choice of time slots is available for 
families to plan their cremation service, which can then lead to a delay in the 
service taking place.  Generally people already have a preferred time and date in 
mind and are prepared to wait a reasonable period of time in order to 
accommodate this preference.  Therefore, where there is insufficient capacity at 
existing crematoria to accommodate people’s needs, delays between death and 
cremation will arise.  This principle has also been accepted in appeal decisions. 

11.55 Funeral directors also have experienced services at Harwood Park running late 
by 20 minutes, causing further distress to bereaved families and friends in 
emotionally heightened circumstances and access issues between parties 
entering and exiting the facility. 

11.56 The applicant asserts that new Crematorium would offer a minimum service time 
of 45 minute, in accordance with guidance from The Institute of Cemetery and 
Crematoria Management (ICCM).  People will be able to arrive, park, enter the 
building, experience the funeral and leave the site with a sense that they are un-
rushed.  Similarly the applicant considers that the ability of the bereaved to 
schedule funerals to a date and time of their choosing would be enhanced by this 
proposal.  The proposal will also offer up-to-date facilities of exceptional quality 
for all sectors of society.  These issues will have a positive impact on the 
qualitative experience of mourners. 

11.57 Whilst it is acknowledged that the Woollensbrook Crematorium in Broxbourne, 
has spare capacity which would meet future demand to some degree, the 
Amended Needs Assessment attributes only limited weight to this because 
Woollensbrook does not readily serve the local need of Welwyn Hatfield 
residents (in particular those residing towards the west and south of the 
Borough).  This is based on the qualitative evidence which suggests that 
Woollensbrook it is used very little by the main Funeral Directors in the Welwyn 
and Hatfield area, largely due to its distance.  The Funeral Directors note that a 

Page 19



local crematorium is still required to service the need for Welwyn Hatfield 
residents. 

11.58 Notwithstanding the assessment above, it is worthwhile re-focussing on the 
qualitative benefits of the proposal on the exclusive catchment area comprising 
70,247 residents of the Borough who are not adequately served by existing 
crematoria, who would be served by the proposed facility.  Whilst it is 
acknowledged that The Federation of Burial and Cremation Authorities advise 
that a population of around 120,000 is sufficient to provide and manage a 
crematorium with a reasonable expectation of operating on a sound financial 
basis, this figure applies to a commercial crematorium.  It is important to note that 
this size of population has by no means been established through case law as a 
minimum figure and each case must be considered on its own merits, particularly 
when determining whether very special circumstances exist.  In this case, the 
applicant considers that compelling need exists for the crematorium through the 
exclusive catchment area alone.  Members could reasonably take the view that 
the provision of a crematorium which serves an unmet need to be a worthy 
Council service.     

11.59 Officers consider that a new crematorium facility at this site would have 
significant qualitative benefits for bereaved families and the Funeral Directors in 
the Borough.  Moreover, by relieving capacity issues at existing crematoria in the 
wider area, the choice of times and days available for cremations at these 
facilities will be improved, reducing the anxiety and discomfort that occurs when 
cremations are held ‘back to back’ in a queue.   

11.60 Having regard to all the factors described above, officers are satisfied that a 
significant level of need for a new crematorium in Hatfield has been 
demonstrated and that there is no compelling evidenced to counter the 
applicant’s needs assessment.   

Alternative sites 
 
11.61 The siting of new crematoria is subject to the requirements of the Cremation Act 

1902. Section 5 of Chapter 8 of the Act states that; “No crematorium shall be 
constructed nearer to any dwelling house than two hundred yards [182 metres] 
except with the consent in writing, of the owner, lessee and occupier of such 
house, nor within 50 yards of any public highway”.  In practice, given the 
particular site selection and locational requirements, it is considered to be most 
unlikely that suitable land would be found within a defined settlement boundary. It 
can reasonably be concluded that a location outside a defined settlement is likely 
to be required for the development of a crematorium.  Accordingly, any new 
crematorium in the Borough is likely to require a Green Belt location.   

11.62 In addition to the Green Belt, opportunities for a crematorium in the Borough are 
constrained by the proximity of highly sensitive areas, including: towns and 
settlements; Site of Special Scientific Interest; Site of Nature Conservation 
Importance; Site of Potential Nature Conservation Importance; priority habitats 
and areas of high landscape value.  There is also a requirement for the new 
facility to be sustainably located in relation to its catchment population, with 
adequate access to infrastructure and services. 

11.63 The Alternative Site Options report which accompanied the application, 
demonstrates that a detailed site search has been undertaken.  In this regard, it 
is considered that a process of elimination has taken place to the satisfaction of 

Page 20



the Officers which demonstrates that there are no more suitable alternative sites 
for this proposal.  The demonstrated lack of alternative sites weighs in favour of 
the proposal. 

11.64 It is noted that the application site is not identified as an allocation for a new 
crematorium in the emerging Local Plan.  However, the emerging Local Plan also 
does not identify any other site for this purpose. 

Conclusion on very special circumstances 
 

11.65 In the case of Redhill Aerodrome Ltd v SSCLG [2014] the judgment of the Court 
of Appeal held that the meaning of “any other harm” refers to any other harm 
whatsoever, and is not restricted to Green Belt harm.  Therefore, the assessment 
of very special circumstances will be performed at the end of this report, when all 
other material considerations have been assessed. 

2. Quality of design and impact on the character of the area  
 

11.66 The revised NPPF has a stronger emphasis on good quality design than its 
predecessor.  Para.124 clearly advises that the creation of high quality buildings 
and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 
achieve and that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development.  
Para.127 the NPPF further advises that decisions should ensure developments 
will function well, be visually attractive, sympathetic to local character and 
establish a strong sense of place.  District Plan Policies Policy D1 and D2 have 
similar aims, requiring a high standard of design in all new development which 
also respects and relates to the character and context of the area in which it is 
proposed. 
 

11.67 The site has an urban fringe character, being situated on the southern edge of 
Hatfield, but is separated from the nearest housing by a belt of woodland and 
grassland over 80m.  Despite a degree of separation, there are strong urban 
influences in the form of the A1001 (South Way), which bounds the site to the 
north; and the park ride car park with its extensive hardstanding and floodlights to 
the west.  Whilst the development proposed would change the appearance of the 
site, making it appear more developed, this would not harm the character of the 
area.  In particular, as described earlier in this report, the design and siting of the 
new building have been carefully considered to minimise its visual impact, and 
there would be significant landscape benefits across the wider cemetery site. 
 

11.68 Visitors would utilise the existing access to site, but rather than finding 
themselves immediately confronted with a group of buildings as they currently 
do, visitors will reach the top of the ridge through an open area, landscaped with 
new planting and trees.  A newly revealed vista will provides long views across 
the cemetery and the valley beyond.  The proposed crematorium building will sit 
below the tree line when first viewed and is approached from higher ground, thus 
minimising its prominence and perceived scale.  

 

11.69 The proposed building itself would have a compact layout in a crisp style of 
contemporary design with glazed areas, faced in brick.  The various parts of the 
new building have been designed with a hierarchy of scale according to the 
significance of the space they contain.  For example, the chapel parapet is 8m 
tall, rising to 10m at the catafalque end which indicates its symbolic importance 
and highlights it as the ultimate destination for visitors.  The ancillary public 
spaces of the crematorium form a surrounding plinth which is 3.6m high, with a 

Page 21



floor to ceiling height of 3m, a subordinate but still generous public space.  The 
plinth rises up to 4.6m to form the canopy of the porte cochère, signifying the 
entrance. 
 

11.70 The chapel would have a capacity of circa 150 people.  When a cremation 
service takes place, arriving mourners would be directed to a new car park set 
amongst trees.  They would then proceed on foot to a covered courtyard and 
waiting room to await the cortège.  The funeral cortège would arrive by the same 
route and continue on a loop to the southern boundary of the site, approaching 
the crematorium though a newly landscaped area between two ponds, arriving 
under a sheltered porte cochère. 
 

11.71 The design of the building features a sequence of rooms and covered courtyards, 
separated by walls, with the aim of providing dignified and secluded spaces 
though which to enter and leave a service.   
 

11.72 The service spaces sit at the back of the building where they are less 
conspicuous.  The crematory equipment requires a clear ceiling height of 5m, 
however the proposal takes advantage of the slope of the site to drop the service 
yard by 1.5m, so the parapet line of the cremator room is less than 1m above the 
plinth level.  The roof of the maintenance block is s further 1.5m below this.  The 
chimney is subservient to the chapel volume, as opposed to being designed as a 
significant vertical statement. 
 

11.73 The scheme proposes a palette of high quality materials including variegated 
brick accented by a panel of translucent onyx.  The sloping chapel roof would be 
finished in zinc, whilst a green roof is proposed to the flat roof areas.  Canopies 
formed from concrete columns and beams would provide a sheltered area to 
congregate whilst also signally places of entrance and exit.  Notwithstanding the 
information submitted with this application, a planning condition requiring the 
approval of materials would be appropriate to ensure that the detailed design of 
the proposed building can be properly assessed and agreed.  
 

11.74 The NPPF sets out at para.127 that developments should be visually attractive 
as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective 
landscaping.  In this case in particular, the relationship between the building and 
the landscape is very important in ensuring a positive and respectful setting for 
funeral services.  At the approach to the chapel two ponds are proposed, planted 
with rushes and weeping willows.  Once inside the chapel, large windows would 
give views across the pond and to the landscaping beyond.  The wider 
landscaping would include new trees to be planted throughout the site as well as 
supplementary planting to bolster the existing boundary screening.  The area that 
is proposed for re-landscaping is predominantly an area of open grass, with 
limited landscape features.  The proposals will introduce new planting to create 
variety as part of the new garden of remembrance. 
 

11.75 The application is supported by a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 
(LVIA), a Tree Survey Report and a proposed Landscape Plan.  The LVIA 
assess the proposed effects of the development upon the wider landscape, 
taking into account the landscaping and mitigation proposals.  The LVIA 
concludes that the proposal would conserve the landscape and sit comfortably 
within its setting.  The proposal has been assessed against District Plan Policies 
R17, D8 and RA10 which require the protection of trees and hedgerows; for 
landscaping to form an integral part of the overall design; and for proposal to 

Page 22



contribute to the conservation, maintenance and enhancement of the local 
landscape character area in which they are located.  Although the development 
requires the removal of 10 trees, the proposed new landscaping is sufficient to 
mitigate for this loss.  The Council’s Landscaping Team present no objection to 
the proposal on landscape grounds subject to appropriately worded planning 
condition requiring tree protection measures in respect of retained trees, together 
with the implementation of the landscaping scheme.  Subject to conditions, the 
landscape impacts of the development and proposed hard and soft landscaping 
are acceptable.  

 
11.76 Overall, subject to the suggested conditions, the proposal is considered to be of 

a suitably high standard of design which, together with existing and proposed 
landscaping around the site, would create a satisfactory setting for the building 
as well as maintaining the wider landscape character area.  In this respect, no 
objections are raised with regard to the general design objectives of the Local 
Plan or the NPPF. 

3. Amenity and living conditions of neighbouring occupiers 
 

11.77 The NPPF is clear that planning should be a means of finding ways to enhance 
and improve the places in which people live their lives. This means that 
authorities should always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard 
of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.  District 
Plan Policy D1 requires the standard of design in all new development to be of a 
high quality.  Relevant planning considerations include: outlook, privacy and 
levels of daylight and sunlight.  Policy R19 deals specifically with noise and 
vibration pollution and sates that proposals will be refused if the development is 
likely to generate unacceptable noise or vibration for other land users.   

11.78 In addition to planning policy, the 1902 Cremation Act sets out parameters for the 
location of the crematorium in relation to existing dwellings and the public 
highway.  Of particular relevance is Section 5 of the Cremation Act 1902 Act 
which requires that “no crematorium shall be constructed nearer to any dwelling-
house than two hundred yards” (183m).  In this regard, it is confirmed that no 
residential property is within 185m of the proposed location of the chimney. 

11.79 The application site is approximately 80m from the boundary of the nearest 
residential properties which are situated to the north.  Approximately 260m would 
separate these properties from the Crematorium building itself.   

11.80 Whilst it is acknowledged that the proposal would lead to an increase in the level 
of activity at site, it is considered that neighbouring occupiers would be 
sufficiently distanced from the access, the car park and the crematorium itself so 
as not be adversely affected.  

11.81 In addition to the separation distance, there is a substantial landscape buffer on 
either side of South Way.  These factors combined are sufficient to ensure that 
the amenity and living conditions of all neighbouring occupiers would be 
protected.   

11.82 In terms of the noise generated from vehicle movements to and from the site, this 
application should be viewed in the context of the adjacent Park and Ride facility 
which accommodates 800 parking spaces (ref: S6/2003/0150/FP).  It is also 
noteworthy that access is provided from South Way (A1001).  This road 
separates the application site from the nearest residential properties and is a 

Page 23



60mph main distributor road linking the A1000, the A1(M) and the A414.  In this 
regard the change in the number of vehicles using South Way and the 
surrounding roads would not be so significant as to result in harm to local 
residents.  

11.83 It is noted that the 2017 permission for the same development included a 
condition stating that “no ashes shall be scattered within 50 metres of the public 
right of way or public highway”.  The reason for this condition was “to protect the 
residential amenity of adjoining occupiers and the environment”.  On reflection 
this condition is considered to be neither necessary nor enforceable.  Even in the 
unlikely event that ashes were scattered in the bushes on the northern perimeter 
of the site, neighbouring residential gardens would still be separated by 
approximately 80m, together with a busy road and a wide landscape buffer.  For 
this reason, it is concluded that should the scattering of ashes occur within the 
application site, this would not be harmful to the amenity of neighbouring 
occupiers. It is therefore recommended that this condition is not re-applied 
should planning permission be granted. 

4. Highways and parking provision  
 

11.84 The site takes its access from South Way, a 60mph main distributor road.  The 
site has an existing simple junction, ghosted from the eastbound approach that 
will not be amended.   

11.85 Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) as Highway Authority have reviewed the 
application submission and have no objection to the proposed development, 
subject to a suggested planning condition in respect of laying out and surfacing 
the access and parking areas, which can reasonably be applied to a grant of 
planning permission.   

11.86 The application was accompanied by a Transport Statement (TS) which has 
been used to assess the impact of the proposals on the local highway network’s 
operation and safety.  The trip generation rates were reviewed and are 
considered appropriate for the proposals and it was found that the resulting traffic 
movements would not likely have a severe impact on the local highway network.  
Furthermore, the impact on weekday morning peak traffic, would be limited as 
section 20 of the application form outlines that no cremation services shall take 
place outside the hours of 09:00 to 18:00 Monday to Sunday including Public 
Holidays.  This can be secured by condition.  In terms of visibility at the site 
access, this is acceptable for the proposed use and highway conditions.  In 
addition, the collision data was reviewed and it was found that there were no 
collisions at the site access within the past five years.   

11.87 The internal layout of the site is considered to be suitable to the use.  One way 
systems are to be implemented and given the nature of the site, vehicle speeds 
are likely to be low.  Parking spaces are suitably laid out and useable.  All ingress 
and egress to/from the site can be made in a forward gear. 

11.88 In respect of parking, there is no guidance within the Council Parking Standards 
or the Interim Standards on the level of provision for crematoriums, however the 
TS has set out predictions for attendance at ceremonies.  It is recognised that, 
commonly, mourners to a service shall be drawn from afar and many will travel in 
a funeral procession.  Whilst opportunities do exist in this instance for access by 
non-car mode, it is more reasonable to expect that car share arrangements 
within family groups attending a service would be more likely and this is reflected 

Page 24



in the assumptions set forth within the TS.  With a total level of provision across 
the site for 101 vehicles, the car parking layout has been designed to ensure 
there is never a need for visitors to park on the site’s circulatory access roads, or 
indeed outside of the site on the highway verge.   

11.89 In terms of sustainable transport options, the site enjoys immediate proximity to 
east / west bound bus routes including routes 303, 366, 404 and 405.  The site is 
provided with footways into the site, however it is recognised that gradient of the 
access may disadvantage persons with a mobility impairment.  Pedestrian 
provision for transition across South Way is limited to dropped kerb provision 
only, and therefore may prejudice the ability for vulnerable road users to cross 
with ease.  However on the basis of the development, full provision of a 
signalised crossing would be difficult to justify as meeting the statutory tests i.e. 
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms and 
reasonably related to the scale of the development. 

11.90 It is noted that proposals make no provision for secure cycle parking.  Such 
measures may not be particularly beneficial for the majority of mourners 
attending a service, but would be beneficial for visitors to the cemetery and 
memorial gardens, as well as staff employed at the site.  Accordingly, a condition 
is suggested requiring the provision of suitable cycle storage. 

11.91 Subject to the suggested conditions, the impact of the development is acceptable 
in terms of access, highway capacity and highway safety.  A sensible level of 
parking provision has also been demonstrated in accordance with the Council’s 
Interim Car Parking Standards, District Plan Policy M14 and the NPPF. 

5. Other considerations 
 

i) Air quality 
 

11.92 The nature of the development proposed would involve emission of the products 
of combustion.  The application was accompanied by an air quality impact 
assessment which explains that emissions would be very low.  There would be a 
negligible impact on air quality and no impact on the health of the occupiers of 
nearby properties.  The Council’s Public Health and Protection Team has 
reviewed the air quality assessment and have raised no objection. 

11.93 Further to the above, para.183 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities 
should focus on whether proposed development is an acceptable use of land, 
rather than the control of processes or emissions where these are subject to 
approval under pollution control regimes.  The NPPF goes on to state that 
“Planning decision should assume that these regimes will operate effectively”.  In 
this regard, the operation of a crematorium would be subject to the 
Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016 (as Amended) 
which require regular monitoring to take place ensuring that air quality standards 
are maintained.  With this safeguard in place, air quality concerns relating to 
emissions from the crematorium can be dealt with outside of the planning 
system.   

ii) Contaminated land 
 

11.94 The proposed use of the land is not for domestic activities which reduces the 
likelihood of certain potential contamination pathways.  The Councils mapping 
system does not show any previously known contamination on the site for where 

Page 25



the new buildings are proposed.  Nearby, the existing burial grounds are shown 
as a potential source.  In terms of the wider site, there is the potential for some 
contamination in the workshop area, however, discussions with the manager of 
the site suggests that contamination is unlikely. 

11.95 Given the nature of the use at the site and the comments from the Council’s 
Public Health and Protection Team, a condition is recommended ensuring that 
any unexpected contamination found during any phase of the development is 
identified to the Local Planning Authority and a scheme of mitigation based on 
the contamination found submitted and approved. 

11.96 Any asbestos on site will need to be removed and disposed of in line with 
guidance from the Health and Safety Executive, and also in such a way that does 
not render the ground in a contaminated state. 

11.97 District Plan Policy R2 states that the Council will encourage development on 
land that may be contaminated. However, on such sites applications must be 
accompanied by a full survey of the level of contamination and proposals for 
remediation of the site. 

11.98 Subject to the imposition of the above mentioned condition, the proposal would 
not be contrary to District Plan Policy R2. 

iii) Drainage 
 

11.99 The application was accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage 
Strategy carried out by Cemetery Development Services, dated August 2016.  
This site is in Flood zone 1 which has the lowest probability of flooding.  The 
drainage strategy is based on attenuation and discharge restricted to greenfield 
run-off rates.  Both the Environment Agency and the Lead Local Flood Authority 
have raised no objection to the proposal.  Subject to the imposition of suggested 
conditions, the proposal would not have a materially harmful effect on the 
drainage of both the application site and the surrounding area in accordance with 
the NPPF and District Plan Policies Polices R2 and R7. 

11.100 Thames Water have advised that they have no objection to the proposal 
with regard to waste water network and waste water process infrastructure 
capacity.  It is recommend that petrol / oil interceptors be fitted in all car parking / 
washing / repair facilities and an informative is included to advise the applicant of 
this. 

11.101 Whilst the Environment Agency have no objection to the proposed 
development, they do recommend that the applicant considers risks to 
groundwater by following the advice outlined within their consultation response.  
In this regard it is noted that infiltration is not being proposed due to ground 
conditions not being suitable and that the drainage strategy is based in 
attenuation and discharge which reduces the risk of contaminants being 
remobilised.  It is also notable that the Environment Agency are not providing 
specific advice on the risks to controlled waters for this site as they need to 
concentrate local resources on the highest risk proposals.  Moreover, the 
Environment Agency did not object to the 2016 planning application for the same 
development.  In these circumstances it is considered reasonable to include an 
informative to advise the applicant to consider the risks to groundwater as 
suggested by the Environment Agency. 

Page 26



iv) Ecology and protected species 
 

11.102 The application was accompanied by the following ecological reports by 
Sedgehill Ecology Services:  
 

 Extended phase 1 Bat survey (2016) 

 Ecological appraisal report,( Survey Date: September 2016 Updated 
Report Date: March 2019)  

 Ecology Mitigation, Enhancement and Management Plan (March 2019) 
 
11.103 Other than the passage of time, the 2019 updated versions of the 

ecological appraisal confirm that there has been no significant changes to the 
site since the 2016 surveys.  However, on account of the time that has passed, 
the ecological appraisal recommended an updated dusk survey of the buildings 
to confirm whether bats are now present or remain absent from the building. 
 

11.104 Herts Ecology, in their initial consultation response, highlighted the 
requirement for the dusk survey to be undertaken in the summer months when 
bats are active.  Due this timing constraint, it has not be possible to undertake 
the required survey.  However, to avoid a lengthy delay in determining the 
application, an Outline Bat Mitigation and Compensation Plan (Syntegra 
Consulting, October 2019) was prepared for the site.  This report assumes the 
presence of bat roosts proportionate to the location and provides appropriate 
mitigation and compensation measures to safeguard bats and ensure their 
continued ecological functionality.  With this report and these outline measures in 
place, Herts Ecology have advised that there is now sufficient information to 
consider the impact of the proposal on bats.  Accordingly, subject to a condition 
requiring a bat survey prior to the demolition of the buildings, the Local Planning 
Authority have sufficient information satisfy and discharge their obligations under 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2018 prior to 
determination. 
 

11.105 Aside from bats, the potential impacts on other protected and non-
protected species has been considered.  In this respect, Herts Ecology have no 
objections to the proposed development subject to suggested informatives 
advising which have been noted and included within the Officer’s 
recommendation. 
 

11.106 In terms of biodiversity enhancements,  the proposal includes new species 
rich wildflower areas, creation of two new ponds, native planting within the site 
and within boundary hedgerows, installation of habitats features (bat and bird 
boxes, log piles), and construction of a green roof.  Detailed proposal in respect 
of “The Habitat Enhancements to the Site” and “Ongoing Habitat Management” 
are included within Section 7 and Section 8 of the Ecology Mitigation, 
Enhancement and Management Plan (March 2019).  Subject to the suggested 
conditions, the proposals are considered to enhance biodiversity and increase 
the ecological value of the site, as well as providing net gains to biodiversity in 
accordance with chapter 11 of the NPPF and District Plan Policy R11.  
 
v) Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) 

11.107 The Local Planning Authority has undertaken an EIA Screening in 
accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017 (the Regulations). 

Page 27



11.108 The development is not contained within Schedule 1 of the Town and 
Country Planning the Regulations.   

11.109 The Local Planning Authority must, therefore, determine whether the 
application before it is a Schedule 2 development.  If the Local Planning Authority 
concludes that it is such, it then has to go on and decide whether that Schedule 2 
development is also an EIA development, by determining whether it is likely to 
have significant effects on the environment by virtue of factors such as its nature, 
size or location. 

11.110 In respect of the previous planning application ref: 6/2016/2623/MAJ and 
the subsequent judicial challenge, it is notable that in giving judgment, Sir Wyn 
Williams dismissed a challenge on whether an EIA had been needed. 

11.111 At paragraph 8. Buxton LJ observed “In the present case, the only serious 
contender for a category of Sch 2 development under which the application might 
fall was para 10(b) of the Schedule: infrastructure projects that are urban 
development projects.”   

11.112 The phrase “urban development projects” is not defined within the 
Regulations.  Within column 1, Box 10, of the Table the phrase includes “the 
construction of shopping centres and car parks, sports stadiums, leisure centres 
and multiplex cinemas”.  It is not suggested that the phrase “urban development 
projects” is limited to these types of development and it is accepted that the types 
of development set out in Box 10 are illustrative only. 

11.113 The phrase “urban development project” cannot be given a precise 
meaning.  However, at its core the development must be urban in character.   

11.114 The judgement found that the Case Officer did not act unlawfully when he 
determined that the development of the site for which planning permission was 
sought did not constitute an “urban development project”.  Also, the Case Officer 
was entitled to conclude and rely upon his assessment that the development was 
not in an urban area that it was not of an urban nature when looked at as a whole 
and that it would not have a significantly urbanising effect on the local 
environment.  Those factors properly led the Case Officer to conclude the 
permission was not being sought for an urban development project.  

11.115 In this case, the proposed development is the same as previously 
considered under planning application ref: 6/2016/2623/MAJ.  For the reasons 
set out above, the Local Planning Authority maintain the view that the site is not 
urban and therefore the proposal cannot be considered an “urban development 
project” for the purpose of the Regulations. 

11.116 In is notable that the judicial challenge focused on whether or not an EIA 
was required under Schedule 2 para 10(b): infrastructure projects that are urban 
development projects.  The judgement did not make reference to Schedule 2 
para 11(b): installations for the disposal of waste.  Notwithstanding the 2016 
application, for completeness, the proposed development has been screened 
against Schedule 2 para 11(b) and the assessment is summarised below. 

11.117 Whilst crematorium developments are not named as development types 
with the EIA regulations, activities associated with these development types are 
listed within para 11(b):  

 

Page 28



i) The disposal is by incineration; 

ii) The area of the development exceed 0.5 hectare; or 

iii) The installation is to be sited within 100 metres of any controlled waters. 

11.118 The proposed development does involve incineration and therefore is 
subject to i).  The site comprises an area of land of 4.24 hectares but the area 
specifically proposed for incineration is well below the specified threshold at 
1850m², therefore is not subject to ii).  The crematorium building is with 100m of 
controlled waters (source protection zone for groundwater) and therefore is 
subject to iii) 

11.119 Given that the proposed development does involve incineration and is 
within a source protection zone, it is Schedule 2 development within the meaning 
of the EIA Regulations.  However, as the section on EIA in the National Planning 
Practice Guidance (PPG) makes clear not all Schedule 2 Development has an 
impact or impacts that require an EIA to be undertaken and each case should be 
considered on its own merits in a balanced way.    

11.120 Paragraph 017 of the PPG advises that Schedule 2 developments need to 
be screened by the local planning authority to determine whether significant 
effects are likely and hence whether an EIA is required.  In order to determine 
whether a Schedule 2 Development will have a significant impact(s) it is 
necessary to refer to the Selection criteria for Schedule 2 Development set out in 
Schedule 3 of the Regulations.  Paragraph 018 of the PPG goes on to advise 
that only a “very small proportion” of Schedule 2 development will require an EIA" 
and it “…should not be presumed that developments above the indicative 
thresholds should always be subject to assessment…”  Therefore not all 
Schedule 2 Development is EIA Development.  Paragraph 057 of the PPG sets 
out indicative thresholds and criteria to assist the EIA screening process and in 
relation to the disposal of waste the indicative criteria and threshold are as 
follows:  

“Installations (including landfill sites) for the deposit, recovery and/or 
disposal of household, industrial and/or commercial wastes where new 
capacity is created to hold more than 50,000 tonnes per year, or to hold 
waste on a site of 10 hectares or more. Sites taking smaller quantities of 
these wastes, sites seeking only to accept inert wastes (demolition rubble 
etc.) or Civic Amenity sites, are unlikely to require Environmental Impact 
Assessment.” 

11.121 Taking into account the selection criteria set out in Schedule 3 of the EIA 
Regulations, insofar as they are relevant to the proposed crematorium, subject to 
the normal planning controls, would not be likely to have significant 
environmental effects because of the nature, scale and location of the 
development.  Accordingly the proposed development is not considered to be 
EIA Development and does not require full environmental assessment. 

6. The planning balance  
 
11.122 It is necessary to undertake a balancing exercise to establish whether 

there are very special circumstances that outweigh the harm to the Green Belt 
and any other harm resulting from the proposal.  This includes an assessment of 
the overall benefits of the scheme and the weight that should be attributed to 

Page 29



them.  It is for the decision maker to determine the amount of weight that should 
be attributed to each respective element.   

11.123 For the reasons outlined in this report, the proposal would cause harm to 
the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness.  It would also cause harm to the 
physical and visual aspects of openness of the Green Belt.  Substantial weight 
must be attributed to this harm. 

11.124 With respect to ‘any other harm’, no material harm has been identified.  
The design of the building is of a high standard and the proposal is not 
considered likely to have any harmful impact on the residential amenity or living 
conditions of neighbouring occupiers.  The use is likely to have a negligible 
impact on air quality, which in any event would be subject to other controls 
outside of planning.  The proposal parking and the resulting traffic generation are 
not objectionable in terms of either highway safety or capacity.  The strategy for 
site drainage has been found acceptable by the statutory authorities and the 
ecological value of the site would not be harmed by the proposals, provided that 
the appropriate surveys are undertaken prior to demolition.  All these factors are 
to be taken as neutral balance. 

11.125 In favour of the development is the need for a new crematorium, which the 
applicant evidenced in both qualitative and quantitative terms.  This matter 
attracts considerable weight in favour of the proposal.   

11.126 As set out above, the Alternative Site Options report demonstrates a 
process of site assessment for the consideration of a new crematorium.  All the 
sites assessed were in the Green Belt.  There are no identified sites in the 
Emerging Local Plan.  The proposed site fulfils the requirements of the 
Cremation Act 1902, in close proximity to Hatfield, and scored the highest in the 
sequential test.  The application site is not subject to any significant constraints 
other than its Green Belt designation and is well located to serve the needs of the 
proposed catchment.  It has also been identified as being the most suitable 
location for such a development.   

11.127 The visual and landscape impacts of the proposals are considered to be 
localised and not significantly adverse as these would be mitigated by the layout 
and design of the scheme together with the proposed landscaping 
enhancements.  New planting would provide an opportunity to strengthen the 
existing boundary screening, contributing to the aims of the Watling Chase 
Community Forest Plan and the Landscape Character Area Assessment.  The 
appearance of the existing cemetery, and how it is experienced by visitors, would 
also be significantly improved.  Existing valuable landscape features would be 
retained and there would be biodiversity enhancements through the new species 
rich wildflower area, creation of two ponds, native planting and the installation of 
habitat features.  Together, these considerations carry significant weight in favour 
of the proposal.  

11.128 The proposal would have an economic benefit during the construction and 
landscaping phase by creating employment opportunities on site and indirectly 
supporting business through the supply chain.  There would also be longer term 
employment opportunities associated with the management and maintenance of 
the site.  Future spending on goods and services linked to funerals, memorials 
and wakes would support business activity in the area, such as restaurants, 
caters, hotels, and function facilities.  Local funeral businesses would also derive 

Page 30



some economic benefit due to the shorter travel distances involved for funeral 
corteges.  These considerations weigh moderately in favour of the proposal. 

11.129 In terms of transport sustainability, the site is situated close to a Hatfield, a 
centre of population, as well as being conveniently located for many residents in 
Borough who currently have to travel further afield to access cremation facilities.  
Travel distances for many local residents would be less than they are currently.  
The site benefits from close proximity to a bus service as well as being within a 
reasonable walking and cycling distance for residents within south Hatfield.  
Further moderate weight is attributed to these benefits.   

11.130 Taking all matters into consideration, Officers are of the view that the 
factors in support of the proposal clearly outweigh the harm.  

11.131 In light of the above, it is concluded that ‘very special circumstances’ 
outweighing the harm do exist.  The principle of the proposed development within 
Green Belt is therefore considered to be acceptable in this instance. 

 
12 Conclusion 

12.1 In determining planning matters the weight to be given to the evidence 
considered by the Council in coming to its decision is a matter for it alone.  The 
courts have long-recognised that town and country planning involves acute, 
complex and interrelated social, economic and environmental implications, and 
that Parliament has consequently entrusted its regulation to administrative 
decision-makers with planning experience and expertise, namely planning 
authorities (whose planning officers and committees also have local knowledge). 
 Planning decisions quintessentially require planning judgments of fact and 
degree, the merits of which are a matter entirely for the appointed administrative 
decision-makers.  

12.2 In this case, the proposed development has been assessed against the policies 
of the District Plan, Emerging Local Plan and the NPPF.  It has been found to be 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt and it would cause harm to the 
physical and visual aspects of openness of the Green Belt.   

12.3 The proposal has been found acceptable in terms of quality of design; 
landscaping; amenity and living conditions of neighbouring occupiers; highways 
and parking provision; air quality; drainage; and ecology. 

12.4 Set against the Green Belt harm, it is demonstrable that when reading the 
Amended Needs Assessment report as a whole, it includes a comprehensive 
assessment of need in accordance with principles established in relevant case 

law.  There is a strong quantitative and qualitative need to support a new 
crematorium on the application site.  Whilst the Funeral Director data serves as 
additional qualitative analysis, it is not a determinative issue.  Even when 
excluding this data it is considered that compelling need exists.  

12.5 There is a clear quantitative and qualitative need for a new crematorium, which 
attracts considerable weight in favour of the proposal.  As set out above, any new 
crematorium in this area is likely to require a Green Belt location, with similar 
implications for openness.  The application site is not subject to any significant 
constraints other than its Green Belt designation and is well located to serve the 
unmet need of the exclusive catchment.  It is also recognised that a proportion of 
the population outside of the exclusive catchment would also benefit from being 

Page 31



located closer to the proposed crematorium than other existing crematoria.  The 
application site has been identified as being the most suitable location for such a 
development and would also offer the opportunity for landscape and biodiversity 
gains.  Together, these considerations carry substantial weight in favour of the 
proposal.  

12.6 Notwithstanding the identified harm to the Green Belt, when all of the factors set 
out above, are taken together, Officers’ are of the view that the benefits in favour 
of the proposal clearly outweigh the harm identified.  Accordingly, the test in 
para.144 of the NPPF is met and the very special circumstances do exist to 
justify the grant of planning permission.   

12.7 If Members are minded to approve the application, the application will have to be 
referred to the Secretary of State under the provisions of the Town and Country 
Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 2009 as the proposals represent 
inappropriate development on land allocated as Green Belt and the building 
proposed exceeds 1,000sqm.  The Secretary of State will then determine 
whether he wants to call in the application for determination or whether this can 
be determined at the local level. 

12.8 If Members are minded to refuse the application there would be no requirement 
to refer the application to the Secretary of State. In this case clear reasons for 
refusal must be given. 

13 Recommendation   
 

13.1 It is recommended that the Committee resolves to grant planning permission 
subject to: 

a) referral to the Secretary of State; and 

b) any necessary extensions to the statutory determination period; and  

c) subject to the following conditions: 

 PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT 

1. Prior to the demolition of the buildings, two dusk emergence surveys should 
be undertaken during May – August inclusive (possibly September if the 
weather remains warm) to determine with confidence whether bats are 
roosting and, should this be the case, the Outline Bat Mitigation and 
Compensation Plan (by Syntegra Consulting, October 2019) should be 
modified as appropriate based on the results and then be submitted in writing 
to the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter the development shall be carried 
out in accordance with these approved details.  
 
REASON:  To ensure the continued ecological functionality of bats and their 
roosts is maintained in accordance with European and national legislation. 
 

2. No development shall take place until a Construction Management Plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter the construction of the development must be carried out in 
accordance with the approved Plan. The Construction Management Plan 
must include details of: 

 

 

Page 32



a) construction vehicle numbers, type; 
b) traffic management requirements; 
c) construction and storage compounds; 
d) siting and detail of wheel washing facilities; 
e) provision of sufficient on-site parking; and 
f) post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and any 

temporary access to the public highway. 
 
REASON: To ensure that the development is undertaken in a manner which 
reduces any potential adverse impact upon the residential amenities currently 
enjoyed by residents and businesses and to ensure that the operation of the 
road network is protected in accordance with Policy D1 of the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

3. No development shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage 
scheme for the site based on sustainable drainage (SuDS) principles and an 
assessment of the hydrological and hydro geological context of the 
development, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall be based on the approved Flood Risk 
Assessment carried out by Cemetery Development Services reference D1.0 
dated August 2016 and supporting information D. The scheme shall also 
include: 

 
1. Details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed after 

completion.  
2. Details of the proposed drainage plan showing the location of any 

proposed SuDS and detailed engineered drawings of the proposed SuDS 
features including their size, volume, depth and any inlet and outlet 
features including any connecting pipe runs.  

3. Provision of above ground SuDS features. 
4. Detailed surface water calculations and modelling for all rainfall events up 

to and including the 1 in 100 year + climate change event to ensure the 
proposed system and connection in Park & Ride System has capacity. 

5. Routes of exceedance to be identified for rainfall events that exceed the 1 
in 100 year + climate change event.  

 
 The scheme shall be fully implemented prior to the first use of the 

crematorium hereby approved and subsequently maintained, in accordance 
with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme, or 
within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

  
 REASON: To reduce the risk and impact of flooding by ensuring the 

satisfactory storage and disposal of surface water from the site and to ensure 
surface water can be managed in a sustainable manner in accordance with 
Policy R7 and R10 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
PRIOR TO ABOVE GROUND DEVELOPMENT  

 
4. No development above ground development shall take place until samples of 

the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
building hereby granted have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be implemented using 

Page 33



the approved materials and subsequently, the approved materials shall not 
be changed. 
 
REASON:  To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in the interests 
of visual amenity in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

5. No development above ground development shall take place until a 
landscape management plan has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  This shall include a description of the 
features to be managed; aims and objectives; preparation of an annual work 
schedule; details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation 
and on-going monitoring and remedial measures.  The landscape 
management plan shall be carried out as approved.  

 
REASON: To protect the visual amenity value of the landscaping, and the 
biodiversity value of the habitat within the site in accordance with Policies D8, 
R11 and RA10 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 

6. No development above ground shall take place until a scheme for the 
provision of secure cycle parking on site has been submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority.  The development must not be carried out 
other than in accordance with the approved scheme. 
 
REASON: To ensure that there is adequate provision for secure cycle 
storage within the application site, encouraging alternative modes of 
transport in accordance Policy M4, M6 and M8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

7. No development above ground shall take place until details of the green roof 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  Details must include the construction method; specification of 
planting species to be used and a scheme for the management and 
maintenance of the roof.  Subsequently the development shall not be carried 
out other than in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 REASON: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in the interests 

of visual amenity in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
POST DEVELEOPMENT COMMENCING 
 
8. All agreed landscaping comprised in the approved landscaping scheme shall 

be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the 
occupation of the first building, the completion of the development, or in 
agreed phases whichever is the sooner: and any plants which within a period 
of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed or 
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with others of similar size and species.  All landscape works shall be 
carried out in accordance with the guidance contained in British Standards 
8545: 2014. 
 

Page 34



REASON: To ensure proper implementation of the agreed landscape details 
in the interest of the amenity value of the development in accordance with 
Policies RA10, D1, D2 and D8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

9. Prior to installation of any external lighting, the applicant must submit to, for 
approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority, details relating to the 
external lighting scheme. This scheme must meet the requirements within the 
Institution of Lighting Professionals guidance notes for the reduction of 
obtrusive lighting. Any external lighting must be implemented in accordance 
with the approved details. 
 
REASON: In the interests of minimising the impact of the development on the 
character and appearance of the area and the Green Belt, in accordance with 
Policies R20 and D2 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
10. The development hereby approved must not be carried out other than in 

accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment carried out by 
Cemetery Development Services dated August 2016 and supporting 
information, and the following mitigation measures:  

 
1. Implementing appropriate SuDS measures as indicated on drainage 

drawing CDS_WHF_CEM_10 Rev 4.0.  
2. Providing attenuation to ensure no increase in surface water run-off 

volumes for all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year + 
climate change event.  

3. Limiting the surface water run-off generated by the 1 in 100 year + 
climate change critical storm so that it will not exceed the run-off from the 
undeveloped site and not increase the risk of flooding off-site.  

 
The mitigation measures must be fully implemented prior to the first use of 
the crematorium hereby approved and subsequently in accordance with the 
timing / phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme, or within any 
other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

  
 REASON: To reduce the risk and impact of flooding by ensuring the 

satisfactory storage and disposal of surface water from the site and to ensure 
surface water can be managed in a sustainable manner in accordance with 
Policy R7 and R10 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  

 

11. Upon completion of the drainage works and prior to the first use of the 
crematorium, a complete set of as built drawings for the site drainage 
management must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall also include:  

 

1. Final confirmation of management and maintenance requirements.  
2. Provision of complete set of as built drawings for both site drainage and 

overland flow route management.  
3. Details of any inspection and sign-off requirements for completed 

elements of the drainage system.  

 

Page 35



REASON:  To reduce the risk and impact of flooding by ensuring the 
satisfactory storage and disposal of surface water from the site and to ensure 
surface water can be managed in a sustainable manner in accordance with 
Policy R7 and R10 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policy SADM12 
of the Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National 
Planning Policy Framework 019. 
 

12. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified, it must be reported 
in writing within 7 days to the Local Planning Authority. Once the Local 
Planning Authority has identified the part of the site affected by the 
unexpected contamination, development must be halted on that part of the 
site.  Before development recommences on the part of the site where 
contamination is present a scheme outlining appropriate measures to prevent 
the pollution of the water environment, to safeguard the health of intended 
site users, and to ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land 
under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the 
intended use of the land after remediation and approved conclusions shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Thereafter the development shall not be implemented otherwise than in 
accordance with the approved remediation scheme. 

REASON:  To ensure that the potential contamination of this site is properly 
investigated and its implication for the development approved fully taken into 
account in accordance with Policy R2 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 
2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
13. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-
enacting that Order with or without modification) no fences, gates or walls 
shall be constructed within the site or on the site boundaries. 

 
REASON:   To enable the Local Planning Authority to fully consider the 
effects of development normally permitted by that Order in the interests of 
safeguarding the visual amenity and openness of the Green Belt in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
PRIOR TO OCCUPATION 

 
14. The use of the crematorium must not commence until the vehicular access, 

parking spaces, circulation and turning areas have been laid out and 
surfaced in accordance with the approved drawings.  
  
Reason: To ensure satisfactory access into the site and parking provision for 
the development in the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy 
5 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018); Policy M14 of the 
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

  
15. The use of the crematorium must not commence until all the structures and 

buildings identified on approved drawing CDS_WEL_HAT_60 Rev 01, 
together with any other buildings or structures erected on the land since the 
grant of this planning permission are to be completely demolished and the 
resultant debris permanently removed from the application site. 

Page 36



  
 REASON: The complete removal of these buildings/structures is necessary to 

safeguard the visual amenity and openness of the Green Belt in accordance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

16. No cremation services shall take place outside the hours of 09:00 to 18:00 
Monday to Sunday including Public Holidays.  

  
 REASON: To align with the hours of use described within section 20 of the 

application form in the interest of limiting the impact on weekday morning 
peak traffic on the principle road network (A1001). 

 
17. Notwithstanding the approved plans, prior to the formal laying out of any of 

the car parking spaces, an amended car parking plan showing a minimum of 
6 car parking spaces to be disabled spaces shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Subsequently only that 
approved plan shall be implemented and retained thereafter for the duration 
of the use of this land as a car park. 
 
REASON: To provide accessible parking bays and a high standard of design 
of the development in line with Policies D1 of the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan, national guidance and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
DRAWING NUMBERS 
 
18. The development/works shall not be started and completed other than in 

accordance with the approved plans and details: 
  

Plan Number Revision 

Number 

Details Received Date 

143_T1_110 A Proposed Ground Floor Plan 17 May 2019 

143_T1_112  Proposed Roof Plan 17 May 2019 

143_T1_100 A Proposed Site Plan 17 May 2019 

143_T1_120  Proposed Sections AA BB CC 17 May 2019 

143_T1_011  Existing Site Sections 17 May 2019 

143_T1_010  Existing Site Plan 17 May 2019 

143_T1_122  Proposed Sections GG HH JJ 17 May 2019 

143_T1_135  Proposed Section EE 17 May 2019 

143_T1_150  Proposed North-East Elevation 17 May 2019 

143_T1_152 A Proposed South-West Elevation 17 May 2019 

143_T1_170  Proposed Roof Plan 17 May 2019 

143_T1_111  Proposed First Floor Plan 17 May 2019 

CDS_WHF_CE

M_10 

02 Surface and Foul Water Drainage 17 May 2019 

Page 37



CDS_WEL 

HAT_SB_03 

 Landscape Proposal - Courtyard 17 May 2019 

143_T1_121  Proposed Sections DD EE FF 17 May 2019 

143_T1_130  Proposed Section BB 17 May 2019 

143_T1_137  Proposed Section GG 17 May 2019 

143_T1_151 A Proposed North-West Elevation 17 May 2019 

143_T1_154  Proposed South-East Elevation 17 May 2019 

143_T1_222  Chapel Internal Arrangement 17 May 2019 

143_T1_224  Flower Court & Public WC 17 May 2019 

143_T1_226  Bearer's Room & Staff WC & 

Stores  

17 May 2019 

143_T1_228  Crematory Room & IT Station 17 May 2019 

143_T1_230  Vehicle & Equipment Storage 17 May 2019 

CDS_WEL 

HAT_SB_01 

03 Outline Landscape proposals 17 May 2019 

CDS_WHF_CE

M_08 

02 Site Location Plan 17 May 2019 

143_T1_221  Entrance & Lobby & Waiting 

Room & Vestry 

17 May 2019 

143_T1_225  Reception Meeting Space & 

Office 

17 May 2019 

143_T1_229  Staff Area & Welfare 17 May 2019 

CDS_WEL 

HAT_SB_02 

 Landscape proposals 17 May 2019 

143_T1_227  Viewing Room & Lobby & Store & 

Mortuary 

17 May 2019 

143_101 1 Site Section - Existing and 

Propose 

28 October 

2019 

CDS_WEL_HA

T_60  

1 Entrance Detail Calculations with 

30m Ditch Offset 

24 October 

2019 

  
REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with 
the approved plans and details. 

 
POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT 
  
The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and 
appropriate the requirements of paragraphs 186-187 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a decision 

Page 38



contrary to the development plan (see Officer’s report which can be viewed on the 
Council's website or inspected at these offices). 

 
INFORMATIVES 

 
1. This permission does not convey any consent which may be required under 

any legislation other than the Town and Country Planning Acts. Any 
permission required under the Building Regulations or under any other Act, 
must be obtained from the relevant authority or body e.g. Fire Officer, Health 
and Safety Executive, Environment Agency (Water interest etc. Neither does 
this permission negate or override any private covenants which may affect the 
land. 

 
Thames Water  
 
2. Thames Water would recommend that petrol / oil interceptors be fitted in all 

car parking/washing/repair facilities. Failure to enforce the effective use of 
petrol / oil interceptors could result in oil-polluted discharges entering local 
watercourses. 

 
Environment Agency  
 
3. The applicant should refer to the information and advice contained with the 

Environment Agencies consultation response letter in dealing with land 
affected by contamination, especially with respect to protection of the 
groundwater beneath the site. 
 

4. All investigations of land potentially affected by contamination should be 
carried out by or under the direction of a suitably qualified competent person. 
The competent person would normally be expected to be a chartered member 
of an appropriate body (such as the Institution of Civil Engineers, Geological 
Society of London, Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, Institution of 
Environmental Management) and also have relevant experience of 
investigating contaminated sites. 

 
Ecology 

 
5. Protected Specifies – It is an offence to take or disturb the breeding or resting 

location of protected species, which include: all Bats, Badger, Otter, Hazel 
dormouse, Water vole, Reptiles (Common lizard, Slow-worm, Grass snake), 
Great crested newt, wild birds and Roman snail. Precautionary measures 
should be taken to avoid harm where appropriate. If protected species, or 
evidence of them, is discovered during the course of any development, works 
should stop immediately and advice sought as to how to proceed. This may be 
obtained from Natural England: 0300 060 3900 or an appropriately qualified 
and experienced Ecologist. 

 
6. Amphibians and Reptile – Keep any areas of grass as short as possible up to, 

and including, the time when the works take place so that it remains unsuitable 
for amphibians (including Great Crested Newts) to cross. Cleared areas 
should be maintained to prevent re-colonisation prior to works commencing; 
and potential hibernacula or refugia such as loose stones or dead wood 
should be removed by hand. Stored building materials (that might act as 
temporary resting places) are raised off the ground e.g. on pallets or batons 

Page 39



away from hedgerows on site. Caution should be taken when moving debris 
piles or building materials as any sheltering animals could be impacted on and 
if an amphibian (with exception of a Great crested newt) is found, then it 
should be moved carefully out of harm’s way. Any excavations are backfilled 
before nightfall or a ramp left to allow trapped animals to escape easily / 
provided with a means of escape for any animals that may have become 
trapped - this is particularly important if holes fill with water. In the unlikely 
event that a Great crested newt is encountered during works, works must stop 
immediately and ecological advice taken on how to proceed lawfully from an 
appropriately qualified and experienced Ecologist. 

 
7. The removal of trees & shrubs should be avoided during the bird breeding 

season (March to September inclusive) to protect breeding birds, their nests, 
eggs and young. If this is not possible then a search of the area should be 
made by a suitably experienced Ecologist and if active nests are found, then 
clearance must be delayed until the last chick has fledged.  

 
8. Keep any areas of grass as short as possible up to, and including, the time 

when construction works take place so that it remains / becomes unsuitable 
for Great crested newts to cross.  

 
9. Clearance of existing boundary habitats (ruderal and scrub) and pond 

boundaries vegetation should be undertaken progressively towards 
boundaries to allow any animals present to escape to contiguous areas of 
retained habitat.  

 
10. Stored materials (that might act as temporary resting places) should be raised 

off the ground e.g. on pallets or batons. Caution should be taken when moving 
composting heaps, debris piles or building materials as any sheltering animals 
could be impacted on. No materials are to be stored adjacent to hedgerows on 
site.  

 
11. Trenches should be provided with a means of escape for any animals (from 

Great crested newts to badgers) that may have become trapped. This is 
particularly important if the trench fills with water.  

 
12. Any external lighting scheme, including security lighting, should be designed to 

minimise light spill, in particular directing light away from the boundary 
vegetation to ensure dark corridors remain for use by wildlife as well as 
directing lighting away from potential roost / nesting sites.  

 
Highways  

 
13. It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit mud or 

other debris on the public highway, and section 149 of the same Act gives the 
Highway Authority powers to remove such material at the expense of the party 
responsible. Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times to 
ensure that all vehicles leaving the site during construction of the development 
are in a condition such as not to emit dust or deposit mud, slurry or other 
debris on the highway. Further information is available by telephoning 0300 
1234047. 

 
Mark Peacock (Development Management) 
Date: 22 January 2020 

Page 40



 
 

 

 

 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Main author: Lucy Hale 
Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton 
(Hatfield South West) 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 6 FEBRUARY 2020   
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE)  
 
6/2019/2086/MAJ 
 
MINSTER HOUSE, MINSTER CLOSE, HATFIELD, AL10 9JN 
 
ERECTION OF 90 RESIDENTIAL UNITS FOR OVER 55’S WITH ASSOCIATED 
COMMUNAL AREAS, AMENITY SPACE, CAR PARKING AND ALTERATIONS TO 
EXISTING ACCESS FOLLOWING DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BUILDINGS 
 
APPLICANT: Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 
 
 
1 Background 

 
1.1 This application comprises a corporate application for the re-development of 

Minster House; a sheltered housing scheme targeted at the over 55’s to be 
delivered through the Council’s Affordable Housing Programme.  Nominations for 
this scheme will be made from Welwyn Hatfield Council’s housing need’s 
register.  

 
2 Site Description 

 
2.1 The application site is located in South Hatfield on the east side of Bishops Rise, 

in close proximity to High View Neighbour Centre which lies approximately 200m 
to the south of the site.  Hatfield Town Centre is approximately 1.5km to the 
north.   
 

2.2 The site has an area of approximately 0.7 hectares and is currently occupied by 
30 self-contained flats and 11 bungalows set around a central courtyard.  Vehicle 
access is gained from the north via Minster Close, which runs along the rear 
boundary of the site, leading to a communal car park and a limited allocated 
parking serving the existing bungalows.  The existing flats are provided within a 
two storey ‘L’ shaped building fronting Bishops Rise.  The site is currently owned 
and run by the council, providing retirement housing for the over 65’s, as well as 
one warden’s flat.  The level of care provided comprises district nurses and 
resident carers.  
 

2.3 Immediately adjoining the site to the north is a triangle of woodland which is 
within the Council’s ownership.  To the east of the site are the rear gardens of 
residential properties along Heron Way; to the south are the rear gardens of 
residential properties along Lark Rise and Bishops Rise.  Opposite the site to the 
west along Bishops Rise is the University of Hatfield College Lane Campus. 
 
 
 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



 
3 The Proposal 

 
3.1 The proposal comprises the demolition of the existing block of flats and 

bungalows with the erection of two new buildings, ranging from two to five 
stories, providing 90 residential units with communal areas, amenity space, car 
parking provision, cycle and buggy storage and bin storage.  The main features 
of this proposal are summarised below: 

 90 residential units comprising: 68 x 1-bedroom flats, 2 studio flats and 20 x 2-

bedroom flats 

 Net increase of 50 residential units  

 Affordable housing: 100% social rent 

 Block A-B will front Bishops Rise ranging from 2-5 storeys in height 

 Block C-D parallel to Block A-B ranges from 2-4 storeys in height 

 40 car parking spaces comprising: 10 visitor spaces with one disabled space; 

30 spaces for the residents including two E-Car Club spaces with EV charging 

points; and three disabled spaces 

 48 cycle spaces and 10 buggy spaces with indoor and outdoor storage and 

two motorcycle bays 

 Community facilities: lounge, sun room, kitchen and outdoor amenity space  

 Accessibility: adaptable private and communal areas, warden assistance, 24 

hour emergency alarm, step free access 

 Care: one full-time scheme manager and visits from district nurses and 

resident carers 

 Amenity: private balconies, roof terraces and communal gardens 

 Landscaping: fruit and vegetable planters, trees, water feature, sculpture, 

benches, pergolas and green roofs and enhancement to the adjacent 

woodland 

 Sustainability: BREEAM ‘very good’ rating 

 
4 Reason for Committee Consideration 
 
4.1 This application is presented to the Development Management Committee 

because the application is a major development and the Borough Council is the 
applicant and has an interest in the land which is the subject of the application.   
 

5 Relevant Planning History  
 

5.1 Application Number: 6/2019/2280/EIA 
Decision: Granted  
Decision Date: 07 August 2019 
Proposal: Screening opinion 
 

5.2 Application Number: 6/2018/2431/PA 
Decision: Granted  
Decision Date: 18 September 2019 
Proposal: Pre application advice for the demolition of the existing buildings at 
Minster House and replacement with new accommodation for the over 55's 
 
 

Page 44



5.3 Application Number: S6/1976/0610/ 
Decision: Granted  
Decision Date: 21 February 1977 
Proposal: 29 Flats and 11 bungalows for elderly persons together with 1 wardens 
flat 

 
6 Relevant Planning Policy 

 
6.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  

 
6.2 Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 (District Plan) 
 
6.3 Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 2016 (Emerging Local Plan) 
 
6.4 Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 (SDG) 
 
6.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance, Parking Standards 2004 (SPG) 

 
6.6 Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards and Garage Sizes 2014 (Interim Car 

Parking Policy) 
 

6.7 Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document 2012 (SPD) 
 

7 Site Designation  
 

7.1 The site lies within the settlement of Hatfield as designated in the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan 2005. 

8 Representations Received  
 

8.1 The application was advertised by means of a press notice, neighbour 
notification letters and site notices.  In total four representations have been 
received, comprising one objection and three comments.  All representations 
received are published in full on the Council’s website and are summarised 
below: 

Objections and comments: 
 

 Traffic during demolition and construction 

 Pollution from demolition and health risks 

 Noise pollution, dust and debris during construction 

 Damage to trees during construction 

 Working hours during construction 

 Lighting in the evening 

 Overshadowing towards Heron Way 

 Height and scale out of proportion and will dominate surrounding 
properties 

 Overdevelopment of site 

 Invasion of privacy 

 Inadequate and dangerous access 

 Poor use of public money 
 
 
 

Page 45



9 Consultations Received 
 
9.1 The following have responded advising that they have no objections to the 

proposal in principal, subject to conditions or obligations being applied: 

 HCC Historic Environment Advisor 

 HCC Lead Local Flood Authority 

 HCC Growth Team 

 HCC Spatial Planning 

 HCC Transport Programmes and Strategy 

 HCC Fire and Rescue Service 

 HCC NHS 

 WHBC Public Health and Protection 

 WHBC Client Services 

 WHBC Landscape and Ecology 

 WHBC Parking Services 

 WHBC Affordable Housing 

 Place Services 

 Hertfordshire Ecology 

 Hertfordshire Constabulary 

 Highways England 

 Thames Water 

 Affinity Water 

 Natural England 

 Cadent Gas 
 
9.2 No response was received from the following consultees: 

 Herts & Middlesex Bat Group 

 Herts & Middlesex Wildlife Trust 

 Environment Agency 

 HCC Rights of Way 
 
10 Town/Parish Council Representations 

 
10.1 Hatfield Town Council have raised an objection to the proposed development for 

the reasons set out below: 
 
“The Committee objected to this this planning application due to parking issues 
and questioned sustainability? Will there be solar panels and electric vehicle 
charging points? Also they wished to request the building work did not run along 
the South Hatfield development” 

 
11 Analysis 

 
11.1 The main planning issues to be considered in the determination of this 

application are: 
 
1. Principle of development  
2. Quality of design and impact on the character of the area  
3. Residential amenity  
4. Highways and parking considerations  
5. Other considerations  

i) Ecology and biodiversity  
ii) Flood risk and sustainable drainage 

Page 46



iii) Renewable energy and sustainability credentials 
iv) Chalk mining 
v) Contaminated land 
vi) Refuse and recycling  
vii) Environmental Impact Assessment 

6. Planning obligations  
 

1. Principle of the development 
 

11.2 Policy SD1 of the District Plan 2005 states that development proposals will be 
permitted where it can be demonstrated that the principles of sustainable 
development are satisfied and that they will accord with the objectives and 
policies of the Plan.  Policy R1 requires development to take place on previously 
developed land and Policy GBSP2 directs new development into the existing 
towns and specified settlements within the district.  These objectives are 
consistent with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) which supports 
the development of under-utilised land and buildings (para.118) and the efficient 
use of land (para.122) taking into account, amongst other criteria, the importance 
of securing well-designed, attractive and healthy places. 
 

11.3 Policy SP7 of the Council’s Emerging Local Plan identifies the need to deliver 
varied housing in the borough and supports the provision of 715 dwellings to 
accommodate older people (over 65’s) through a range of housing options such 
as sheltered housing, flexi-care, extra-care, assisted living and other forms of 
supported housing during the plan period.  The provision of housing for older 
people is encouraged and is consistent with the aims of the NPPF to deliver a 
mix of housing.   

 
11.4 The proposal comprises a sheltered housing scheme (Use class C3) to be 

delivered through the Council’s Affordable Housing Programme.  The purpose of 
sheltered housing is to enable older people (usually available to those aged 55+) 
to live independently but with support and assistance if required with the sense of 
belonging to a community through shared facilities and social events.  The 
scheme will provide a full-time manager on site, warden call, a 24-hour 
emergency alarm system and communal facilities (lounge, sun room, kitchen, 
sensory gardens and fruit and vegetable gardens, buggy and cycle storage).  
There is no evidence that additional care provision will be involved, as such the 
proposal caters for the needs of relatively independent older people within a C3 
use class. 

 
11.5 Whilst the scheme is proposed to deliver affordable housing for over 55’s, it 

would still contribute to the overall policy aim of delivering varied housing in the 
Borough.   The proposed development fulfils the definition given in the NPPF of 
‘older people’ as people that are over or approaching retirement age and whose 
housing needs may encompass accessible and adaptable general needs 
housing.  This proposal also contributes to the Council’s 5 year housing land 
supply, which adds to the tilted balance in line with paragraph 11 of the NPPF as 
the Council does not have a 5 year housing land supply.  Furthermore, the 
scheme presents 100% affordable housing and therefore complies with the 
District Plan policy H7, Emerging Plan Policy SP7 and the NPPF. 

 
11.6 Policy H9 of the District Plan sets out that the Council will grant permission for 

schemes which provide special needs accommodation in areas which are close 
to community facilities and services.  The site is already in use for housing for 

Page 47



older people which in the context of the District Plan falls within the category of 
special needs housing.  The site is located in close proximity to High View 
neighbourhood centre which provides a range of services and facilities.  
Members will be aware that the Committee recently resolved to grant planning 
permission for re-development of High View to include 18 commercial units 
comprising a doctor’s surgery (ref: 6/2019/1067/MAJ).  Whilst beyond a 
convenient walking distance, Hatfield Town Centre, the Galleria and Hatfield 
Railway Station are all accessible by frequent bus services which stop near to 
the application site.  The proposal for the net increase of the provision of special 
needs housing is encouraged and is supported in this location by policy as a 
result of its location close to community facilities and services.  

 
11.7 The site is not an allocated housing site within the current local plan, however it 

has been identified in the Housing & Employment Land Availability Assessment 
(site reference HWS92) which seeks to identify additional sites to be allocated in 
the Emerging Local Plan to meet local housing need.  The site has been 
identified as suitable for the provision of retirement living accommodation.   
 

11.8 The application site is currently a ‘windfall site’.  District Plan Policy H2, therefore, 
applies.  This policy states that all proposals for windfall housing development 
will be assessed against the following criteria: 

 
i. The availability of previously-developed sites or buildings; 

ii. The location and accessibility of the site to services and facilities by 
transport modes other than the car; 

iii. The capacity of existing and potential infrastructure to absorb further 
development; 

iv. The ability to build new communities to support infrastructure and provide 
demand for services and facilities; and 

v. The physical and environmental constraints on development of land. 

 
11.9 Policy SADM1 of the Emerging Local Plan is similar to Policy H2 but also 

includes criteria that a proposal would not result in disproportionate growth taking 
into account the position of a settlement within the settlement hierarchy and that 
the proposal would not undermine the delivery of allocated sites. 
 

11.10 The application site is previously developed and comprises older persons living 
accommodation which is 100% affordable in line with Emerging Policy Sp7 and 
the NPPF.  The proposal to re-develop the site within the same use makes 
efficient use of previously developed land.  The site is located within Hatfield 
which is designated in Policy GBSP2 as a sustainable location to which 
development will be directed.  It is within walking distance of High View 
neighbourhood centre where there are a range of services and facilities available 
and closely located to Hatfield Town Centre, the Galleria and Hatfield Railway 
Station which can be accessed by frequent bus services.  It is also located within 
an existing residential area where the infrastructure has the capacity to absorb 
further development.  The proposal would therefore meet the requirements of the 
first four criteria within Policy H2 and is therefore subject to an assessment of the 
proposal’s impact upon the surrounding environment.  The physical and 
environmental constraints on the development and land have been assessed 
below. 
 

Page 48



2. Quality of design and impact on the character of the area 
 

11.11 District Plan Policies D1 and D2 aim to ensure a high quality of design and to 
ensure that development respects and relates to the character and context of the 
locality, maintaining and where possible enhancing the character of the existing 
area.  These policies are expanded upon in the Council’s Supplementary Design 
Guidance (SDG) which requires the impact of a development to be assessed 
giving regard to the bulk, scale and design of the proposal and how it harmonises 
with the existing building and area.  These objectives are broadly consistent with 
the Council’s Emerging Local Plan and the aims of the NPPF which considers 
that the creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the 
planning and development process should achieve. 

11.12 The National Design Guide released in October 2019, expands on the aims of 
the NPPF and sets out the characteristics of well-designed places and 
demonstrates what good design means in practice.  The guide forms part of the 
Government’s planning practice guidance and is a material planning 
consideration. 

Density 

11.13 The proposed application seeks to erect 90 units, a net increase of 50 units 
which equates to a density of 133.7dph.  Policy H6 of the District Plan and SP9 
of the Emerging Local Plan identify typical densities of 30-50 dwellings per 
hectare as being appropriate, that combines the efficient use of land with high 
quality design that respects character and context.   

11.14 The density of the site would fall outside of the suggested density range within 
Policy H6, however a higher density is encouraged in the current and Emerging 
Local Plan policies in accessible locations such as around transport hubs or town 
and neighbourhood centres, provided that the development does not have an 
adverse impact on the character of the surrounding area and can satisfy the 
design policies of the plan. 

11.15 The site is located within an accessible location where a higher density is 
encouraged.  The buildings have been designed to range from two to five storeys 
in height, stepping down in height to the south of the site where the building is 
located closest to the residential properties and increasing in height to the north 
where the site adjoins woodland.  The scale of the buildings at four and five 
storey reflects the height of the university buildings on the opposite side of 
Bishops Rise.  As a result of the sustainable location of the site, the character of 
the immediate area and the contribution to the stock of homes for older people in 
the Borough, a higher density is justified at this site and there is no objection in 
principle to the number of units proposed. 

Scale, layout and design 

11.16 The proposal comprises the erection of two new buildings: Block A-B fronting 
onto Bishops Rise and Block C-D behind.  The two main blocks would be 
connected at ground floor by a corridor which provides access to the courtyard 
and the communal areas and first floor by a communal terrace.  A parking area is 
located to the east of the site and vehicle access is gained from Minster Close.  
There would be pedestrian access from Minster Close and directly from Bishops 
Rise via a ramp.   

Page 49



11.17 The application site is located within an area that is mixed use in character, 
comprising residential and commercial properties.  There is a variation in the 
scale of surrounding buildings which range from chalet bungalows situated on 
Minster Close to the north east of the site, two storey houses on Bishops Rise 
and Lark Rise to the south of the site and along Heron Way to the east.  To the 
west side of Bishops Rise, opposite the site, there are a large number of 
university buildings which are four to five storey in height.  These buildings are 
also significantly greater in terms of their footprint and overall scale when 
compared to the proposed development. 

11.18 The existing buildings on the application site are set back from the road by a 
wide grass verge, a footpath and a hedgerow.  This setback, and associated soft 
landscaping, contributes towards the quality and character of the streetscene and 
has the effect of softening the appearance of buildings, hard landscaping and 
parked cars.  The proposed site plan shows that the development would sit 
marginally back, behind the existing building line and hedgerow would be 
maintained.  It would be reasonable to remove permitted development rights by 
way of planning condition for the erection of fencing in the interest of visual 
amenity.  Block A-B would align with the houses to the south of the site that front 
Bishops Rise.  The building has been carefully designed to sit sensitively into the 
space and respect the surrounding built form by stepping in storey to create a 
varied roof line, ranging from two to five storeys.  To the south of the site, the 
building steps to three storeys in height to respect the neighbouring two storey 
houses along Bishops Rise, maintaining a 5m distance to the shared boundary.  
The ground level has also been set 1m below the existing land levels of Bishops 
Rise which further mitigates the scale of the building.  The height of the building 
increases to five storeys to the north corner, where the site adjoins Minster Close 
Wood, without resulting in an overly dominant form of development.  The highest 
point of this building relates to the scale of the University of Hertfordshire student 
halls of residence opposite the site to the west.  

11.19 Block C-D is located behind Block A-B to the east.  The building is predominately 
four storeys in height and steps to two and three storeys to the south where the 
site adjoins the rear gardens of the two storey houses along Bishops Rise and 
Lark Rise.  The building would maintain approximately 9/10m from the shared 
boundary with the rear gardens along Lark Rise.  The site slopes from west to 
east and the reduction in ground level of 1m from Bishops Rise assists in 
reducing the overall scale of the building in comparison to the surrounding 
buildings.  The building has been set back from the site boundary with the rear 
gardens of the residential properties of Heron Way by approximately 29m. 

11.20 The increase in density marks a significant change from the existing 
development, however the development has been articulated to make efficient 
use of the site whilst sitting comfortably and has been carefully designed to 
respect the existing pattern of development within the streetscene. 

Appearance and materials 

11.21 The two buildings have been designed to visually appear as a number of smaller 
blocks rather than one building by using vertical separations (recesses, 
downpipes, brick colours and materials) and different roof parapet heights to 
highlight each block.  The elevations would feature recessed balconies with 
balustrades and stone window features.  These techniques assist in creating 
visual breaks within the building, lessening the scale and massing of the built 
form.  Furthermore, the range of material differences and features adds interest 

Page 50



to the appearance on all views of the development.  The detailed elevation 
treatment strikes a satisfactory balance of being neither too assertive nor overly 
dominant but would positively enhance the distinctiveness of the surrounding 
area.  

11.22 The Design and Access Statement indicates the material palette will use a 
combination of different tones of buff, brown and grey brickwork, a dark brown 
facing brick with white, light brown and intense dark shades, a metal coping to 
finish the top of the façade parapets with concrete frame in some windows to 
introduce a subtle change to the façades texture and helps to create a well-
balanced elevation.  All windows will be double glazed and will be black to create 
a contrast with the brickwork and powder coated black metal balustrades.  

11.23 The scheme proposes a palette of high quality materials, features and detailing, 
which will help to create a well-articulated and visually interesting building of 
identity and of an appropriately high standard for this location.  Notwithstanding 
the details submitted with this application, a planning condition requiring the 
approval of materials would be appropriate to ensure that the detailed design of 
the proposed building can be properly assessed and agreed.  

Heritage 

11.24 Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
requires that the Local Planning Authority shall have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the listed building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses 

11.25 The specific historic environment policies within the Framework are contained 
within para.184-202. Paragraph 192 of the Framework states: 

In determining planning applications, local planning authorities should take 
account of: 

a. The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage    
assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 

b. The positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets  can make to 
sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and 

c. The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 
character and distinctiveness. 

11.26 Policy SADM15 of the Emerging Local Plan seeks to protect heritage assets and 
ensure that development proposals do not adversely affect the historic or 
architectural significance of a Listed Building or its setting. 

11.27 There are no designated heritage assets on or immediately adjacent to the site. 
The site is located approximately 2km from and within the wider landscape 
settings of Hatfield House (Grade I), the Old Palace (Grade I), St Etheldreda’s 
Church (Grade I), and Hatfield Park Registered Park and Garden (Grade I).  A 
Heritage Statement by ARC and a visual assessment including verified views 
have been submitted with the application to assess the impact of the proposal on 
these heritage assets.  

11.28 Essex County Council Place Services have confirmed that there are no 
objections to the proposal, concluding as a result of its scale and design, it will 

Page 51



not become a prominent or detracting feature within long views from Hatfield 
House, the Old Palace, St Etheldreda’s or Hatfield Park.  Intervening trees and 
buildings will filter views and the proposed buildings will become part of the 
Hatfield skyline being no more prominent than existing buildings.  There is no 
harm to the settings of these assets and the proposed buildings will not be 
intrusive in any key views from these assets towards Hatfield.  As such, the 
relevant heritage assets would be preserved accordance with the requirements 
of S66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

Archaeology 

11.29 Policy R29 of the District Plan states that the Council will require developers to 
undertake an archaeological assessment where the proposed development may 
affect remains of archaeological significance, or may be sited in an area of 
archaeological potential.   

11.30 The Historic Environment Advisor has advised that there are little or no known 
archaeological assets close to the site and the development is unlikely to have 
an impact on heritage assets of archaeological interest.   

Landscaping 

11.31 District Plan Policy R17 seeks to protect existing trees whilst Policy D8 requires 
landscaping to form an integral part of the overall design, and in this respect the 
high quality design required by Policy D1 would again be relevant.  Landscaping 
is important in order to protect and enhance the existing character of the area 
and to reduce the visual and environmental impacts of the development.  The 
National Design Guide identifies ‘landscape’ as the treatment of land (other than 
buildings) for the purpose of enhancing or protecting the amenities of the site, the 
area in which it is situated and the natural environment. 

11.32 An Arboricultural Assessment and a Tree Protection Plan and Method Statement 
undertaken by Ginger Landscape accompany the application.  The Landscaping 
team have confirmed the assessment and categorisation of the existing trees on 
site to be a fair appraisal and the method statement submitted for the protection 
of existing trees to be retained during construction to be adequate. 

11.33 The proposed development does not require the removal of any protected trees, 
however two category A trees are required to be removed to facilitate the 
development.  These include one mature Oak (Tree T232 at the turning head) 
and one mature Weeping Willow (Tree T236 within the courtyard) along with 12 
category B trees.  The loss of these trees will be mitigated by the provision of up 
to 20 replacement trees to be planted and a high quality landscaping scheme.   

11.34 The Design and Access Statement and a Landscaping Strategy (Drawing No. 
A228-LA01) have been submitted providing an indicative landscaping scheme.  
The scheme comprises a mix of hard and soft landscaped areas intended to 
separate the site and provide different experiences for the residents.  In terms of 
hard surfacing there is a car parking area proposed to the east of the site 
comprising permeable block paving parking bays and a tarmac access and 
circulation area.  This area is separated from the buildings with a pathway with 
ramped access and a landscaping buffer comprising a hedge surrounding a 
seating area with central small ornamental trees and large shrub in raised 
planters.  There is a central courtyard which is the main focus of the scheme 
which comprises the connected walkway and communal area between both 

Page 52



buildings.  The courtyard splits into different areas with open and covered seating 
with canopies and different experiences for the residents with raised fruit and 
vegetable planters, fruit trees, water feature and a bird bath or sculpture.  The 
soft and hard landscaping creates a suitable balance of connecting pathways 
and areas for the residents to enjoy, whilst resenting high amenity value in its 
quality.  The hedge along Bishops Rise would be maintained, with various trees 
suggested to enhance the buffer between the highway and the residential 
accommodation.   

11.35 There are a number of roof terraces proposed with quality green infrastructure, 
with two green roofs proposed, which further enhances the quality of the scheme.  

11.36 The Landscaping team have requested a detailed landscaping plan to include: 
Plant/tree species, sizes, planting densities etc, planting methods, details of any 
green roofs (manufacture’s specification), detail of any woodland improvements, 
details of aftercare for the first 5 years, including replacements for failed planting 
and details of hard landscaping materials.  This information can be secured by a 
planning condition. 

Safety by design 
 

11.37 Policy D7 of the District Plan requires the design of new development to 
contribute to safer communities to help with the reduction of the fear of crime. 

11.38 Hertfordshire Constabulary Secured by Design officer commented in support of 
this application with no objections raised.  

11.39 The Design and Assess Statement highlights a number of measures which have 
been implemented into the design of the scheme to discourage crime.   The 
proposal will be accredited under the police preferred minimum security ‘Secured 
by Design’ (SBD) Scheme.  The hedge along Bishops Rise will be retained and a 
gated access incorporated along the front boundary to enclose the site from 
Bishops Rise.  A low fence with a 0.9m gated access is proposed to demarcate 
the boundary between the site and adjacent woodland and further hard boundary 
treatment within the site to secure access from the entrance next to Block C-D 
and to the south to separate the car parking area and internal courtyard.  Diffuse 
lights are proposed within the courtyard and along the north boundary with the 
woodland and streetlights installed in the car park.  In addition, an audio-visual 
access control system will be implemented at the entrance of the building for 
security purposes.  

11.40 In terms of fire safety, a Fire Strategy Design Note has been submitted by 
Trenton Fire and a Fire Strategy floor plan (drawing no. MH-RT17078-XX-00-DR-
A-00171 Rev PL01).  The fire strategy is based on compliance with Part B of 
Schedule 1 of the Building Regulations 2010.  Dry risers will be used in two 
staircases, one for the Block A-B and one for the Block B-C. 

11.41 Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue presented no objections. 

3. Residential amenity  

11.42 The NPPF is clear that planning should be a means of finding ways to enhance 
and improve the places in which people live their lives. This means that 
authorities should always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard 
of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. 
 

Page 53



11.43 Policies D1 and R19 of the District Plan seek to ensure that no new development 
would adversely affect the existing area either in terms of any built form or in 
terms of the operation of any uses from noise and vibration pollution. 
 
Quality of accommodation and facilities 

 
11.44 The proposal comprises 90 residents units.  There are 2 x 1B1P units with a floor 

area of 37sqm, 68 x 1B2P units with a floor area of 50sqm and 20 x 2B3P units 
with a floor area of 61sqm.  All of the units comply with the Nationally Described 
Space Standard (NDSS) for internal floor area of residential dwellings.  There are 
five types of residential unit proposed: Type ‘E’ comprises a studio with a single 
bed, open living space and shower room with no balcony, Type ‘D’ comprises a 
two bedroom flat with a double bedroom, single bedroom, bathroom, open living 
space and a terrace, Types ‘A, B and C’ comprise a one bedroom flat with a 
double bed, bathroom and open living space with terraces and vary in layout and 
form.  All the flats are single aspect but facing east or west, while eight of the 
flats on the north corner are dual aspect facing Minster Close Wood. 

11.45 The Design and Access Statement confirms that all units will comply with current 
Category 2 level as set out within Approved Document M of the Building 
Regulations for ‘accessible and adaptable dwellings’ and will follow the HAPPI 
standard: good size rooms, double and single, open plan layout and flexible living 
space, sufficient space to maintain an active and social lifestyle, continuous view 
to the greenery, sufficient storage in the kitchen and in all the rooms, high 
standard of thermal and noise insulation, efficient to heat, walk in wet room, 
alarm systems and a good level of daylight.   

11.46 In terms of the communal areas, a number of facilities are proposed at ground 
floor which include a lounge, sun room and a kitchen.  These areas are of 
adequate size to serve the residents for practically in regard to accessibility and 
in a social respect with sufficient space for social activities.  Both of the buildings 
will be designed in accordance with Part M4(2) of the Building Regulations – 
Category 2 – accessible and adaptable dwellings and will include step free 
access and circulation spaces in line with Emerging Policy SP7 and the NPPF. 

11.47 The design and layout of the dwellings and communal areas are considered to 
be adequate to provide a reasonable quality of living accommodation for the 
future occupiers of the site.  Careful consideration has been given to make them 
suitable for older people, those with reduced mobility and wheelchair users in line 
with Policy H10 of the District Plan and SP7 of the Emerging Local Plan.  These 
details will be secured by a planning condition to ensure implementation. 

Amenity space 

11.48 In terms of amenity space, the SDG requires all new residential developments to 
provide adequate space for residents in a form that is functional and usable in its 
orientation, width, depth, and shape and an adequate size for the number of 
residents for whom the building is designed.   

11.49 All of the units apart from the two studio flats will benefit from their own private 
terrace as well as a communal roof terrace above the connected link between the 
two buildings and a roof terrace on Level 4 of Block A-B.  In addition, the 
residents will benefit from an accessible and functional high quality landscaped 
amenity space at ground floor which has been designed with distinct areas, 
experiences and focal destinations which are connected by accessible pathways.  

Page 54



There are shaded areas through the use of pergolas and canopies with water 
features, raised fruit and vegetable planters and a number of fruit trees.  The 
internal courtyard is easily accessed from the indoor sunroom where views of the 
high value landscaped garden are gained.  Careful consideration has been given 
to the layout and use of this space to provide a high quality amenity space for 
residents, promoting social inclusion and well-being in line with the aims of the 
NPPF and guidance set out in the National Design Guide.   

11.50 Furthermore, the site is located next to Minster Close Wood where there is direct 
access for residents.  A contribution for the upgrade to the pathway to this area 
as well as biodiversity enhancements will be captured and secured through the 
S106 agreement, which will further improve the quality of this area. 

Noise 

11.51 Policies D1 and R19 of the District Plan seek to ensure that no new development 
would adversely affect the existing area either in terms of any built form or in 
terms of the operation of any uses from noise and vibration pollution. 

11.52 A Noise Impact Assessment has been prepared by Hepworth Acoustics Ltd and 
submitted with the application which outlines that noise levels associated with 
Bishops Rise have a significant impact on the proposed development and 
mitigation will be required.  A Ventilation, Overheating and Noise Strategy has 
also been submitted and ensures that the properties do not overheat in the 
summer months whilst maintaining the internal noise environment to levels 
required within BS8233, this has been evidenced through a SAP assessment.  
Public Health and Projection and consider these details to be acceptable.  It 
would be reasonable to condition the required mitigation measures to be 
implemented prior to occupation of the residential units.  

11.53 External amenity areas must, so far as is practicable, comply with the 55dB 
World Health Organisation (WHO) Community Noise Guideline level.  The Noise 
Impact Assessment outlines that the outdoor amenity areas will meet the 
guidelines.  Public Health and Protection are satisfied that the outdoor amenity 
areas are able to meet the guidelines and it is recommended that a condition be 
placed on the application to ensure these levels are maintained.  

11.54 For a development of this size it is likely that there will be significant amount of 
noise associated with plant and equipment.  It is therefore recommended that a 
condition be placed on the application requiring any plant to be 5dB below the 
background noise level or, 10dB below the background noise level if the noise 
produced is tonal, at the nearest sensitive receptors. 

Neighbouring properties  

11.55 Policy D1 and the Council’s Supplementary Design Guidance (SDG) provide the 
local policy framework when assessing the impact of development on the 
residential amenity of neighbouring properties, as well as providing sufficient 
amenity for potential future occupiers of the proposed development.  All new 
development should not cause a loss of light to or unduly dominate adjoining 
properties.  In addition, development should be designed, orientated and 
positioned in such a way to minimise overlooking between dwellings. 

11.56 The Design and Access Statement demonstrates the orientation and siting of the 
two blocks alongside a Sunpath Study and a Visual Impact Appraisal by ARC 
which considers the visual impact on neighbouring properties. 

Page 55



11.57 The neighbouring properties most likely to be impacted by the development are 
Nos 47-53 Bishops Rise and 1-13 Lark Rise to the south of the site.  In addition, 
Nos 46 -58 Heron Way to the east and Nos 1-7 Minster Close to the north east. 

11.58 Nos 47-53 Bishops Rise are two storey detached houses located to the south of 
the site and front Bishops Rise.  Block A-B would front Bishops Rise and has 
been positioned to maintain the front building line of this row of houses.  No 47 
Bishops Rise immediately adjoins the site and comprises a two storey house. 
The new building has been located approximately 5m in from the shared 
boundary with this property and it steps down to three storey at its southern end 
for approximately 6.5m in width and has been set 1m lower in ground level than 
No 47.   Whilst the scale of the building will inevitably appear larger in 
comparison to the existing development, the building has been designed to 
mitigate its impact where possible by virtue of its height, siting and separation 
distance to ensure there is no detrimental loss of light to habitable rooms or the 
enjoyment of amenity space for the occupiers of No 47.  

11.59 In terms of privacy, there are no windows proposed on the south side elevation of 
the building and the balconies have been designed as recessed within the 
building to avoid any direct overlooking.  In regard to Block C-D which would sit 
behind Block A-B and to the east of No 47, this building would be located 
approximately 26.7m away from the closest habitable window on the rear 
elevation.  This building has been reduced in height to two storey to the south 
west corner and three storeys to the south east corner to further respect the 
siting and scale of No 47.  The separation distance and height of the building on 
this corner, is considered to be acceptable as to not appear unduly dominant or 
result in a detrimental loss of light.  The building would be of an acceptable 
distance from the habitable windows and would be set in from the boundary to 
not result in a direct overlooking or loss of privacy.  Furthermore, there are trees 
located along this boundary southern boundary and the landscaping plan 
indicates additional trees to be planted.  Details can be secured by a planning 
condition. 

11.60 Nos 1-13 Lark Rise adjoin the site to the south and comprise two storey houses 
which benefit from generously proportioned rear gardens which measure over 
30m in depth.  Block C-D is located approximately 9m at its closest point to the 
shared boundary with these properties.  As a result it is considered that the 
building would be separated from the closest habitable windows by 
approximately 40m which is considered to be of adequate separation distance as 
to not result in a detrimental loss of light.  In addition, no south side elevation 
windows are proposed and the balconies on the east and west elevation would 
be recessed to avoid any direct overlooking towards these rear gardens to the 
south.  The relationship would further be mitigated by the existing line of trees on 
the southern boundary and the suggested planting of additional trees which will 
be secured by a planning condition.  

11.61 Nos 46-58 Heron Way are located to the east of the application site and 
comprise two storey semi-detached houses with rear gardens.  The rear gardens 
of these properties measure between 15-18m in depth.  The proposal has been 
designed to respect the sloping land levels of the site, from west to east and as 
such the built form has been adequately set back from the boundary shared with 
these houses and a parking courtyard and existing mature trees act as a buffer.  
Block C-D would be located approximately 29m from the adjoining east boundary 
with the private gardens on Heron Way and approximately 43m from the rear 
elevation of the closest property.  In terms of scale, the closest building is 

Page 56



predominantly four storeys in height.  Whilst the building will inevitably be visible 
from these properties and mark a change from the existing situation, the 
separation distance is considered to be acceptable as so not result in a 
detrimental loss of light.  In terms of privacy, there will be windows and balconies 
on the east facing elevation towards the rear of these properties, however given 
the separation distance of approximately 43m to the closest habitable windows it 
is not considered that there would be a detrimental loss of privacy.  It is 
considered that the degree of separation, together with the intervening mature 
trees would ensure that the living conditions of the occupiers are maintained to 
an acceptable level. 

11.62 The proposed development would result in a higher density which will inevitably 
be a material change in comparison to the existing situation, however, the scale 
and layout of the proposal has been carefully designed to a high quality to 
respect the topography of the land and neighbouring properties, whilst making 
efficient use of the land.  It is considered that the proposal would not result in 
detrimental harm to the living conditions of the neighbouring occupiers. 

Lighting 

11.63 In terms of external lighting, a statement has been submitted with the application.  
Public Health and Protection have been consulted on this application and 
presented no objection subject to a condition securing the scheme meets the 
requirements within the Institution of Lighting Professionals guidance notes for 
the reduction of obtrusive lighting and a vertical lux diagrams which show 
potential light trespass into windows of nearby residential properties are 
submitted to protect neighbouring residents from the potential impact of the 
proposal. 

4. Highways and parking considerations 
 

11.64 Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or 
refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe. 
 

11.65 A Transport Statement and BREEAM Travel Plan have been produced by Paul 
Mew Associates and accompany this planning application.   

11.66 The Highway Authority confirm that they are satisfied with the TRICs assessment 
submitted within the Transport Statement predicted upon Sheltered Housing 
(Use class C3).  Trips predicted equate to two additional vehicle trips (arrivals) 
and two departures in the AM peak period (08:00 - 09:00) and three additional 
vehicle trips (arrivals) in the PM peak period and a similar level of departures in 
the same period.  It is accepted that given the nature of the use, these 
movements are most reasonably care staff attending the site to undertake care 
visits.  Resident trips are not expected to be significant.  The negligible increase 
in trips is considered to be acceptable by the Highway Authority.    

11.67 The application site is accessed via Minster Close off Bishops Lane which 
comprises a narrow carriageway road which serves the current development at 
Minster House and four other dwellings.  The access is currently deemed 
substandard by the Highway Authority in terms of width and is considered to be 
insufficient for vehicles to pass clear of each other.  The Highway Authority has 
implemented double yellow restrictions along its length to ensure that the limited 

Page 57



passing opportunities available are retained for this use only and not for parking, 
although this is only enforceable during term times.  

11.68 A Transport Statement Addendum was submitted confirming the widening of 
Minster Close at its junction with Bishops Rise to 5.5m for a depth of 20m.  The 
Highway Authority are satisfied in principle with the works and details will be 
secured through a S278 agreement.  It is considered that the negligible increase 
in traffic and activity will not prejudice the operation of Bishops Rise nor prejudice 
the safe movement of vehicles.  

11.69 As a result, the Highway Authority are in agreement with the proposal subject to 
planning conditions and completion of a S106 agreement and a S278 agreement.   

11.70 Recommended planning conditions include: revisions to the Travel Plan, a 
construction management plan and the provision and the implementation and 
retention of the proposed car and cycle parking areas. 

11.71 The Highway Authority have deemed the Travel Plan acceptable subject to minor 
revisions which can be secured by a planning condition.  A financial contribution 
is requested of £6,000 towards the commitment and monitoring of the Travel 
Plan which will be secured through the S106 agreement, in line with 
Hertfordshire County Council policy. 

11.72 In addition, the Highway Authority have requested a financial contribution of 
£25,000 toward the improvement of conditions of pedestrians and cyclists along 
Bishops Rise and adjoining roads in accordance with Corridor 3 of the Hatfield 
2030+Transport Strategy.  Paragraph 102 of the NPPF outlines that transport 
issues for development proposals should be considered so that that opportunities 
to promote walking, cycling and public transport use are identified and pursued.  
It is considered that this contribution is necessary, in that it would help to mitigate 
the impacts of the scheme on travel and transport. 

11.73 Highways England are satisfied that the development will not affect the strategic 
road network, presenting no objections with the scheme.  

On-site parking provision 

11.74 In terms of parking, paragraph 105 of the NPPF states that if setting local parking 
standards authorities should take into account the accessibility of the 
development, the type, mix and use of the development, availability of public 
transport, local car ownership levels and the overall need to reduce the use of 
high emission vehicles.  Policy M14 of the District Plan 2005 and the Parking 
Standards Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) use maximum standards 
and are not consistent with the NPPF and are therefore afforded less weight.  In 
light of the above, the Council have produced an interim Policy for Car Parking 
Standards that states that parking provision will be assessed on a case by case 
basis and the existing maximum parking standards within the SPG should be 
taken as guidance only.  This means that higher or lower car parking standards 
than those set out in the SPG can be proposed and determined on a case by 
case basis taking into account the relevant circumstances of the proposal, its 
size context and its wider surroundings.  Parking standards should only be 
imposed where there is clear and compelling justification that they are necessary 
for managing the local road network. 

Page 58



11.75 The Highway Authority have presented no objection in regard to parking 
provision subject to a planning condition for car parking and cycle parking areas 
to be implemented and retained.  

11.76 The proposal comprises a sheltered housing scheme for 90 residential units (68 
x 1 bedroom, 2 studio flats and 20 x 2 bedroom).  The council’s parking guidance 
SPG recommends that in this area a total of 67.5 spaces including 22.5 visitor 
spaces are provided for the proposed development.  A total of 40 spaces are 
proposed for the development to serve residents, staff and visitors such as 
district nurses and resident carers as well as family and friends to use.  The 
allocation will comprise 30 spaces for the residents and 10 visitor spaces.  Four 
of these spaces DDA compliant and two of the spaces allocated for resident 
parking will be reserved for E-Car Club who are an electric vehicle (EV) car club 
provider.   

11.77 In line with the SPG, the development would have a shortfall of 37.5 resident 
spaces and 12.5 visitor spaces. 

11.78 There are 21 on site car parking spaces on the site with a space to dwelling ratio 
of 0.53.  The Transport Statement submitted evidences that when the site was at 
full capacity: 8 out of the 19 flats had a car which equates to a dwelling to car 
ratio of 0.42 and 4 out of the 11 bungalows with a ratio of 0.36, which highlights a 
lower level of car ownership in comparison to the level of on-site provision.  The 
Transport Statement highlights that the expected car parking provision (dwelling 
to car ratio of 0.44) for the proposed development is drawn from two similar 
schemes within the borough: Acacia Street and Whitefield House with a dwelling 
to car ratio of 0.44.  This evidence highlights a lower level of demand for car 
parking provision as a result of car ownership for this target age group. 

11.79 Two car club spaces will be provided as a facility for residential occupiers which 
offers an alternative to the residents rather than having the expense that comes 
from owning a car, particularly if limited trips are required and it encourages a 
more sustainable modes of travel.  Furthermore, it slightly reduces the overall 
parking requirement for the site.  The Transport Statement highlights research 
carried out by Carplus Bikeplus which indicates that one car club car replaces 
10.5 vehicles, however this research is based in London.  The Council’s Parking 
Services team have commented that in this location for this proposal it is more 
realistic that one car club is more likely to replace 6 vehicles and this is in line 
with the approach taken for other developments in the borough.  

11.80 The Transport Statement outlines the proposed dwelling to car ratio is 0.44, 
which is based on 40 spaces for residential parking however, 10 of these spaces 
would be given over to visitor parking, resulting in a lower ratio.  However, two of 
these spaces would be allocated to the car clubs which would likely replace 12 
vehicles on site, resulting in a 0.44 dwelling to car ratio.  

11.81 The applicant has confirmed a two year agreement with E-Car with the view to 
extending in the future if successful.  The contract for two years initially due to 
their accreditation through COMOUK that they cannot have any cars older than 3 
years on their fleet and costs can change through the contract period which 
would require revisiting.  In addition, the company uses a number of incentives 
for first time users offering free lifetime membership and an introductory code for 
£10 of free credit.  This commitment will be secured by way of planning obligation 
through the S106 agreement. 

Page 59



11.82 The application site is located within a reasonably accessible location, 400m to 
High View neighbourhood centre where there are a range of facilities and 
services, which has recently been granted planning permission for its 
redevelopment (6/2019/1067/MAJ) and 1.5km to Hatfield Town Centre.  In terms 
of public transport, the nearest pair of bus stops to the application site is directly 
to the west on Roberts Road and there are further bus stops on Bishops Rise to 
the north and south of the site.  The site is well served by local bus routes which 
offer frequent and reliable service.  In terms of local train services, Hatfield train 
station is located within 2.5km of the site to the north east following footpaths.  In 
terms of pedestrian routes, the site is served by adequate footpaths which are 
well lit.  Bishops Rise footpaths are wide and separated from the carriageway by 
substantial grass verges on both sides of the road.  The footpath along Minster 
Close is less adequate, however pedestrian access can be gained from Bishops 
Rise through a gate and ramped access.  In terms of cycle routes, SUSTRANS 
National Cycle Routes 12 and 61 can be accessed to the north and east of the 
site respectively.  Both routes run through Hatfield centre and north to Welwyn 
Garden City.  Route 61 runs between Hatfield and St Albans whereas route 12 
runs between Hadley Wood in the south and Henlow in the north. 

11.83 There is limited opportunity for on-street car parking on the surrounding roads of 
the site as a result of local parking controls which have been implemented due to 
the close proximity of the University of Hertfordshire Campus.  Bishops Rise is 
subject to double yellow lines and Minster Close, which comprises the access to 
the application site is subject to double yellow lines along its full length, apart 
from a small parking bay which is subject to restrictions Monday to Friday 10:00-
16:00 during term times.  Lark Rise to the south of the site is also subject to 
these controls.  As a result, it is considered that there is limited opportunity for 
parking on-street on the surrounding roads.  As a result of the predicted trips and 
evidenced use of car ownership, it is not considered that the development would 
result in a detrimental impact on the highway network.  Furthermore, there are no 
objections presented by the Highway Authority. 

11.84 A total of 48 cycle spaces are provided: 18 are proposed within a secure cycle 
store at a raised level by the main entrance to the building and 30 short term 
spaces proposed as cycle hoops in two locations.  In addition, 10 buggy spaces 
are provided within a secure store on the ground floor of the building.  The level 
of provision is compliant with the SPG and demonstrates the encouragement of 
use of transport means other than a private car in line with the NPPF.  

11.85 In summary, the applicant has identified the requirement for on-site car parking 
provision for this form of development taking into consideration the existing 
demand and similar examples in the borough.  The site is located within a 
sustainable location with local services and facilities within walking distance by 
way of adequate and accessible footpaths and cycle paths, which encourages 
the use of sustainable modest of transport and less reliance on a car.  The use of 
the E-Car Club is a positive feature which will enable the residents to have 
access to a car when required which is more sustainable.  In conclusion, it is 
considered that the proposed parking provision on site would adequately serve 
the proposed development and would not impact on the local highway network in 
line with local and national planning policy. 

 

 

Page 60



5. Other considerations  

i) Ecology and biodiversity 
 

11.86 Paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that the planning decisions should contribute 
to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts on 
biodiversity and delivering net gains in bio diversity where possible. Paragraph 
175 of the NPPF goes on to listed principles that Local Authorities should apply 
when determining a planning application. It is stated within Paragraph 175(d) of 
the NPPF that “opportunities to incorporate biodiversity improvements in and 
around developments should be encouraged”. 

 
11.87 District Plan Policy R11 seeks to conserve the biodiversity of the borough and 

seek opportunities for enhancement to ensure no net loss of biodiversity.  Policy 
R16 refers to Protection of Species and outlines that planning permission will not 
be granted for and development of use of land which would have an adverse 
impact on badgers or species protected by schedules 1, 5 or 8 of the 1981 
Wildlife and Countryside Act, as amended. 
 

11.88 The Framework sets out that planning permission should be refused if significant 
harm to biodiversity cannot be avoided or adequately mitigated against.  

11.89 The application is supported by an Ecology Report (Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal) by MKA Ecology.  Woodland, Great crested newts (GCN), birds and 
bats were identified as issues of potential concern.  Hertfordshire Ecology 
confirm the Report to be acceptable in assessing and identifying key areas and 
additional work. 

11.90 A Environmental DNA Great Crested Newt Survey by MKA Ecology dated May 
2018 has been submitted with this application.  The eDNA survey confirmed the 
likely absence of great crested newt from the pond on the adjoining woodland.  
Hertfordshire Ecology have confirmed that they are satisfied the GCN survey is 
sound and that it can be reasonably considered that GCN are not likely to be 
present in the pond or surrounding habitat.  An informative will be attached to the 
decision notice outlining that works should cease and appropriate advise should 
be should if discovered during works on site. 

11.91 Detailed bat surveys have been submitted by MKA Ecology comprising a 
Preliminary Roost Assessment and Presence/Absence Surveys.  A day roost of 
common pipostrelle were identified.  A mitigation strategy has been proposed 
addressing timing of works and compensation which a European Protected 
Species Mitigation (EPS) licence will be required.  Hertfordshire Ecology have 
confirmed that the bat surveys, assessments, mitigation and compensation are 
acceptable, with no reason to believe a licence would not be issued for the 
works.   

11.92 Paragraph 170 of the NPPF identifies that planning decision should contribute to 
and enhance the natural and local environment by d) minimising impacts on and 
providing net gains for biodiversity. 

11.93 Hertfordshire Ecology have outlined that there is currently no demonstrable 
biodiversity gain as a result of the development and that there are limited 
opportunities on site for this.  However, it is identified that Minster Close Wood 
would benefit from appropriate enhancement alongside the green infrastructure 

Page 61



with the development itself.  This would seek to introduce some structural 
diversity to the site.   

11.94 The Ecology Report suggests a new pathway at Minster Close Wood which is 
adjacent to the site to enhance the amenity value of the area.  These works have 
been negotiated with the Landscaping team to be secured through the S106 
agreement.  Furthermore, paragraph 6.31 of the Planning Statement identifies 
that the applicant intends to put aside some capital expenditure from the project 
towards the management of this woodland area with some additional bat and bird 
boxes.  Hertfordshire Ecology have advised a Landscape and Ecology 
Management Plan is produced which covered both the application site and 
adjacent woodland to show the management, enhancement and features 
proposed in both areas which will demonstrate the net gain as a result of the 
development, in line with the requirements of the NPPF.   As such a suitable 
worded planning condition will be attached to the planning decision.  This off-site 
provision of net gain will be sought through a financial contribution secured by 
the S106 agreement.   

ii) Flood risk and sustainable drainage 
 

11.95 The NPPF deals with issues of climate change and flooding and by means of the 
sequential test seeks to steer new development to areas with the lowest 
probability of flooding.  The flood zones are the starting point for this approach. 
The EA identifies Flood Zones 2 & 3 and all land outside those zones is in flood 
Zone 1.  This site is located within Flood zone 1 i.e. a low probability of flooding. 
As a major development the applicant is required to prepare a Flood Risk 
Assessment to demonstrate that the development will not result in additional 
flood risk either on or off site.  

11.96 This application is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment by OPUS.  The 
drainage strategy is based upon green roofs, permeable paving with sub-base 
storage, an underground geocellular storage tank and discharge into Thames 
Water surface water sewer.  Following an initial objection received from the Lead 
Local Flood Authority a technical note has been prepared as an addendum by 
Conisbee dated 19 December 2019 outlining surface water calculations have 
been updated and ensure that the drainage strategy caters for all rainfall events.  
The Lead Local Flood Authority have confirmed they have removed their 
objection subject to conditions relating to mitigations measures to be 
implemented prior to occupation and a detailed surface water drainage scheme 
for the site has been submitted based on the approved drainage strategy and 
sustainable drainage principles.  

11.97 The initial objection raised by Affinity Water was later retracted following 
discussions with Conisbee and two informatives will be included on the decision 
notice referencing works to be carried out in accordance with British Standards 
and Best Management Practices and if ground water is encountered during 
construction, the developer must notify Affinity water.  

iii) Renewable energy and sustainability credentials 
 

11.98 Renewable Energy: Policy R3 of the District Plan states that ‘the Council will 
expect all development to (i) include measures to maximise energy conservation 
through the design of buildings…’ Policy SD1 of the District Plan states that 
‘development proposals will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that the 
principles of sustainable development are satisfied’ 

Page 62



11.99 Policies SP10 and SADM13 of the Emerging Local Plan require all major 
developments to demonstrate that they have sought to maximise opportunities 
for renewable and low carbon sources of energy supply.  Sustainable drainage 
and measures to minimise water consumption will also need to be demonstrated. 

11.100 An Energy Strategy has been produced by BSP and accompanies this 
application.  The study presents energy saving measures recommended for the 
development based on preliminary SAP and SBEM calculation.  It confirms a 
total improvement of 5.22% on Building Regulations (2013) Approved Document 
Part L emissions targets and an 8.47% improvement on Part L fabric efficiency 
targets.   

11.101 A Preliminary Assessment BREEAM 2018 Report has been prepared by 
Eight Associates which supports the application.  The scheme is proposed to be 
constructed to BREEAM “Very good” standards which incorporates a number of 
categories for measuring sustainable value which include: energy, land use and 
ecology, water, health and wellbeing, pollution, transport, materials, waste and 
management.  

11.102 In terms of renewable sources, the Energy Strategy outlines that as a 
result of the measures outlined within the BREEAM assessment, solar pv panels 
are not proposed at this stage, however should the scheme wish to obtain 
additional BREEAM credits and increase its score, this remains an option.  

11.103 The site is located near a District Heat Network fed from an energy centre 
owned and used by the University of Hertfordshire campus located on the 
opposite side of Bishops Rise from the application site.  The applicant has 
queried the availability of spare heating capacity from the university’s energy 
centre, and the feasibility and viability of extending the below ground heating pipe 
network to serve the space heating and hot water demand for the Minster Court 
development.  If the provision of this District Heat Network energy is negotiated 
and agreed, it may contribute further towards the overall emissions reductions 
subject to the fuel efficiency of the energy source.  The plant room has been 
designed to future proof the option to connect should this prove viable in the 
future.   

11.104 Subject to conditions requiring mitigation of the measures set out in the 
reports, it is considered that the proposed development would comply with local 
and national planning policy. 

iv) Chalk mining  
 
11.105 Paragraph 178 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure 

that a site is suitable for proposed development taking account of land instability, 
including from former activities such as mining.  Decisions should be based on 
adequate site investigation information prepared by a competent person. 
Paragraph 179 states that “where a site is affected by land instability issues, 
responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or 
landowner.”  Policy R2 of the District Plan 2005 states that in in considering 
whether planning permission should be granted, the Council will need to be 
satisfied that these will be no unacceptable risk to health or the environment. 

11.106 An EPS Phase I & II Geo Environmental Assessment Report UK18.4295 
dated March 2019 and a Site Investigation Summary by Conisbee have been 

Page 63



submitted with the application which confirm adequate site investigation and 
testing has been carried out by a Chartered Engineer.  

11.107 The report outlines that there is evidence of mining taking place to the 
45m to the north of the site including a pond feature, however through 
exploratory works it was concluded that it was related to the surface extraction of 
clay and sands. Intrusive investigations were undertaken and included six hand 
dug trial pits, four window sampler boreholes and three deep percussive 
boreholes to a maximum depth of 20m.  Details of the proposed foundation and 
construction design have been submitted which take into consideration the low 
load bearing capacity, the high volume change potential of the Lambeth Group 
and the presence of mature trees around the site.   

11.108 It is considered that appropriate investigations have taken place to assess 
the stability of the ground and physical constraints of the site and to ensure that 
the foundations are suitable to the proposed development in accordance with 
local and national planning policies. 

v) Contaminated land 
 

11.109 Policy R2 of the District Plan states that the council will encourage 
development on land that may be contaminated.  However, on such sites 
applications must be accompanied by a full survey of the level of contamination 
and proposals for remediation of the site. 

11.110 A Phase I & II Geotechnical report has been undertaken by EPS dated 
March 2019 and accompanies the application alongside a report summary 
submitted by Conisbee.  The report outlines that some contamination was found 
however through a statistical analysis it was concluded these contaminants do 
not represent a risk for the human health.  Public Health and Protection have 
advised a detailed remediation strategy is required to ensure that proposed 
development would not pose an unacceptable risk to human health.  

11.111 Accordingly, subject to the imposition of the above mentioned condition, 
the proposal would not be contrary to Policy R2.  

     
vi)  Refuse and recycling 

11.112 WHBC Client Services have been consulted and raised no objection to the 
proposed refuse and recycling provision.  A dedicated area for refuse storage is 
provided at ground floor level to the north of Block C-D, conveniently located to 
the entrance of the site from Minster Close for refuse collection to easily access.  
The store will be level access internally and externally for ease of residents and 
for collection.  The store can accommodate the required provision of 10 x 1100l 
containers and 3 x mini recycling banks. This provision of refuse and recycling 
will be secured by a planning condition. 

vii)  Environmental Impact Assessment 

11.113 Whilst the applicant has not submitted an Environmental Impact 
Assessment (EIA) screening request, the Local Planning Authority has 
undertaken one.  The development is not contained within Schedule 1 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 
2017 (the Regulations).  The development does not fall either within Schedule 2 
of the Regulations.  Whilst the proposal is considered an Urban Development 

Page 64



Project, as listed at 10(b) of Schedule 2, the development would take place on a 
site less than 5 hectares, would not include more than 150 dwellings and would 
not include more than 1 hectare of urban development which is not dwelling 
house development.  An EIA is therefore not required. 

6.  Planning obligations 

11.114 The NPPF sets out that Local Planning Authorities should consider 
whether otherwise unacceptable development could be made acceptable through 
the use of conditions or planning obligations.  Planning obligations should only be 
sought where they meet all of the following tests set out in Regulation 122 of the 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended): 

• Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms 
• Directly related to the development; and 
• Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 
11.115 The Council has not adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy and 

therefore where a planning obligation is proposed for a development, The 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010, which came into effect from 6 
April 2010, has introduced regulation 122 which provides limitations on the use of 
planning obligations.   

 
Hertfordshire County Council Contributions 
 

11.116 Hertfordshire County Council request that financial contributions are 
required to fund various Hertfordshire County Council projects in order to mitigate 
the impacts of the development including: 

 Sustainable Transport (Hatfield 2030+ Transport Strategy) - £25,000 

 Submission of an amended Travel Plan 

 Travel Plan Monitoring Fee - £6,000 

 Library Services (Hatfield Library) - £2,244 
 

WHBC Contributions:   

11.117 The proposal triggers a number of obligations as set out within the 
Council’s Planning Obligations SPD.  WHBC internal teams have found the 
proposal to be acceptable, subject to S106 contributions to mitigate the impacts 
of the development including: 

 Restriction of occupation for 55’s and over only 

 Provision of affordable housing (100% social rent) 

 Community Facilities (Roe Hill, Hatfield) - £32,000 

 Outdoor and Indoor Sports Facilities (Break Manor Community Centre, 
Hatfield Indoor Bowls Club, Jim McDonald Centre, Hatfield Swimming 
Pool) - £50,210 

 Open Space (Minster Close Wood, Hatfield) - £4,433.48 

 Landscape Ecology and Management Plan (application site and Minster 
Close Wood) – final sum under negotiation with the Landscaping team 

 Waste and Recycling - £5,580  

 Provision of Car Club and associated commitments 
 

Page 65



11.118 In accordance with the Council’s Planning Obligations SPD a monitoring 
fee of £5,000 will also be required and payment will be required to be made prior 
to commencement of the development.   
 

11.119 These requested contributions are considered to be reasonable and to 
pass the necessary Community Infrastructure Levy 122 tests as the works are 
considered necessary to make the development acceptable, directly related to 
the development and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development.    

 
11.120 The applicant has agreed the heads of terms of the Section 106 

Agreement which is currently being drafted.  If the Development Management 
Committee resolve to grant planning permission subject of the completion of the 
Section 106 Agreement, this document will be completed.   
 

11.121 The proposal, subject to the completion of a Section 106 Agreement, 
would comply with Policy IM2; the Planning Obligations SPD; the NPPF and CIL 
Regulations 2010, as amended. 

 
12 Conclusion  
 
12.1 Paragraph 11 of the NPPF states that decisions should apply a presumption in 

favour of sustainable development.  Section (d)(ii) then goes on to explain that 
where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, planning 
permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.  Out-of-date policies include situations 
where the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of 
deliverable housing sites. 

12.2 There is no objection in principle to development in this case and the proposal 
would facilitate the redevelopment of a previously developed site, making 
efficient use of land within a sustainable location.  The proposed development 
would make a net contribution of 50 residential dwellings to help the Borough 
meet the requirements of Emerging Policy SP2 and SP7 with the provision of 
much needed affordable housing for older people.  The Council cannot 
demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites in line with Paragraph 
11 of the NPPF, this adds weight in favour of the proposal.   

12.3 The proposed development has been assessed against the policies of the District 
Plan, Emerging Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.  It has 
been found to be acceptable subject to condition, in terms of impact on: the 
character of the area; living conditions of future occupiers and neighbouring 
occupiers; highways and parking; heritage; ecology and biodiversity; flood risk; 
energy and sustainability; chalk mining; contaminated land and the wider 
environment.  There are no adverse impacts to this development and it meets the 
economic, social and environmental objective of sustainable development in 
mutually supportive ways. 

12.4 Subject to conditions and the S106 agreement, the proposal is considered 
acceptable in terms of the above and is not contrary to the aims and objectives of 
saved policies of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; the Draft Local Plan 
Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

Page 66



13 Recommendation   
 
13.1 It is recommended that planning permission be approved subject to: 

 
1. Completion of a satisfactory S106 planning agreement and the agreement of 
any necessary extensions to the statutory determination period to complete this 
agreement for: 
 

 Restriction of occupation for 55’s and over only 

 Provision of affordable housing (100% social rent) 

 Sustainable Transport - £25,000 

 Submission of an amended Travel Plan 

 Travel Plan Monitoring Fee - £6,000 

 Provision of Car Club and associated commitments  

 Library Services - £2,244 

 Community Facilities - £32,000 

 Outdoor and Indoor Sports Facilities - £50,210 

 Open Space - £4,433.48 

 Landscape Ecology and Management Plan - TBC 

 Waste and Recycling - £5,580  
 

2. the following conditions: 
  

Conditions:  
 

PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT 
 
1. Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted, a Construction 

Management Plan (or Construction Method Statement) shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the 
construction of the development shall only be carried out in accordance with 
the approved Plan. The Construction Management Plan / Statement shall 
include details of: 

a. Construction vehicle numbers, type, routing; 

b. Access arrangements to the site; 

c. Traffic management requirements 

d. Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for 

loading / unloading and turning areas); 

e. Siting and details of wheel washing facilities; 

f. Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway; 

g. Timing of construction activities (including delivery times and removal of 

waste) and to avoid school pick up/drop off times; 

 

REASON: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of 
the public highway and rights of way in accordance with Policies 5, 12, 17 and 
22 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018); Policy D1 of the 
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

2. Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted, a Site Waste 
Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Page 67



Planning Authority. The Management Plan as approved shall be implemented 
throughout the demolition and construction period. 

REASON: To ensure measures are in place to minimise waste generation 
and maximise the on-site and off-site reuse and recycling of waste materials, 
in accordance with Hertfordshire Waste Core Strategy and Development 
management Policies DPD 2012; Policy R5 of the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan 2005 and the and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

3. Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority, development other 
than that required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of 
remediation must not commence until conditions 1 to 3 have been complied 
with. If unexpected contamination is found after development has begun, 
development must be halted on that part of the site affected by the 
unexpected contamination to the extent specified by the Local Planning 
Authority in writing until condition 4 has been complied with in relation to that 
contamination. 

1. Submission of Remediation Scheme 

A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the 
intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and 
other property and the natural and historical environment must be prepared, 
and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation 
objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management 
procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as 
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in 
relation to the intended use of the land after remediation. 

2. Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme 

The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its 
terms prior to the commencement of development other than that required to 
carry out remediation, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks 
written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works. 

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme, a verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that 
demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be 
produced, and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

3. Reporting of Unexpected Contamination 

In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 
in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and 
risk assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of 
condition 1, and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must 
be prepared in accordance with the requirements of condition 2, which is 
subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the 

Page 68



approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with 
condition 3. 

4. Long Term Monitoring and Maintenance 

A monitoring and maintenance scheme to include monitoring the long-term 
effectiveness of the proposed remediation over a period of years, and the 
provision of reports on the same must be prepared, both of which are subject 
to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 

Following completion of the measures identified in that scheme and when the 
remediation objectives have been achieved, reports that demonstrate the 
effectiveness of the monitoring and maintenance carried out must be 
produced, and submitted to the Local Planning Authority. 

This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment 
Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, 
CLR 11’. 

REASON: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of 
the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with Policy R2 and R7 
of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

4. Prior to commencement of development hereby permitted, the tree protection 
measures set out in the Tree Survey and Arboricultural Report by Ginger 
Landscape and BS 5837 Tree Protection Plan drawing no. L003 Rev shall be 
in place before demolition takes place and shall remain in place for the 
duration of works. 

REASON: To protect the existing trees, shrubs and hedgerows in the interest 
of visual amenity in accordance with Policy D8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

5. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved surface water drainage assessment carried out 
by Conisbee, reference 181164/B Ng, version 3, dated 14 August 2019 and 
clarifies in the Drainage Strategy – Addendum, reference 181164/L Hale, 
dated 19 December 2019: 

1. Limiting the surface water runoff generated by the critical storm events so 
that it will not exceed the surface water runoff rate of 1.5 l/s for the 1 in 1 year 
event, 1.8 l/s for the 1 in 30 year event and 2.6 l/s for the 1 in 100 year event 
including 40% for climate change. 

2. Providing storage to ensure no increase in surface water runoff volumes for 
all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year plus climate change 
event providing a minimum of 324 m3 (or such storage volume agreed with 
the LLFA) of total storage volume in permeable paving with sub-base 
structure and an underground geocellular tank. 

3. Discharge of surface water from the private drainage network into the 
existing public Thames Water surface water sewer network. 

Page 69



The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 
subsequently in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements 
embodied within the scheme, or within any other period as may subsequently 
be agreed, in writing, by the local planning authority. 

REASON: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory disposal and 
storage of surface water from the site and to refuse the risk of flooding to the 
proposed development and future occupants in accordance with Policy R7 of 
the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

6. The mitigation measures set out in the submitted report titled 'Preliminary 
Ecological Appraisal' by MKA Ecology dated April 2018 and 'Nocturnal Bat 
Survey' Report by MKA Ecology dated October 2018 must be carried out in 
accordance with these details and must be maintained thereafter unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

REASON: To ensure the bats are safeguarded and their conservation status 
is maintained in accordance with Policy R11 of the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

7. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out other than in 
accordance with the approved Energy Strategy by BSP dated August 2019 
and the Preliminary Assessment BREEAM 2018 New Construction Report 
dated August 2019 by Eight Associates. 

REASON: To ensure that the development contributes towards Sustainable 
Development and Energy efficiency in accordance with Policy R3 of the 
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

8. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out other than in 
accordance with the approved Phase I & I Geo-Environmental Assessment by 
EPS dated March 2019 and Site Investigation Report Summary by Conisbee 
dated April 2019. 

REASON: To ensure the ground stability of the site in accordance with Policy 
R2 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

PRIOR TO ABOVE GROUND DEVELOPMENT 
 

9. No above ground works shall commence until a Landscape Ecology and 
Management Plan has been submitted and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme must cover both the development site and 
the adjacent woodland detailing management, enhancement and features 
proposed including bat and bird boxes. The plan must demonstrate the 
biodiversity net gain of the development.  

The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details before the development is completed. 

REASON:   To minimise impact on and provide net gains for biodiversity 
within the site and adjacent woodland in accordance with Policies R11 and 
R16 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

Page 70



 
10. No above ground works shall take place until, a detailed hard and soft 

landscaping scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The scheme must include: 

- Plant/tree species, sizes, planting densities etc 

- Planting methods 

- Details of any green roofs (manufacture’s specification) 

- Details of aftercare for the first 5 years, including replacements for failed 

planting 

- Hard surfacing, other hard landscape features and materials  

- Means of enclosure and boundary treatments (including locations, height, 

scale and appearance); 

 

REASON: To ensure a high quality landscape plan is incorporated into the 
development in the interest of the amenity value of the development in 
accordance with Policies GBSP2, D2 and D8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

11. No above ground works shall take place until samples of the materials to be 
used in the construction of the external surfaces of the building hereby 
approved have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

REASON:  To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in the interests 
of visual amenity in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

PRIOR TO OCCUPATION 
 
12. Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted the off-site highway 

improvement works including the widening of Minster Close for 20m 
measured back from Bishops Rise, carriageway narrowing and scheme for 
signing and lining, shall be completed in accordance with the Highway 
Authority’s specification. 

REASON: To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and that the 
highway improvement works are designed to an appropriate standard in the 
interest of highway safety and amenity and in accordance with Policy 5, 13 
and 21 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018) and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

13. Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, a revised Travel 
Plan must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Travel Plan shall generally accord with the Hertfordshire 
County Council document 'Hertfordshire Green Travel Plan Guidance’. 
Details must include: 

- Secondary TPC contacts  

- Statement of senior commitment  

- Time allocated to the TPC role  

Page 71



- Baseline targets will need to be added once the baseline survey has been 

undertaken  

- Interim modal shift targets will need to show the modal spit for each year  

- Travel Plan review frequency - should state that the Travel Plan will undergo 

a full review at years 1, 3 and 5 

 
The measures specified in the approved Travel Plan shall be implemented in 
accordance with the timetable contained therein and shall continue to be 
implemented as long as any part of the development is occupied. 

REASON: To ensure that the development is sustainable in accordance with 
Policy M3 (Green Travel Plans) of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

14. No occupation of the development shall take place until a detailed surface 
water drainage scheme for the site based on the approved drainage strategy 
and sustainable drainage principles, which are outlined below, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details before the development is completed. 

The scheme shall include: 

1. Final, detailed drainage plan to include the final drainage arrangements on 
site, an informal flooding within the development site for all rainfall events for 
up to and including the 1 in 100 year event including plus 40% for climate 
change allowance. 

2. Assessment of exceedance flow paths for surface water for events greater 
than the 1 in 100 year plus climate change indicated on a map. 

3. Detailed engineered drawings of the proposed SuDS features including 
cross section drawings, their size, volume, depth and any inlet and outlet 
features including any connecting pipe runs. 

4. Final detailed management plan to include arrangements for adoption and 
any other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its 
lifetime. 

REASON: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, both on and off site, in 
accordance with Policy R7 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

15. No occupation of development hereby permitted shall take place until it has 
been carried out in accordance with the Noise Assessment by Hepworth 
Acoustics dated April 2019 and Ventilation, Overheating and Noise Strategy 
Revision A by BSP dated August 2019 and retained in that form thereafter. 

Indoor ambient noise levels in living rooms and bedrooms must meet the 
standards in BS 8233:2014. Any associated mechanical ventilation will need 
to meet the ventilation requirements found with The Noise Insulation 
Regulations 1975 (or a similar alternative to be agreed with the Local 
Planning Authority). 

Page 72



External amenity areas must meet the 55dB WHO Guidelines for Community 
Noise Level. 

REASON: To protect the occupants of the new development from noise 
disturbance in accordance with Policies D1 and R19 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

16. Noise from plant and equipment associated with the commercial elements of 
the development shall be 10dB (LAeq) below the background noise level 
(LA90) when measured at the nearest residential properties (5dB below the 
background noise level if evidence is provided which shows that no tonality is 
present). 

REASON:  To protect the occupants of nearby residential properties from 
noise disturbance in accordance with the requirements of Policies D1 and 
R19 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

17. Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, the refuse and 
recycling area illustrated on drawing no. MH-RT17078-XX-00-DR-A-00101 
Rev PL02 must be equipped and made available for use and retained in that 
form thereafter. 

REASON: To ensure a satisfactory standard of refuse and recycling provision 
and to protect the residential amenity of adjoining and future occupiers in 
accordance with Policies R5 and D1 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

18. The area set aside for car parking shall be laid out surfaced and marked out, 
in accordance with drawing no. MH-RT17078-XX-00-DR-A-00101 Rev PL02 
before the buildings hereby permitted are first occupied and shall be retained 
permanently thereafter for the parking of vehicles for residents/occupiers of 
the development permitted and shall not be used for any other purpose. 

REASON: To ensure the parking areas are implemented and retained for 
their specific use in the interests of highway safety and parking provision, in 
accordance with Policy M14 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; 
Supplementary Planning Guidance – Parking Standards 2004; Interim Policy 
for Car Parking Standards and Garage Sizes 2014; and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

19. No occupation of the development hereby permitted shall be undertaken until 
the provision of secure cycle parking has been constructed, equipped and 
made available for use. The cycle parking must be retained in that form 
thereafter. 

REASON: In order to ensure that there is adequate provision for secure cycle 
accommodation within the application site, encouraging alternative modes of 
transport in accordance Policy M6 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

20. Prior to occupation of any part of the development hereby permitted, the 
amenity space must be provided. Thereafter, the shared amenity space must 
be retained permanently for the occupiers of the development hereby 
approved and must not be used for any other purpose. 

Page 73



REASON: To ensure all future occupiers of the development benefit from 
satisfactory private amenity space in accordance with Policy D1 of the 
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

21. Prior to installation of any external lighting, the applicant must submit to, for 
approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority, details relating to the 
external lighting scheme (including vertical lux diagrams which show potential 
light trespass into windows of nearby residential properties).  This scheme 
must meet the requirements within the Institution of Lighting Professionals 
guidance notes for the reduction of obtrusive lighting. 

Any external lighting must be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details. 

REASON: To protect the living conditions of neighbouring residents 
properties in accordance with Policy D1 and R20 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

22. Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, all of the 
apartments must be built in accordance with Part M4(2) of the Building 
Regulations 2010 in line with the details submitted on drawing numbers: MH-
RT17078-XX-XX-DR-A-00140, MH-RT17078-XX-XX-DR-A-00141, MH-
RT17078-XX-XX-DR-A-00142, MH-RT17078-XX-XX-DR-A-00143 and MH-
RT17078-XX-XX-DR-A-00144 and must be retained in that form thereafter. 

REASON: To ensure that suitable housing is provided for households in need 
of accessible in accordance with Policies D1 and H10 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

POST DEVELOPMENT 
 

23. All agreed landscaping comprised in the above details of landscaping shall be 
carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation 
of the first building, the completion of the development, or in agreed phases 
whichever is the sooner: and any plants which within a period of 10 years 
from the completion of the development die, are removed or become 
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season 
with others of similar size and species.  All landscape works shall be carried 
out in accordance with the guidance contained in British Standards 8545: 
2014. 
 
REASON: To ensure proper implementation of the agreed landscape details 
in the interest of the amenity value of the development in accordance with 
Policies D1, D2 and D8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

24. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-
enacting that Order with or without modification) no fences, gates or walls 
shall be constructed within the site or on the site boundaries. 
 
REASON:   To enable the Local Planning Authority to fully consider the 
effects of development normally permitted by that Order in the interests of 
residential and visual amenity in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of the 

Page 74



Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

  
DRAWING NUMBERS 

 
25. The development/works shall not be started and completed other than in 

accordance with the approved plans and details: 
 

Plan Number Revision 

Number 

Details Received Date 

MH-RT17078-XX-

XX-DR-A-00010 

PL02 Existing Elevation Main Building 29 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-XX-

XX-DR-A-00011 

PL02 Existing Elevation Bungalow 29 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-CD-

ZZ-DR-A-00113 

PL02 GA Floor Plan L1-L2 Block C-D 29 August 

2019 

RT17078-00114 PL02 GA Floor Plan L3- Roof Plan 

Block C-D 

29 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-AB-

ZZ-DR-A-00110 

PL02 GA Floor Plan L4- Roof Plan 

Block A-B 

29 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-AB-

ZZ-DR-A-00108 

PL02 GA Floor Plan L0-L1 Block A-B 29 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-AB-

ZZ-DR-A-00109 

PL02 GA Floor Plan L2-L3 Block A-B 29 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-CD-

00-DR-A-00112 

PL02 GA Floor Plan L0 Block C-D 29 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-XX-

XX-DR-A-00131 

PL02 GA_ Section All Blocks 29 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-XX-

XX-DR-A-00130 

PL02 GA  Section All Blocks 29 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-XX-

XX-DR-A-00143 

PL01 Proposed Floor Unit D 15 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-XX-

XX-DR-A-00141 

PL01 Proposed Floor Unit B  15 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-XX-

XX-DR-A-00140 

PL01 Proposed Floor Unit A  15 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-XX-

XX-DR-A-00142 

PL01 Proposed Floor Unit C  15 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-XX-

XX-DR-A-00144 

PL01 Proposed Floor Unit E 15 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-XX-

XX-DR-A-00161 

PL01 Proposed Site Sections 15 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-XX-

00-DR-A-00170 

PL02 Landscape Plan 29 August 

2019 

Page 75



MH-RT17078-XX-

00-DR-A-00171 

PL01 Fire Strategy Ground Floor 15 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-XX-

04-DR-A-00104 

PL02 GA_Site Plan L3 29 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-XX-

05-DR-A-00106 

PL02 GA_ Roof Plan 29 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-XX-

04-DR-A-00105 

PL02 GA_ Site Plan L4 29 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-XX-

00-DR-A-00101 

PL02 GA_ Site Plan L0 29 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-XX-

01-DR-A-00102 

PL02 GA_ Site Plan L1 29 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-XX-

02-DR-A-00103 

PL02 GA Site Plan L2 29 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-XX-

01-DR-A-00004 

PL02 Existing First Floor Plan 29 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-XX-

XX-DR-A-00002 

PL01 Existing Block Plan 15 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-XX-

00-DR-A-00003 

PL02 Existing Ground Floor Plan 29 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-XX-

00-DR-A-00005 

  Existing Bungalow Ground Floor 22 October 

2019 

MH-RT17078-XX-

XX-DR-A-00001 

PL02 Location Plan 29 August 

2019 

MS-RT17078-AB-

XX-DR-A-00120 

PL02 Proposed Elevation Block A-B 29 August 

2019 

MS-RT17078-CD-

XX-DR-A-00121 

PL02 Proposed Elevation Block C-D 29 August 

2019 

MH-RT17078-AB-

XX-DR-A-00160 

PL02 Proposed Elevation Material 

Schedule 

29 August 

2019 

A228-LA01  Landscape Strategy 15 August 

2019 

A228 GA02 A Landscaping General 

Arrangement 

15 August 

2019 

A228 GA01 A Landscaping General 

Arrangement 

15 August 

2019 

L003 A BS 5837 Tree Protection Plan 15 August 

2019 

 
REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans and details. 
 
POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT 

 

Page 76



The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and 
appropriate the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a decision 
contrary to the development plan. 
 
INFORMATIVES 

 
This permission does not convey any consent which may be required under any 
legislation other than the Town and Country Planning Acts. Any permission 
required under the Building Regulations or under any other Act, must be obtained 
from the relevant authority or body e.g. Fire Officer, Health and Safety Executive, 
Environment Agency (water interest etc.) Neither does this permission negate or 
override any private covenants or legal interest (easements or wayleaves) which 
may affect the land. 
 

1.  The granting of this permission does not convey or imply any consent to build 
upon or access from any land not within the ownership of the applicant. 
 

2.  The applicant is advised to take account the provisions of The Party Wall Act 
1996 insofar as the carrying out of development affecting or in close proximity to 
a shared boundary. 
 

3. The planning authority has determined the application on the basis of the 
information available to it but this does not warrant or indicate that the 
application site is safe or stable or suitable for the development proposed, or 
that any nearby land is structurally stable. The responsibility for safe and 
suitable development rests upon the developer and/or land owner and they 
should take expert advice from properly qualified experts to ensure that the 
historic chalk mining activities in the area will not adversely affect the 
development. 
 

4.  The applicant is advised that no development (including demolition) should 
commence until wheel-cleaning apparatus to prevent the deposit of debris, mud 
etc on the highway has been agreed with the Highway Authority. Hertfordshire 
County Council Transport Planning and Policy can be contacted on 
03001234040. 
 

5.  Any damage to the grass verges caused by the development/works hereby 
approved is the responsibility of the applicant and must be re-instated to their 
original condition, within one month of the completion of the development/works. 
If damage to the verges are not repaired then the Council and/or Highway 
Authority will take appropriate enforcement action to remedy any harm caused. 
 

6.  The construction works and operation of the proposed development site should 
be done in accordance with the relevant British Standards and Best 
Management Practices, thereby significantly reducing the groundwater pollution 
risk. It should be noted that the construction works may exacerbate any existing 
pollution. If any pollution is found at the site, then the appropriate monitoring and 
remediation methods will need to be undertaken. 
 

7.  If groundwater is encountered during construction, we would need to be notified 
immediately to increase our monitoring and consider making changes to the 
pumping schedule at our Hatfield scavenger boreholes.  
 

Page 77



8.  The decision notice contains conditions which require you to submit information 
to the Local Planning Authority and have it approved in writing before any 
development relating to the approval takes place. There is a formal procedure 
for applying to discharge conditions and further information can be found at 
http://www.welhat.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=834. Failure to comply with this 
type of condition may result in the development being considered unlawful and 
enforcement action could be taken. If you require any clarification or information 
please contact the section on 01707 357000.  
 

9.  If at any time during the course of construction of the development hereby 
approved, a species of animal that is protected under Schedule 1* or 5** of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation (Natural 
Habitats) Regulations 1994*** or the Protection of Badgers Act 1992 is 
discovered, all construction or other site work affecting the species shall cease 
until a suitable mitigation scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority  and a license has been obtained from DEFRA 
(Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs). 
  
 * Includes nesting birds 
 ** Includes great crested newts, bats, reptiles and water voles 
 *** Includes great crested newts and bats. 
 

10.  Any vegetation clearance should be undertaken outside the nesting bird season 
(March to August inclusive) to protect breeding birds, their nests, eggs and 
young. If this is not practical, a search of the area should be made no more than 
two days in advance of vegetation clearance by a competent Ecologist and if 
active nests are found, works should stop until the birds have left the nest, to 
avoid committing an offence. 
 

11. This decision notice should be read in conjunction with the S106 Legal 
Agreement. 
 

12. The applicant is advised that in order to comply with this permission it will be 
necessary for the developer of the site to enter into an agreement with 
Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority under Section 278 of the 
Highways Act 1980 to ensure the satisfactory completion of the access and 
associated road improvements. The construction of such works must be 
undertaken to the satisfaction and specification of the Highway Authority, and by 
a contractor who is authorised to work in the public highway. Before works 
commence the applicant will need to apply to the Highway Authority to obtain 
their permission and requirements. Further information is available via the 
website https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highwaysroads- and-
pavements/business-and-developer-information/development 
management/highways-developmentmanagement.aspx or by telephoning 
03001234047. 
 

13. The applicant is advised that the storage of materials associated with the 
construction of this development should be provided within the site on land 
which is not public highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere with 
the public highway. If this is not possible, authorisation should be sought from 
the Highway Authority before construction works commence. Further information 
is available via the website https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-
roads-andpavements/business-anddeveloper-information/business-
licences/businesslicences.aspxor by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

Page 78



 
14. It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways Act 1980 for any person, 

without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the free 
passage along a highway or public right of way. If this development is likely to 
result in the public highway or public right of way network becoming routinely 
blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must contact the Highway Authority to 
obtain their permission and requirements before construction works commence. 
Further information is available via the website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-andpavements/ 
business-anddeveloper-information/business-licences/businesslicences. aspx or 
by telephoning 0300 1234047. 
 

15. It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit mud or 
other debris on the public highway, and section 149 of the same Act gives the 
Highway Authority powers to remove such material at the expense of the party 
responsible. Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure 
that all vehicles leaving the site during construction of the development are in a 
condition such as not to emit dust or deposit mud, slurry or other debris on the 
highway. Further information is available via the website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roadsandpavements/ 
highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 
 

16. All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary, or at 
such other place as may be agreed with the Council, shall be carried out only 
between the hours of : 
 8.00am and 6.00pm on Mondays to Fridays 
 8.00am and 1.00pm Saturdays 
 and at no time on Sundays and Bank Holidays 
 

17. All efforts shall be made to reduce dust generation to a minimum 
 Stock piles of materials for use on the site or disposal that are likely to generate 
dust, shall be sited so as to minimise any nuisance to residents or neighbouring 
businesses. Materials for disposal shall be moved off site as quickly as possible. 
Water sprays shall be used, as and when necessary, to reduce dust from 
particularly "dusty" activities or stock piles. 

 
POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT 

The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and 
appropriate the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a decision 
contrary to the development plan. 

 
Lucy Hale (Development Management) 
Date: 21 January 2020 
 

Page 79



Page 80



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Main author: Liz Aston 
Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton 
(Hatfield Central) 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 6 FEBRUARY 2020 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE)  
 
6/2019/2478/MAJ 
 
22 THE COMMON, HATFIELD, AL10 0ND 
 
ERECTION OF 4 STOREY CAR PARK COMPRISING 420 PARKING SPACES, 
MOTORCYCLE AND CYCLE PARKING, STORAGE AND ANCILLARY SPACE AND 
ASSOCIATED LANDSCAPING AND PUBLIC REALM WORKS TO ROBIN HOOD 
LANE 
 
APPLICANT: BOURNE GROUP LIMITED 
 
 
1 Site Description 

 
1.1 The application site is located to the south of The Common and is currently used 

as a surface car park, containing 148 car parking spaces. The site is bound to 
the north by The Common, and to the east, south and west by Robin Hood Lane 
which provides access to the rear of properties within the town centre.  
 

2 The Proposal 
 

2.1 The application seeks permission for the erection of a four storey, 420 space 
multi storey car park (MSCP). Of the 420 spaces, 51 are proposed to be reduced 
size spaces, 18 disabled spaces and 10 parent and child spaces. Space is also 
proposed within the application site for the parking of 12 motorcycles. Access to 
the MSCP would be from Robin Hood Lane, via The Common. Public realm 
improvements are also proposed to Robin Hood Lane. 
 

3 Reason for Committee Consideration 
 
3.1 This application is presented to the Development Management Committee 

because the application is a major development and the Borough Council has an 
interest in the land which is the subject of the application. 
 

4 Relevant Planning History 
 
4.1 Application Number: S6/2004/0001 

Decision: Granted subject to S106 agreement and conditions 
Decision Date: 15 March 2007 
Proposal: Redevelopment of eastern end of Hatfield Town centre, comprising 
demolition of existing buildings and provision of new mixed use development 
including new retail (A1, A2, A3, A4, A5), non-residential institution uses (D1),  
275 residential units, new ‘market hall’, public realm and bus interchange, 
together with associated provision for access, servicing, parking (including mutli- 

Page 83

Agenda Item 8



storey car park) and landscaping. Partial retention of White Lion House and 
retention, alteration and change of use of Kennelwood House. Temporary uses 
of site including; contractors compound, public car park, site accesses and 
associated security fencing.  
 

5 Relevant Planning Policy 
 

5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  
 

5.2 Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 (District Plan) 
 
5.3 Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 2016 (Emerging Local Plan) 
 
5.4 Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 (SDG) 
 
5.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance, Parking Standards 2004 (SPG) 

 
5.6 Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards and Garage Sizes 2014 (Interim Car 

Parking Policy) 
 

6 Site Designation  
 

6.1 The site lies within the settlement boundary of Hatfield, Hatfield Town Centre and 
primary real core as designated in the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005. 
 

7 Representations Received  
 

7.1 The application was advertised by means of a press notice, neighbour 
notification letters and site notices. In total 3 representations have been received, 
comprising 2 objections together with 1 in support of the proposal. All 
representations received are published in full on the Council’s website and are 
summarised below: 
 
Objections 
 

 Only 8 electric car spaces is very short sighted; 

 There should be greater incentives to move people to electric cars, in both 
the provision of spaces and in the way the parking charges are structured; 

 The car park should include secure bicycle parking mechanisms as 
bicycle theft is becoming a big issue; 

 The proposed cycle parking provision is completely isolated from the rest 
of the local cycle network and fails to provide a safe cycle route to and 
from the car park and to the cycle parking inside the car park 

 
Support 
 

 Hatfield Renewal Partnership support the application and would 
encourage the swift delivery of the proposal in order to continue to 
move forward the comprehensive regeneration of the town centre. 

 
8 Consultations Received 
 
8.1 The following have responded advising that they have no objections to the 

proposal in principal, subject to conditions or obligations being applied: 

Page 84



 Lead Local Flood Authority 

 HCC Historic Environment Advisor 

 HCC Transport Programmes and Strategy 

 HCC Spatial Planning 

 WHBC Public Health and Protection 

 WHBC Landscape and Ecology 

 WHBC Parking 

 Herts Constabulary  

 Thames Water 

 Historic England 

 Place Services 

 Affinity Water 

 Environment Agency 
 
8.2 No response was received from the following consultees: 

 Cadent Gas Limited 

 HCC Rights of Way 

 Ramblers Association 
 

9 Analysis 
 

9.1 The main planning issues to be considered in the determination of this 
application are: 
 
1. Principle of development  
2. Quality of design and impact on the character of the area  
3. Residential amenity  
4. Highways considerations  
5. Other considerations  

i) Flood risk and sustainable drainage 
ii) Contaminated land 
iii) Air quality 
iv) Archaeology 
v) Disabled access and parking provision 
vi) Electric car charging points 
vii) Energy efficiency 
viii) Other matters 

6. Environmental Impact Assessment  
7. The planning balance 

 
1. Principle of the development 
 

9.2 The site lies within the settlement of Hatfield, where in accordance with policy 
GBSP2 of the adopted Local Plan there is no objection in principle to 
development. The site also lies within the defined town centre boundary and 
primary retail core. 
 

9.3 In the emerging Local Plan the site lies within the Town Centre Boundary (policy 
SADM4) and the Core Retail Zone (policy SADM4). Policy SADM4 states that the 
Council will support proposals for new development or changes of use, subject to 
them not having a detrimental impact on the vitality and viability of that centre. 
 

Page 85



9.4 The site is currently used as a surface car park (providing short and long stay 
spaces) which is operated by the Borough Council. The submitted Planning 
Statement states that the existing car park provides a total of 148 spaces, and it 
is proposed to erect a multi storey car park (MSCP) on the site increasing the 
number of parking spaces provided to 420.  
 

9.5 The proposal would allow the consolidation of town centre parking in a central 
location, allowing for the closure of the existing surface car parks at Link Drive 
(which currently provides 114 spaces) and Lemsford Road (which currently 
provides 149 spaces) and the reconfiguration and reallocation of the car park at 
Kennelwood Lane (which currently provides 74 spaces). The Hatfield New Town 
Renewal Framework (July 2016) outlined that part of the strategy for Hatfield 
Town Centre was to achieve a more efficient use of land by reducing surface car 
parking which could be replaced by a multi-storey facility. The proposal would 
therefore be in accordance with this Framework, and also policy SP20 of the 
emerging Local Plan which includes the objective of ensuring an appropriate 
supply of attractive, convenient and safe car parking that is managed for the 
needs of shoppers, visitors and businesses alike and considering options for 
either multi-storey or decked parking. 
 

9.6 The provision of a MSCP is therefore supported in principle, however national 
and local planning policies now seek to achieve travel demand reduction and 
modal shift to more sustainable modes of travel. Section 9 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that applications for development 
should give priority to pedestrian and cycle movements and facilitate access to 
high quality public transport. Policy 1 of the Herts County Council Local Transport 
Plan 2018 requires that in the design of any scheme opportunities to reduce 
travel demands and the need to travel should be considered first, with other 
motor vehicle users needs i.e. the private car, being the last consideration. Policy 
M1 of the adopted Local Plan states that in considering development proposals, 
the Council will give priority to walking and more sustainable modes of travel, and 
promoting sustainable modes of travel is also a priority in policy SP4 of the 
emerging Local Plan. 
 

9.7 The Council’s Parking Standards SPG (January 2004) states that the level of car 
parking provision in town centre development proposals must be consistent with 
national and regional transport policy, which seeks to encourage the use of non-
car modes of transport, and that car parking provision at new developments in 
town centres should be set at a level that does not compromise the economic 
viability of the town centre, but reflects the emphasis to reduce car parking 
provision at new development as part of a sustainable transport strategy. Hatfield 
Town Centre, due to its accessibility by non-car modes of transport and 
availability of shops and services, is also classed as zone 1 where a range of 
between 0-25% of maximum demand based standards for parking may be 
acceptable. 
 

9.8 The proposal would result in a net increase in 272 spaces when compared to the 
provision within the existing car park. However, as stated above the proposed car 
park would also replace existing car parking provision at Link Drive and Lemsford 
Road, which currently provide a total of 263 car parking spaces, and would allow 
for the reconfiguration and reallocation of the Kennelwood Lane car park which 
currently provides 74 spaces. The proposed MSCP would therefore not only 
replace the existing parking spaces at The Common, but would also replace the 
existing spaces which are proposed to be lost at other town centre car parks to 

Page 86



allow for those sites to be redeveloped. The proposal would not therefore result 
in any overall increase in parking provision within the town centre. 
 

9.9 Furthermore the submitted Transport Assessment identifies that demand for 
space at The Common car park can at certain times exceed the supply of 
available spaces. To establish a threshold for what can be considered the 
theoretical capacity of a car park, the document Guidelines on the Preparation of 
Parking Strategies and Management 2006 published by the Institute of Highways 
and Transportation states that peak demand should not exceed 85% of supply at 
parking locations. A car park with an observed occupancy rate of 85% (or above) 
is considered to have reached its occupational capacity, and users of the car 
park are likely to experience difficulty in locating a vacant space and are likely to 
leave and look for a space elsewhere. 
 

9.10 The surveys (albeit that they were undertaken when only 136 car parking spaces 
were available within the car park) undertaken of the occupancy of The Common 
car park demonstrated that on those days surveyed (28 February – 2 March 
2019), occupancy exceeded the theoretical capacity of 85% between 09:15 and 
14:25 on weekdays and 11:45 and 14:45 at weekends. County Highways have 
commented that the occupancy surveys indicate that present availability of 
parking capacity is particularly problematic and causes the periodic circulation of 
vehicles with drivers looking for spaces to park. They therefore consider that the 
level of uplift proposed by this application may be justified particularly at the peak 
travelling periods at the weekend. 
 

9.11 An Addendum Transport Assessment has also been submitted which provides 
information on the occupancy of the Link Drive, Kennelwood Lane, Lemsford 
Road and Dog Kennel Lane car parks. This Assessment states that surveys of 
the occupancy of the existing car parks within the town centre (for Link Drive 
undertaken on 17-23 September 2019, for Kennelwood Land and Lemsford Road 
undertaken on 30 September – 6 October 2019 and for Dog Kennel Lane 
undertaken on 14-20 October 2019) demonstrates that there is a maximum 
parking demand of 328 spaces across the car parks (304 spaces of this demand 
is for the car parks at The Common, Link Drive and Lemsford Road which are 
proposed to be closed).  
 

9.12 The proposed MSCP (which will replace the existing car parks at The Common, 
Link Drive and Lemsford Road) would have a maximum occupational capacity of 
357 spaces (based on the theoretical capacity of 85%), which would exceed the 
identified demand for spaces in all of the town centre car parks surveyed by 29 
spaces (and by 53 spaces if only the demand for the car parks to be replaced is 
included i.e. The Common, Link Drive and Lemsford Road). The Assessment 
also states however, that the surveys were undertaken prior to the 
implementation of the town centre on-street parking restrictions which are 
considered to result in additional demand for spaces within the MSCP, and the 
number of spaces within the MSCP will also allow for a certain amount of 
background growth levels of car ownership. 
 

9.13 Furthermore, feedback given to the applicant in public engagement undertaken 
prior to the submission of the application indicated that local residents expressed 
a desire for no change in the number of parking spaces within the town centre. 
Furthermore, retail operators indicated that the free parking currently available is 
vital for both Hatfield and the town centre, and that parking for staff was felt to be 
critical. 

Page 87



 
9.14 It is also material to the consideration of this current proposal that planning 

permission was granted in 2007 for the redevelopment of the eastern end of the 
town centre which included a 569 space MSCP which was to be sited, in part, in 
the same location as the MSCP now proposed (ref. S6/2004/0001/FP). Whilst 
this permission was not implemented (due to changes in market conditions) and 
was part of a wider re-development proposal that resulted in a significant 
increase in retail floorspace within the town centre (13,901 sqm) and 275 
residential units, it is material that planning permission has previously been 
granted for a MSCP on the site of the current proposal. 
 

9.15 It is acknowledged that both national and local planning policy seeks to give 
priority to more sustainable modes of transport and that Hatfield town centre is 
accessible by non-car modes of transport. However, in this case there is clear 
support in the Hatfield New Town Renewal Framework for the replacement of 
existing surface car parking by a multi-storey facility and within Policy SP20 of 
the emerging Local Plan which seeks an appropriate supply of attractive, 
convenient and safe car parking for the needs of shoppers, visitors and 
businesses. The proposal will replace existing car parking provision within the 
town centre and will address the capacity issues in the existing The Common car 
park. Taking all these matters into consideration therefore, there is no objection 
in principle to the proposed MSCP. 

 
2. Quality of design and impact on the character of the area 
 

9.16 District Plan Policies D1 and D2 aim to ensure a high quality of design and to 
ensure that development respects and relates to the character and context of the 
locality, maintaining and where possible enhancing the character of the existing 
area. These policies are expanded upon in the Council’s Supplementary Design 
Guidance (SDG) which requires the impact of a development to be assessed 
giving regard to the bulk, scale and design of the proposal and how it harmonises 
with the existing building and area. These objectives are broadly consistent with 
the Council’s Emerging Local Plan and the aims of the NPPF which considers 
that the creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the 
planning and development process should achieve. 
 

9.17 The siting of the proposed MSCP is somewhat constrained by the size of the site 
and the relationship to the adjoining highway and surroundings buildings, and 
having regard to these factors there is no objection in principle to the proposed 
siting of the building. Whilst due to the scale of the building it would be beneficial 
if the building could be setback further from the boundary with The Commons, it 
is acknowledged that any such set back would impact on the size of the car park 
building and the number of car parking spaces that could be provided. It is 
proposed however to retain the existing trees that run along the boundary of the 
site with The Common. These trees will provide some screening of the building. 
 

9.18 The proposed building, by reason of its size and scale and the open nature of the 
existing use of the site, will have an impact on the streetscene. Whilst it is 
acknowledged that the proposed MSCP building will be lower in height than 
many of the existing buildings to the south within the town centre, it will be of a 
greater height than the buildings to the north on The Common which are 
predominantly two to three storeys in height. The scale of the proposed MSCP 
will therefore be compatible with the size and scale of buildings to the south, but 
would be out of keeping with the existing scale of development on The Common. 

Page 88



The proposal will therefore result in some harm to the character and appearance 
of The Common streetscene.  
 

9.19 It is acknowledged however that the provision of a MSCP due to the nature of the 
use, the number of parking spaces required and associated circulation space is 
such that the resultant building is likely to be of a significant size, scale and bulk. 
In this case, the applicant has sought to mitigate the impact of the size, scale and 
bulk of the building through the retention of the existing trees along the boundary 
with The Common, the siting of the ramps within the car park along the northern 
boundary of the site which results in a change to the form of the building along 
this elevation reducing the perceived bulk of the building somewhat and through 
the use of a steel frame structure (rather than a solid structure) with a perforated 
screening system which it is suggested will depict the aeronautical history of 
Hatfield. It is considered that the proposed elevational treatment will provide 
some interest to the external appearance of the building, and due to its vertical 
emphasis will break up the scale of the building. 
 

9.20 Notwithstanding the above however, the proposed building will be a prominent 
addition to the streetscene and will result in some harm to the character and 
appearance of the area, and it will be necessary to consider whether the harm 
identified is outweighed by any other considerations. 
 

9.21 There are no designated heritage assets on or immediately adjacent to the site. 
However the site (and much of Hatfield) is within the wider landscape setting of 
Hatfield House (Grade I listed), The Old Palace (Grade I listed), St. Etheldreda’s 
Church (Grade I listed) and Hatfield Park registered park and garden (Grade I 
listed). Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 states in considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority shall have 
special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 
 

9.22 The specific historic environment policies within the NPPF are contained within 
paragraph 184-202. Paragraph 192 of the NPPF states: 
 

In determining planning applications, local planning authorities should take 
account of: 

 
a) The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage 

assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 
b) The positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to 

sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and 
c) The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 

character and distinctiveness. 
 
9.23 The application was accompanied by a Heritage, Townscape and Visual 

Assessment which concludes that the significance of listed buildings would not 
be harmed by the proposal due to the very limited visibility at a considerable 
distance. Place Services have commented that the information contained within 
the submitted Assessment indicates that the height and massing of the proposed 
car park would not be disproportionate to the surrounding townscape, and whilst 
the proposed MSCP would be visible in longer views from Hatfield House, these 
views would be filtered by existing intervening trees and buildings. The proposed 
car park would not therefore become a prominent or detracting feature within 

Page 89



long views from Hatfield House, Old Palace, St Etheldreda’s or Hatfield Park, and 
would not be intrusive in views or compromise the settings of the heritage assets. 
They therefore raise no objections to the proposed development. Furthermore, 
Historic England have commented that they also have no objection to the 
application on heritage grounds. The proposal would not therefore harm the 
significance of these heritage assets. 

 
9.24 District Plan Policy R17 seeks to protect existing trees whilst Policy D8 requires 

landscaping to form an integral part of the overall design, and in this respect the 
high quality design required by Policy D1 would again be relevant. Landscaping 
is important in order to protect and enhance the existing character of the area 
and to reduce the visual and environmental impacts of the development. Due to 
the nature of the existing site, existing landscaping within the site is limited. 
There are however 14 lime trees along the northern boundary of the site with The 
Common. These trees are important to the character and appearance of the 
streetscene, and are therefore proposed to be retained as part of the 
development. The footprint of the MSCP would however fall within the Root 
Protection Areas (RPAs) of these trees, and it is therefore recommended that no 
excavations should be undertaken within the RPAs to prevent the direct risk of 
harm to the roots of these trees. The Tree Officer has recommended that an 
Arboricultural Method Statement is required by condition of any permission 
granted to ensure that the retained trees are protected throughout the 
development. 
 

9.25 There are three trees within the application site which are proposed to be 
removed as part of the development (1 on the south-western boundary and 2 on 
the north-eastern boundary). The Tree Officer has not raised any objection to the 
loss of these trees, provided that replacement tree planting is undertaken. A 
Landscaping Plan has been submitted as part of the application which proposes 
replacement tree planting on the north-eastern boundary of the site and other 
areas of shrub and groundcover planting in other areas adjacent to the proposed 
MSCP building. The Tree Officer has commented that the proposed species, 
sizes and planting methods are considered to be appropriate and sufficiently 
mitigate for the loss of the existing trees. The proposal is therefore considered to 
accord with the requirements of Policy R17 of the adopted District Plan. 

 
3. Residential amenity  
 

9.26 The NPPF is clear that planning should be a means of finding ways to enhance 
and improve the places in which people live their lives. This means that 
authorities should always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard 
of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. 
 

9.27 Policies D1 and R19 of the District Plan seek to ensure that no new development 
would adversely affect the existing area either in terms of any built form or in 
terms of the operation of any uses from noise and vibration pollution. 
 

9.28 There are existing residential properties to the north-east, south and north-west 
of the site and the proposed building will result in a significant change to the 
outlook from these properties. It is considered that the retention and 
enhancement of existing landscaping along The Common and the proposed 
perforated screening system to be attached to the external elevations of the 
building will assist in reducing this impact. Having regard to the distance between 
the proposed building and these properties it is not considered however that the 

Page 90



proposal would result in any unacceptable impacts in respect of loss of light or 
overbearing impact. A Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing Assessment has 
been submitted with the application and this concludes that the relevant daylight, 
sunlight and overshadowing BRE criteria (based on Site Layout Planning for 
Daylight and Sunlight: A Guide to Good Practice, Building Research 
Establishment (BRE) 2011) were achieved at all of the 111 existing window 
locations (which were identified as worst-case positions), and the impacts of the 
development in this respect are therefore considered to be not significant. The 
proposal is therefore considered to accord with Policy D1 of the adopted District 
Plan and the Supplementary Design Guidance (Feb 2005) in this respect. 
 

9.29 In respect of noise and disturbance, Public Health and Protection have 
commented that as the proposed multi storey car park is to be built in place of an 
existing surface car park, the overall change in noise levels is likely to be 
negligible. Whilst the open sided nature of the proposed MSCP allows for natural 
ventilation without the need for additional mechanical ventilation, if any plant and 
equipment did need to be provided, Public Health and Protection recommend 
that a condition is attached to any grant of permission requiring that any noise 
from plant and equipment is 10dB below the background noise level at the 
nearest residential property (5dB below if no tonality or other defining 
characteristics are present and evidence of this is provided). To protect the 
amenity of the occupiers of nearby residential properties, such a condition is 
considered to be reasonable and necessary in this case. The proposal is 
therefore considered to accord with the requirements of Policy R19 of the 
adopted District Plan. 
 

9.30 Public Health and Protection have commented that the proposed external lighting 
will need to be designed taking into account the ILP guidance in terms of light 
trespass into windows of sensitive receptors, and that vertical lux diagrams will 
be required to demonstrate that the external lighting will not result in concerns 
from the occupiers of nearby residential properties. A detailed lighting scheme 
has not been submitted with the application. If permission is granted however, to 
ensure that the requirements of Policy R20 of the adopted District Plan are met, it 
is recommended that a condition requiring the submission of a lighting scheme is 
reasonable and necessary in this case, to enable the acceptability of such a 
scheme on the living conditions of nearby residential properties to be considered. 

 
4. Highways considerations 

 
9.31 The proposal will replace an existing 148 space surface car park, with a 420 

space MSCP. The existing car park is currently accessed from Robin Hood Lane, 
via The Common, and access to the proposed car park will still be from Robin 
Hood Lane, albeit in a slightly altered position. The car park is proposed to 
operate on a one-way circulatory system, similar to the existing car park, and the 
exit from the car park will be onto the south-western part of Robin Hood Lane.  
 

9.32 The proposed entry to the MSCP would be some 30 metres from the junction of 
Robin Hood Lane with The Common. Whilst there may be occasions when 
vehicles are queuing to enter the car park i.e. when waiting for cars to 
manoeuvre into/out of spaces, the submitted Transport Assessment states that 
there would need to be a significant number of vehicles accessing the car park at 
the same time and for the manoeuvring vehicle to be taking an inordinate amount 
of time close to the entrance, for the queuing traffic to overspill onto the public 
highway. Furthermore, the MSCP is not proposed to be barrier controlled which 

Page 91



the Transport Assessment states would be the main factor that would result in 
vehicles queuing to enter the car park. The proposed siting and access and 
egress arrangements for the MSCP are also not considered to affect the existing 
access to the loading bays and private parking areas to the rear of the Town 
Centre.  
 

9.33 As the MSCP is proposed to replace car parking spaces which will be lost 
elsewhere in the town centre, it is likely that the traffic generation associated with 
it will include a significant number of redistributed trips from other car parks, 
rather than a significant increase in new trips within the local network.  
 

9.34 However, as the proposal consolidates the parking provision from three car parks 
within the MSCP, there will be an increase in the number of vehicles using The 
Common to access and exit the site. The submitted Transport Assessment states 
that the additional traffic generated by the car park during the critical weekday 
peak hour periods can be accommodated at The Common/Wellfield Road, 
Wellfield Road/Queensway and Lemsford Road/Queensway roundabouts. The 
proposed MSCP will however result in an impact on The Common/Lemsford 
Road junction, which during the weekday and Saturday peak hour periods will 
operate at, or above its theoretical capacity. The modelling, as discussed in the 
submitted Transport Assessment, indicates that the additional queueing as a 
result of the issues with capacity at this junction would be confined to The 
Common, but at its peak will extend back broadly to the car park frontage.  

 
9.35 The Highway Authority, whilst recognising the capacity issues at The 

Common/Lemsford Road junction have commented that the traffic generation 
associated with the proposal is not considered to have a severe impact on the 
local highway network, and they do not wish to restrict the grant of planning 
permission. 
 

9.36 The submitted Transport Assessment has also reviewed the most recent five 
years Personal Injury Accident data for the highway network surrounding the 
town centre. The data indicates that there have been 36 recorded accidents 
within the study area and data period, and that there are no patterns or clusters 
which would indicate any underlying cause that could be attributed to an existing 
safety problem within the highway network. The submitted Transport Assessment 
therefore concludes that there are no accident or safety problems within the local 
highway network that would be exacerbated by the development proposed. 
 

9.37 Whilst the application site is currently used as a surface car park serving the 
town centre, the proposed MSCP will result in an increase in the number of 
people using the car park and therefore an increase in the number of pedestrians 
accessing the town centre from this location. The proposed layout of the 
development and its siting in relation to the pedestrian access routes to the town 
centre will result in some conflict between pedestrians and vehicles accessing 
and exiting the car park. However, having regard to the low vehicle speeds in 
Robin Hood Lane and that similar conflicts already exist with the existing surface 
car park, the proposal is not considered to result in significant harm to pedestrian 
safety.  

 
9.38 To improve pedestrian access to the town centre, the application also proposes 

public realm improvement works to Robin Hood Lane which include 
improvements to the footway on the eastern side of Robin Hood Lane, the 
provision of identified crossing points from the car park within Robin Hood Lane 

Page 92



and improved signage to the town centre. Such measures would assist in 
improving the safety of pedestrian movements within the vicinity of the site, 
improvements to the public realm and the legibility of access to the town centre. 
 

9.39 WelHatCycling, which is a local cycling campaign group, have raised concerns 
with the proposal that whilst they are encouraged that cycle parking will be 
provided as part of the development, this cycle parking would be isolated from 
the local cycle network, and therefore improvements to the cycle network should 
be provided as part of the development. The representation comments that a 
number of improvements should be funded by the developer, including 
improvements such as the provision of an off-road cycle path alongside The 
Common, the extension of the cycle path alongside Wellfield Road and the 
provision of a toucan crossing on Queensway. 
 

9.40 The Hatfield 2030+ Transport Strategy sets out how the transport elements of the 
Hatfield 2030+ project (which is a project to create a framework to help guide the 
redevelopment and revitalisation of Hatfield) can be achieved. In respect of 
cycling the Strategy seeks to provide a more connected and complete cycle 
network throughout the town, through the provision of segregated cycle lanes 
(where existing or anticipated cyclist numbers are substantial) to quietways (not a 
designated cycle lane but a recognised location where cycling might happen). 
The Strategy identities The Common as a quietway and proposes measures that 
seeks to reduce the speed of vehicles (speed humps and table top treatments). 
 

9.41 The improvements to the cycle network requested by WelHatCycling do not 
therefore align with the proposed improvements set out in the Hatfield 2030+ 
Transport Strategy. Furthermore, the proposed development would result in an 
intensification of the existing use of the site as a car park, rather than a change in 
the nature of the development i.e. no new residential or commercial development 
is proposed. Therefore having regard to the nature of the proposed development, 
it is not considered that the requested improvements to the local cycle network 
would in this case be directly related to the development or necessary to make 
the development acceptable in planning terms. It is also relevant to note that 
County Highways did not made any comments in their consultation response in 
respect of any requirement for cycle parking provision or access to the local 
cycling network.  
 

9.42 Notwithstanding the above, the Applicant has stated that they are willing to 
provide space for the parking of cycles within the application site. To avoid 
conflict between cyclists and motor vehicles, it was felt that providing cycle 
parking provision within the MSCP could result in conflict between the different 
modes of transport. It is therefore proposed to supplement the separate 
motorcycle parking proposed (alongside the main stair and lift shaft) with four 
hoops providing secure space for up to eight cycles. This would be in addition to 
the eleven cycle hoops which have recently been installed on the alleyway 
approaches to White Lion Square. 

 
5. Other considerations  

 
i) Flood risk and sustainable drainage 
 

9.43 The NPPF deals with issues of climate change and flooding and by means of the 
sequential test seeks to steer new development to areas with the lowest 
probability of flooding. The flood zones are the starting point for this approach. 

Page 93



The EA identifies Flood Zones 2 & 3 and all land outside those zones is in flood 
Zone 1. This site is located within Flood zone 1 i.e. a low probability of flooding, 
and the Environment Agency have no comments to make on the application in 
respect of the impact of the development on flood risk.  
 

9.44 The submitted Drainage Strategy outlines that the existing car park surface water 
is collected by gullies located around the car park, which connect to an existing 
below ground drainage system which discharged in to the public surface water 
sewer. Due to the constrained nature of the site and the existing impermeable 
surface, there are limited options for the use of sustainable drainage systems in 
this case. The application proposes to use a cellular attenuation system (which 
would provide 136.80 cubic metres of storage) and would discharge into the 
surface water sewer. The rate of discharge is proposed to be restricted. 
Following the submission of additional information, the Lead Local Flood 
Authority have confirmed that they have no objection to the development, subject 
to conditions. 
 

9.45 Affinity Water originally objected to the application. The site is located within a 
defined groundwater source protection zone corresponding to Hatfield Pumping 
Station. They commented that at present this is used as a scavenger source to 
manage the bromate plume, comprising a number of chalk abstraction boreholes, 
operated by Affinity Water, and they were concerned that the development had 
the potential to impact adversely on the scavenging activity and potentially cause 
further impact on other downstream public water supply sources. Following the 
submission of additional information which included clarification on the points 
raised by Affinity Water and details of the proposed oil/water interceptor, Affinity 
Water have withdrawn their objection, subject to conditions being attached to any 
permission granted. They have commented that it has now been confirmed that 
surface water will not be disposed of via infiltration and that a petrol interceptor 
will be present reducing the risk of pollution entering the surface and ground 
water network. They are also satisfied that there is no unacceptable risks to 
groundwater from contaminated land and that foundation works are not 
anticipated to be below the groundwater table.  
 

9.46 It is therefore considered that subject to conditions, the proposed development 
would accord with policy R7 of the adopted District Plan. 

 
ii) Contaminated land 
 

9.47 District Plan Policy R2 states that the Council will encourage development on 
land that may be contaminated. However, on such sites applications must be 
accompanied by a full survey of the level of contamination and proposals for 
remediation of the site.  
 

9.48 Both Phase I and Phase II Geo-Environmental Site Assessments have been 
submitted with the application, and the Assessments have not identified any 
potentially unacceptable risks with respect to contamination and conclude that 
the site is suitable for the proposed end use. Public Health and Protection have 
commented that the submitted Assessments show that there were no 
exceedances of the Tier 2 Assessment Criteria, and that due to the end use of 
the site as a car park, it would be unlikely for a pathway to occur, even if there 
were contamination of any significance found. They do however recommend that 
a condition is attached to any grant of permission requiring the Local Planning 
Authority to be contacted if any unexpected contamination is found when carrying 

Page 94



out the approved development. Having regard to the conclusions of the 
Assessment and the comments of Public Health and protection, the proposed 
development is considered to accord with Policy R2 of the adopted District Plan. 

     
iii) Air Quality 
 

9.49 District Plan Policy R18 requires that the potential effects of a development on 
local air quality are considered whether determining planning applications. An Air 
Quality Assessment was submitted with the application which concludes that the 
impacts on pollutant levels as a result of the operation of the development were 
predicated to be not significant at all sensitive locations in the vicinity of the site. 
Furthermore, the open sided nature of the proposed MSCP allows for sufficient 
natural ventilation without the need for additional mechanical ventilation. Public 
Health and Protection have not raised concerns with the findings of the submitted 
Assessment. The proposed development is therefore considered to accord with 
Policy R18 of the adopted District Plan. 
 
iv) Archaeology 
 

9.50 District Plan Policy R29 states that the Council will require developers to 
undertake an archaeological assessment where the proposed development may 
affect remains of archaeological significance, or may be sited in an area of 
archaeological potential.    
 

9.51 The Historic Environment Advisor has commented that whilst the proposed 
development is of considerable size and has potential below ground impact, the 
site is in an area that is likely to be heavily disturbed by past development, and 
that the construction of the New Town in the mid 19th century, and its subsequent 
demolition, has probably removed any archaeological layers that may have been 
present. Accordingly they conclude that the proposed development is unlikely to 
have an impact on heritage assets of archaeological interest, and therefore have 
no comment to make is respect of the proposal. The proposal is therefore 
considered to accord with Policy R29 of the adopted District Plan. 
 
v) Disabled access and parking provision 
 

9.52 District Plan Policy D9 requires that all new development should be designed to 
allow access by the disabled. The application proposes a total of 18 disabled 
parking spaces which are proposed to be located on the ground floor of the 
MSCP. The adopted Car Parking Standards (January 2004) specify parking 
standards for disabled motorists for difference types of developments, including 
shops/premises to which the public have access/recreation. Whilst this 
application does not propose any retail/commercial/community premises, it does 
provide parking provision for the town centre, and therefore it is considered that 
some weight can be given to the specified parking standards in this case. The 
standards specify that for more than a 200 space car park, a minimum of 4 
spaces plus 4% of the total capacity should be provided. In this case, that would 
equate to a minimum provision of disabled spaces of 20.8 spaces. 
 

9.53 It is noted that guidelines (Inclusive Mobility) published by the Department of 
Transport (DoT) in 2005 recommend that for car parks associated with shopping 
areas, leisure or recreational facilities, and places open to the general public, 6% 
of the total capacity should be for visiting disabled motorists, which would equate 
to a requirement of 25.2 spaces in this case. However, research undertaken in 

Page 95



2009 indicated that the 6% one size fits all approach leads to oversupply in some 
situations and undersupply in others. It was suggested that there should be more 
flexibility in the guidance, and the British Parking Association recommended that 
for a car park with 201-500 spaces, 4 spaces plus 3% of the total car park should 
be provided. That would equate to 16.6 spaces in this case. 
 

9.54 There is therefore varying guidance on the number of disabled parking spaces 
that should be provided, and dependent on which guidance is used the proposed 
MSCP would provide an oversupply or an undersupply. As the proposed MSCP 
would replace existing parking provision (at The Common, Link Drive and 
Lemsford Road) it is relevant to have regard to the existing number of disabled 
parking spaces provided within those car parks. Currently 10 disabled parking 
spaces are provided in The Common car park, 2 at Link Drive and 4 at Lemsford 
Road, which is a total of 16 spaces. The MSCP proposes a total of 18 disabled 
parking spaces which is an increase of 2 spaces on the existing provision within 
the town centre. Whilst it is acknowledged that the number of spaces proposed 
would be less than those required by the Council’s adopted parking standards 
and the DoT guidelines, it would be more than is recommended by the British 
Parking Association and more than currently exists within the town centre. On 
balance therefore, it is considered that the number of disabled spaces proposed 
is acceptable in this case. If a need for further disabled parking spaces were to 
be identified in the future, it is considered that this need could be accommodated 
within the MSCP through the re-allocation of spaces. 
 

9.55 A lift is proposed within the MSCP which will provide access for those with 
disabilities, mobility problems and for those with young children in prams and 
pushchairs to the upper floors of the MSCP.  
 
vi) Electric car charging points 
 

9.56 There are no policies within the adopted District Plan which require the provision 
of electric vehicle charging points. Policy SADM 12 (Parking, Servicing and 
Refuse) of the emerging Local Plan states that electric vehicle charging points 
will be incorporated into parking areas for new neighbourhood centre and the 
necessary infrastructure provided for major residential schemes.  
 

9.57 A total of 8 electric vehicle charging points are proposed within the MSCP. The 
applicant has stated that the range and number of spaces with the MSCP was 
determined in consultation with the Council’s Parking Team and was considered 
to be appropriate for the anticipated demand. Whilst it is noted that a 
representation has been received which considers that the number of electric 
vehicle charging points proposed is ‘short sighted’, if the demand for such 
points/spaces were to increase, there is sufficient capacity within the MSCP to 
add additional charging points at a later date. Therefore, without any specific 
adopted guidance on the number of electric vehicle charging points required as 
part of developments, it is considered that the number proposed as part of this 
development is acceptable. 
 
vii) Energy Efficiency 
 

9.58 District Plan Policy R3 expects all development to include measures to maximise 
energy conservation through the design of buildings, site layout and provision of 
landscaping. The applicant has stated that the proposed MSCP will use very little 
energy, as the only requirements for power are lighting (which is proposed to be 

Page 96



motion sensitive lighting and will only therefore be used when required), CCTV 
and the charging points of electric vehicles. The applicant has also commented 
that the proposed modular steel frame construction has environmental benefits 
over more traditional construction methods, and the use of steel also enables the 
option of reuse at a later date as large portions of the structure can be 
dismantled and reassembled in an alternative location, or alternatively steel is 
capable of being recycled. 
 

9.59 Due to the nature of the proposed development and the constraints of the site, it 
is difficult to include other measures to maximise energy conservation or to 
encourage greater use of renewable energy sources. It is therefore considered 
that in this case, the proposal would as best it can accord with Policy R3 of the 
adopted District Plan. 
 
viii) Other matters 
 

9.60 District Plan Policy D7 (Safety by Design) requires the design of new 
development to contribute to safer communities, to help with the reduction of the 
fear of crime. The Architectural Liaison Officer of Hertfordshire Constabulary has 
commented that crime prevention measures have been incorporated into the 
design of the proposed development, and they therefore fully support the 
application. In light of these comments it is considered that the proposal would 
not result in any conflict with the requirements of Policy D7. 
 

9.61 The Spatial Planning Unit, Hertfordshire County Council have commented that 
according to British Geological Data the proposed development site could be 
underlain with sand and gravel deposits. They encourage the opportunistic use of 
these deposits (if they are of suitable quality) should they be found in the 
construction of the development. The Applicant has indicated that they will make 
every effort to do so if deposits are found, and it is recommended that an 
informative is added to any permission granted to remind the Applicant of this. 
 

9.62 The Spatial Planning Unit have also highlighted the requirements of Policy 12 of 
the Hertfordshire County Council Waste Core Strategy and Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document 2012 (Waste Local Plan) 
which requires the submission of a Site Waste Management Plan (SWMP) to 
assist in reducing the amount of waste produced on site. They advise that a 
SWMP should be required as a condition of any permission granted, and having 
regard to the requirements of Policy 12 of the Waste Local Plan such a condition 
is reasonable and necessary in this case. 

 
6.  Environmental Impact Assessment 

9.63 A request for a screening opinion pursuant to Regulation 5 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (as 
amended) was submitted to the Council in July 2019 to establish whether the 
proposed developments which formed part of the Council’s town centre renewal 
programme (The Common, 1-9 Town Centre and Link Drive) constituted 
environmental impact assessment development (ref. 6/2019/1804/EIA). It was 
determined that the proposed developments would not have significant 
environmental effects by virtue of factors such as their nature, size or location 
and would not therefore constitute environmental impact assessment 
development. 
 

Page 97



7. The planning balance  
 

9.64 Whilst there is no objection in principle to development in this case, and the 
proposed development would facilitate the wider regeneration of the town centre, 
it has been identified that the proposed MSCP will result in harm to the character 
and appearance of The Common. The need for the MSCP and the number of 
parking spaces proposed has been justified, and due to the nature of the use and 
the amount of spaces required, it is difficult to reduce the size and scale of 
building required to accommodate the proposal. Therefore, the identified need for 
a building of this size and scale has to be balanced against the impact on the 
character and appearance of The Common streetscene. It is therefore 
considered that in this case the wider regeneration benefits of the proposal and 
the provision of consolidated parking provision for the town centre, would 
outweigh the harm identified to the character and appearance of the streetscene. 
 

10 Conclusion 
 
10.1 There is no objection in principle to development in this case and the proposal 

would facilitate the redevelopment of other sites within the town centre which 
would result in benefits from the regeneration of these sites and the town centre 
as a whole. 
 

10.2 Subject to conditions the proposal would have no significant adverse impact 
upon designated heritage assets, residential amenity, highways, flood risk and 
sustainable drainage, contaminated land, air quality, archaeology and other 
relevant matters. Harm has been identified to the character and appearance of 
The Common streetscene, but for the reasons set out above it is considered that 
this harm is outweighed by the benefits of the proposed development in this 
case. 
 

10.3 Accordingly and for the reasons given, the proposal is recommended for 
approval. 

 
11 Recommendation 
 
11.1 It is recommended that planning permission be approved subject to the following 

conditions: 
 
PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS 
 
1. No development shall commence until a Construction Management Plan has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter the construction of the development shall only be carried out in 
accordance with the approved Plan. The Construction Traffic Management 
Plan shall include details of: 
 
a. Construction vehicle numbers, type, routing; 
b. Traffic management requirements; 
c. Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for car 

parking); 
d. Siting and details of wheel washing facilities; 
f. Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway; 
g. Timing of construction activities to avoid school pick-up/drop-off times; 

Page 98



h. Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of 
construction activities; 

i. Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and 
temporary access to the public highway. 

 
REASON: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of 
the public highway and rights of way in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 

2. No development shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage 
scheme for the site based on the approved drainage strategy and sustainable 
drainage principles, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The drainage strategy should demonstrate the 
surface water run-off generated up to and including 1 in 100 year + climate 
change critical storm will not exceed the run-off from the undeveloped site 
following the corresponding rainfall event. The scheme shall subsequently be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details before the development 
is completed.  
 
1. Detailed engineered drawings of the proposed SuDS features including 

cross section drawings, their size, volume, depth and any inlet and outlet 
features including any connecting pipe runs.  

2. Final detailed management plan to include arrangements for adoption and 
any other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout 
its lifetime.  

 
REASON: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, both on and off site, in 
accordance with Policy R7 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

3. Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a Site Waste 
Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The Management Plan as approved shall be implemented 
throughout the construction period.  
 
REASON: To ensure measures are in place to minimise waste generation 
and maximise the on-site and off-site reuse and recycling of waste materials, 
in accordance with Hertfordshire Waste Core Strategy and Development 
management Policies DPD 2012 and Policy R5 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005. 
 

4. Prior to the commencement of development hereby approved, an 
Arboricultural Method Statement including details of tree protection measures 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter the development shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
REASON: To protect the existing trees in the interest of visual amenity in 
accordance with Policies D8 and R17 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 
2005. 

 
5. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, a method 

statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority confirming that the construction works and operation of the 

Page 99



proposed development site will be done in accordance with the relevant 
British Standards and Best Management Practices.  
 
REASON: In the interests of protection of groundwater, in accordance with 
Policy R7 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005. 
 

PRIOR TO ABOVE GROUND DEVELOPMENT 
 

6. Prior to commencement of above ground works, details of the finished 
surface of the parking areas shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority and such surfaces shall be completed to the 
Authority's satisfaction before any part of the development is first brought in to 
use. 
 
REASON: In the interest of amenity and highway safety in accordance with 
Policy D1 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 

7. Prior to commencement of above ground works, details of the external 
materials of construction of the development hereby approved, including 
detailed drawing of the graphics to be used on the metal sheet elevations, 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter the development shall accord with the approved details. 
 
REASON: In the interest of the appearance of the development in accordance 
with Policy D1 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework 

 
PRIOR TO USE 
 
8. Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, the vehicular 

accesses shall be provided and thereafter retained at the positions shown on 
the approved plan drawing number P004 – Rev C. Arrangements shall be 
made for surface water drainage to be intercepted and disposed of separately 
so that it does not discharge from or onto the public highway. 
 
REASON: To ensure satisfactory access into the site and avoid carriage of 
extraneous material or surface water from or onto the highway, in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

9. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment prepared by Conisbee, 
reference 171032/M Orellana, dated 26th January 2019 and the following 
mitigation measures detailed within the FRA:  
 
1. Limiting the surface water run-off generated by the critical storm events so 

that it will not exceed the surface water run-off rate of 2.8 l/s during the 1 
in 100 year event plus 40% of climate change event.  

2. Providing storage to ensure no increase in surface water run-off volumes 
for all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year + climate 
change event providing a minimum of 136.80 m3 (or such storage volume 
agreed with the LLFA) of total storage volume in permeable paved area.  

3. Discharge of surface water from the private drain into the Thames Water 
sewer network.  

Page 100



 
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 
subsequently in accordance with the timing/phasing arrangements embodied 
within the scheme, or within any other period as may subsequently be 
agreed, in writing, by the local planning authority.  
 
REASON: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory disposal and 
storage of surface water from the site and to reduce the risk of flooding to the 
proposed development and future users, in accordance with Policy R7 of the 
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

10. Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, details of any 
internal or external lighting scheme (including vertical lux diagrams which 
show potential light trespass into windows of nearby residential properties), 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The scheme must meet the requirements within the Institution of Lighting 
Professionals guidance notes for the reduction of obtrusive lighting. 
Thereafter the development shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
REASON: To protect the amenity of existing residential properties in the near 
vicinity to the development, in accordance with Supplementary Design 
Guidance 2005. 
 

11. Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, details of public 
realm improvements to Robin Hood Lane, including works to the existing 
footway adjacent to the eastern part of Robin Hood Lane, the provision of 
pedestrian crossing points and directional signage to the town centre, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter the development shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
REASON: In the interest of pedestrian safety, in accordance with Policy M5 
of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005. 
 

12. Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, details of the 
location and method of motorcycle and cycle parking provision, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter the development shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
REASON: In the interest of ensuring parking provision for motorcycles and 
cycles, in accordance with Policies M6 and M8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan 2005. 
 

13. Prior to the first use of the building hereby approved, the landscaping scheme 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. Any plants which 
within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the 
next planting season with others of similar size and species. All landscape 
works shall be carried out in accordance with the guidance contained in 
British Standards 8545: 2014. 
 

Page 101



REASON: To ensure proper implementation of the agreed landscape details 
in the interest of the amenity value of the development in accordance with 
Policies D2 and D8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005. 
 

14. Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, a minimum of 18 
disabled parking spaces as shown on the approved plans shall be provided 
and thereafter retained for the duration of the use of the building as a car 
park.  
 
REASON: To provide accessible parking bays and a high standard of design 
of the development in line with Policies D1 of the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan, national guidance and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

OTHER 
 

15. Noise from plant and equipment associated with the development shall be 
10dB (LAeq) below the background noise level (LA90) at the nearest 
residential properties (5dB below the background noise level if evidence is 
provided which shows that no tonality or other character is present).  
 
REASON: To protect the amenity of residents in the locality, in accordance 
with the Supplementary Design Guidance 2005. 
 

16. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified, it must be reported 
in writing within 7 days to the Local Planning Authority and once the Local 
Planning Authority has identified the part of the site affected by the 
unexpected contamination, development must be halted on that part of the 
site.  
 
Before development recommences on the part of the site where 
contamination is present a scheme outlining appropriate measures to prevent 
the pollution of the water environment, to safeguard the health of intended 
site users, and to ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land 
under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the 
intended use of the land after remediation and approved conclusions shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Thereafter the development shall not be implemented otherwise than in 
accordance with the approved remediation scheme.  
 
REASON: To ensure that the potential contamination of this site is properly 
investigated and its implication for the development approved fully taken into 
account, in accordance with Policy R2 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 
2005. 
 

17. a) No retained tree or shrub shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, nor 
shall any retained tree or shrub be pruned other than in accordance with the 
approved plans and particulars. Any topping or lopping approved shall be 
carried out in accordance with British Standard 3998:2010 (Tree Work). 
 
b) If any retained tree or shrub is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, 

another tree or shrub shall be planted at the same place and that tree or 

Page 102



shrub shall be of such size and species, and shall be planted at such time, 
as may be specified in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
c) The erection of fencing for the protection of any retained tree shrub or 

hedge shall be undertaken in accordance with details approved by condition 
4, before any equipment, machinery or materials are brought on to the site 
for the purposes of the development, and shall be maintained until all 
equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the 
site.  Nothing shall be stored or placed in any area fenced in accordance 
with this condition and the ground levels within those areas shall not be 
altered, nor shall any excavation be made, without the written consent of 
the Local Planning Authority. No fires shall be lit within 20 metres of the 
retained trees and shrubs.  

 
In this condition, retained tree or shrub, means an existing tree or shrub, as 
the case may be, which is to be retained in accordance with the approved 
plans and particulars; and paragraphs (a) and (b) above shall have effect until 
the expiration of five years from the first use of the building for its permitted 
use. 
 
REASON: To protect the existing trees, shrubs and hedgerows in the interest 
of visual amenity in accordance with Policy D8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan 2005. 
 

18. If groundwater is encountered during construction, Affinity Water and the 
Local Planning Authority should be notified immediately. 
 
REASON: In the interest of protection of groundwater, in accordance with 
Policy R7 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005. 
 

19. If any changes to foundation designs as outlined in the Phase II Geo-
Environmental Site Assessment (May 2019) are proposed, particularly if 
these are to extend into the saturated zone at approx. 6.50mbgl, Affinity 
Water and the Local Planning Authority should be notified immediately.  
 
REASON: In the interest of protection of groundwater, in accordance with 
Policy R7 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005. 
 

20. The car park hereby approved shall not be made available for use until such 
time as the public car parks at Link Drive and Lemsford Road are closed for 
use by the general public.  
 
REASON: In order to ensure that the proposals do not undermine 
opportunities to reduce travel demand in accordance with Policy 1 of 
Hertfordshire County Council’s Local Transport Plan 4.  

 
 DRAWING NUMBERS 
 

21. The development/works shall not be started and completed other than in 
accordance with the approved plans and details: 

 
Plan 
Number 

Revision 
Number 

Details Received Date 

P001 A Existing Site Location Plan 5 November 2019 

Page 103



P002 B Existing Block Plan 4 October 2019 
P003  Existing Site Sections 4 October 2019 
P004 C Proposed Block Plan 4 October 2019 
P005    Proposed Ground Floor 

Plan 
5 November 2019 

P006    Proposed First & Second 
Floor Plan 

5 November 2019 

P007   Proposed Third Floor Plan 5 November 2019 
P008    Proposed Elevations North 

& East 
5 November 2019 

P009   Proposed Elevations South 
& West 

5 November 2019 

P010 A Proposed Bay Elevations 5 November 2019 
P011  Proposed Site Sections 4 October 2019 
112  Core Elevation 4 October 2019 

 
REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with 
the approved plans and details. 

 
POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT 

 
The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and 
appropriate the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a decision 
contrary to the development plan. 
 
INFORMATIVES 

 
1. Where the developer proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior approval 

from Thames Water Developer Services will be required. Should you require 
further information please refer to the following website:  
https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-a-large-site/Apply-and-pay-
for-services/Wastewater-services 
 

2. The applicant is advised that the storage of materials associated with the 
construction of this development should be provided within the site on land 
which is not public highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere with 
the public highway. If this is not possible, authorisation should be sought from 
the Highway Authority before construction works commence. Further 
information is available via the website: 
https://beta.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-
management/highways-development-management.aspx 
 
3. It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways Act 1980 for any 
person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the 
free passage along a highway or public right of way. If this development is 
likely to result in the public highway or public right of way network becoming 
routinely blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must contact the Highway 
Authority to obtain their permission and requirements before construction 
works commence. Further information is available via the website: 
https://beta.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-
management/highways-development-management.aspx 

Page 104

https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-a-large-site/Apply-and-pay-for-services/Wastewater-services
https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-a-large-site/Apply-and-pay-for-services/Wastewater-services
https://beta.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://beta.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://beta.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://beta.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://beta.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://beta.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx


 
4. It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit mud 

or other debris on the public highway, and section 149 of the same Act gives 
the Highway Authority powers to remove such material at the expense of the 
party responsible. Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times 
to ensure that all vehicles leaving the site during construction of the 
development are in a condition such as not to emit dust or deposit mud, 
slurry or other debris on the highway. Further information is available via the 
website: https://beta.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-
management/highways-development-management.aspx 

 
5. The planning authority has determined the application as very low risk from 

chalk mining, on the basis of the information available to it but this does not 
warrant or indicate that the application site is safe or stable or suitable for the 
development proposed, or that any nearby land is structurally stable. The 
responsibility for safe and suitable development rests upon the developer 
and/or land owner and they should take a watching brief during construction 
for any chalk mines.  Should evidence be found, expert advice from properly 
qualified experts should be sought, to ensure that the historic chalk mining 
activities in the area will not adversely affect the development.  Details should 
be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. 

 
6. All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary, or 

at such other place as may be agreed with the Council, shall be carried out 
only between the hours of :  

 
8.00am and 6.00pm on Mondays to Fridays  
8.00am and 1.00pm Saturdays  
and at no time on Sundays and Bank Holidays  
 
The best practicable means, as defined in section 72 of the Control of 
Pollution Act 1974, to reduce noise to a minimum shall be employed at all 
times  

 
7. All plant and machinery in use shall be properly silenced and maintained in 

accordance with the manufacturers’ instructions. 
 

8. All compressors shall be sound reduced models, fitted with properly lined and 
sealed acoustic covers, which shall be kept closed whenever the machines 
are in use. All ancillary pneumatic percussive tools shall be fitted with 
mufflers or silencers of the type recommended by the manufactures.  

 
9. All machines in intermittent use shall be shut down during intervening periods 

between work, or throttled down to a minimum. Noise emitting equipment, 
which is required to operate continuously, shall be housed in suitable 
acoustic enclosures.  

 
10. Items of plant and equipment shall be maintained in good condition so that 

extraneous noise from mechanical vibration, squeaking or creaking is 
reduced to a minimum.  

 
11. All pile driving shall be carried out by a recognised noise reducing system.  
 

Page 105

https://beta.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://beta.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://beta.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx


12. Where practical, rotary drills and bursters, actuated by hydraulic or electric 
power shall be used for excavating hard material. 

 
13. In general, equipment for breaking concrete and the like, shall be 

hydraulically actuated.  
 
14. ‘BS 5228 Noise Control on Construction Sites’ should be referred to for 

guidance in respect of all work carried out by the developer, their main 
contractor and any sub contractors.  

 
15. All efforts shall be made to reduce dust generation to a minimum. 
 
16. Stock piles of materials for use on the site or disposal, that are likely to 

generate dust, shall be sited so as to minimise any nuisance to residents or 
neighbouring businesses. Materials for disposal shall be moved off site as 
quickly as possible.  

 
17. Water sprays shall be used, as and when necessary, to reduce dust from 

particularly "dusty" activities or stock piles.  
 
18. According to British Geological Data the proposed development site could be 

underlain with sand and gravel deposits. The county council, as the Minerals 
Planning Authority, would like to encourage the opportunistic use of these 
deposits (if they are of suitable quality), should they be found in construction 
of the developments (deposits may be found in the creation of foundations 
and footings).  

 
POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT 

The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and 
appropriate the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a decision 
contrary to the development plan. 

 
Liz Aston (Development Management) 
Date: 20 January 2020   

 

Page 106



Page 107



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

 

Page 108



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Part I 
Main author: David Elmore 
Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton 
Hatfield Central 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 6 FEBRUARY 2020 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND 
GOVERNANCE)  
 
6/2019/1665/MAJ 
 
41-43 TOWN CENTRE, HATFIELD, AL10 0JJ 
 
PART RETENTION OF GROUND FLOOR AND BASEMENT LEVEL RETAIL AND 
RETAIL STORAGE (A1 USE) WITH THE FIRST FLOOR CONVERTED AND EXTENDED 
FROM RETAIL STORAGE (A1 USE) FOR FOUR STOREYS OF 47NO STUDENT FLATS 
(C2 USE) AND ASSOCIATED GROUND FLOOR CYCLE AND REFUSE STORAGE  
 
APPLICANT: MR PATEL 
 
1 Site Description 

 
1.1 The application site is located within the centre of Hatfield between the 

pedestrianised street known as Town Centre and the private road known as Dog 
Kennel Lane. 

1.2 The subject building is located to the western end of the Town Centre.  It is two-
storeys in height with a flat roof and features three existing shop fronts at ground 
floor level and a large lean-to canopy extending out from the building.  Above the 
canopy, the front elevation is windowless and finished in patterned facing brick.  
Servicing access is to the rear of the building via Dog Kennel Lane. 

1.3 Adjoining the application site to the west is a building of similar scale in retail use 
and beyond this is a large ASDA supermarket. To the immediate east is a three 
storey building with flats at first floor level and within the mansard roof.  A  four 
storey building with a flat roof faces the application site and this host retail units at 
ground floor with flats above.  

2 The Proposal 
 

2.1 This application proposes to extend upward above the ground floor of this building 
to create 47 student flats spread over four storeys.  Entrance to the student 
accommodation would be taken from the front of the building resulting in the loss of 
the smallest of the three retail units which currently exist at the site. 
 

2.2 Servicing and loading for the retail units is currently accommodated to the rear of 
the building, with access taken from Dog Kennel Lane.  This arrangement would 
remain, but the rear portion of the building would be altered and reconfigured to 
facilitate the provision of two disabled parking bays, together with secure storage for 
cycles and refuse bins.   

Page 109

Agenda Item 9



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

2.3 Apart from the two disabled parking bays, no other car parking spaces would be 
provided.  There would however be a total of 53 on-site cycle spaces 
accommodated at ground floor. 
 

2.4 On 30 May 2018, planning permission was refused at the site for retention of the 
existing ground floor and basement retail use (A1) with the first floor converted and 
extended from A1 retail storage to four storeys (C3), comprising of 18 flats (6x 1-
bed and 12 x 2-bed) and reconfigurations to the ground and basement levels.  The 
reasons for refusal are stated in the relevant planning history section of this report. 

2.5 The key difference between the refused application and that now proposed is the 
nature of the development.  The refused application was for residential flats, whilst 
this application proposes student accommodation.  There are also differences in 
terms of the scale, design and configuration of the proposal relative to the refused 
application.   

3 Reason for Committee Consideration 
 
3.1 This application is presented to the Development Management Committee because 

Hatfield Town Council have submitted a Major Objection. 
 
4 Relevant Planning History 
 
4.1 Application Number: 6/2018/0452/MAJ 

Decision: Refused  
Decision Date: 30 May 2018 
Proposal: Retention of existing ground floor and basement retail use (A1) with the 
first floor converted and extended from A1 retail storage to four storeys (C3), 
comprising of 18 flats (6x 1-bed and 12 x 2-bed) and reconfigurations to the ground 
and basement levels. 
 
Reasons for refusal: 
 

1. The scale and height of the proposed development would be out of scale and 
relate poorly in terms of height and forward position to adjacent buildings in 
this part of the street within Hatfield Town Centre. Consequently, the 
proposal would represent overdevelopment of the site and would have a 
harmful effect upon the character of the existing area, contrary to Policies 
SD1, GBSP2, H2, D1 and D2 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005, 
Supplementary Design Guidance (Statement of Council Policy 2005), 
Policies SP1, SP9, SP20, SADM1 and SADM22 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
Borough Council Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 2016, and 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework 2012. 

 
2. The proposed refuse and recycling storage and collection area would not 

provide a clear 2 metre wide path for bins to be wheeled to the refuse 
vehicle. Consequently, this area is inappropriately designed and would fail to 
perform its role effectively. This arrangement would be contrary to Policy D1 
of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005, Policy SADM12 of the Welwyn 
Hatfield Borough Council Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 
2016, and requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework 2012. 

 

Page 110



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

3. The design of the proposed development, notably terraces and balcony 
access routes, would result in poor levels of privacy for a number of flats 
within the proposal. This would be contrary to Policy D1 of the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan 2005, Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 
(Statement of Council Policy 2005), Policy SADM11 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
Borough Council Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 2016, and 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework 2012. 

 
4. The proposed development would fail to provide satisfactory levels of 

parking, resulting in parking stress for its users. The proposal is therefore 
contrary to Policy M14 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005, the 
Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance - Parking Standards 2004, the 
Council’s Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards August 2014, Policy 
SADM2 of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Draft Local Plan Proposed 
Submission August 2016, and requirements of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2012. 

 
5. Necessary infrastructure and services required as a result of the 

development have not been secured through planning obligations. The 
proposal would therefore represent an unsustainable form of development, 
contrary to Policies IM2, M4 and H7 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 
2005, Policy SP7 of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Draft Local Plan 
Proposed Submission 2016 August 2016, and requirements of the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2012. 

 
4.2 Application Number: 6/2017/1859/PA 

Advice Date: 13 November 2017 
Proposal: Pre-application advice to improve and redevelop the site, by retaining the 
existing retail building (A1) and reconfiguring the floors to create up to 20 new 
dwelling flats above (C3). 
 
Summary of advice: 
 

 Reservations in particular about the lack of parking presently shown; 

 Unable to offer a more considered view on the conversion details given the 
absence of more detailed plans showing the elevational and floor layout 
changes, detailed sections and information on light and amenity levels for the 
flats together with the practical workings of servicing the retail and flat 
elements 

 
5 Relevant Planning Policy 

 
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  

 
5.2 Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 (District Plan) 
 
5.3 Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 2016 (Emerging Local Plan) 
 
5.4 Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 (SDG) 
 
5.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance, Parking Standards 2004 (SPG) 

 

Page 111



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

5.6 Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards and Garage Sizes 2014 (Interim Car 
Parking Policy) 

6 Site Designation  
 

6.1 The site lies within Hatfield Town Centre’s Primary Retail Core as designated in the 
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005. 
 

7 Representations Received  
 

7.1 The application was advertised by means of a press notice, neighbour notification 
letters and site notices.  In total of one representation, objecting to the proposal, has 
been received from the University of Hertfordshire.  This representation is published 
in full on the Council’s website and is summarised below: 
 

 Submitted 2018 report, by Knight Frank, is not accurate in terms of demand 
for purpose-built student accommodation 

 Student accommodation need should be directed toward existing vacancies 
on campus 

 The building would be incongruous 

 No central gathering space, pastoral care or useable external space  

 Lack of daylight and sunlight to external space  

 Safety and crime issues  

 Rear access unsafe for students 

 Lack of car parking  
 
8 Consultations Received 

 
8.1 WHBC Parking Services Team – Objection summarised as follows: 

 

 No car parking provided  

 Unrestricted on-street parking would likely be used which is pressured  

 Concern over management/enforceability of tenancy agreement restricting 
car use  

 Surface level car parking (Link Drive & The Common) listed in the parking 
justification are going through a planning application stage for development 

 
8.2 WHBC Client Services Team – Comment: 

 

 Request that bin stores have a coded lock for refuse crews to gain access 
rather than keys or fobs 

 
8.3 WHBC Private Sector Housing Team – Comment: 

 

 Noise, vibration and heat concerns from laundry rooms directly underneath 
bedrooms and a kitchen  

 Lack of parking  
 
8.4 Thames Water – Comment: 

 

 No objection in terms of surface water drainage provided the developer 
follows the sequential approach to the disposal of surface water  

Page 112



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

 
 

8.5 Hertfordshire Constabulary – Comment: 
 

 Main entrance off a busy and narrow car park raising pedestrian safety 
concerns 

 Little interaction with the high street  

 Student accommodation would involve more takeaway meals than family 
occupation housing so refuse is an issue 

 Food scraps and wrappers, if not dealt with, can lead to issues with hygiene 
and vermin 

 Lack of car parking  

 If an entrance from the High Street could be designed in, this would 
dramatically increase the interaction between the occupants and the High 
Street, which would serve the purpose of invigorating the area better. 

8.6 The following have responded advising that they have no objections to the proposal 
in principal, subject to conditions or obligations being applied: 
 

 HCC Highways Team 

 HCC Waste & Minerals Team  

 WHBC Conservation Advisor  

 WHBC Public Health & Protection Team  
 
8.7 The following have responded advising that they have no objection to the proposal 

or advise informatives: 
 

 HCC Growth Team  

 HCC Historic Environment Advisor  

 HCC Lead Local Flood Authority  

 Historic England  

 Affinity Water  

 Cadent Gas 

 HCC Ecology  
 

8.8 No response was received from the following consultees: 
 

 Hertfordshire County Council Social Services  

 Hertfordshire County Council Rights of Way  

 NHS 

 Herts & Middlesex Wildlife Trust  

 Environment Agency  

 Network Rail 

 The Rambler’s Association  
 
9 Town/Parish Council Representations 

 
9.1 Hatfield Town Council have raised a major objection to the proposed development 

for the reasons set out below: 
 

Page 113



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

“As previously objected by Hatfield Town Council. Over development of site and 
concerns regarding car parking. In agreement with Welwyn Hatfield Borough 
Council previous reasons for refused application.” 
 

 
 
10 Analysis 

 
10.1 The main planning issues to be considered in the determination of this application 

are: 
 
1. Principle of development  
2. Quality of design and impact on the character of the area, including 

heritage assets 
3. Residential amenity  
4. Highways and parking considerations  
5. Other considerations  

i) Ecology 
ii) Flood risk and sustainable drainage 
iii) Refuse and recycling  

6. Planning obligations  
7. The planning balance  

 
 

1. Principle of the development 
 

10.2 The District Plan does not contain any policy or guidance which deals specifically 
with new student accommodation.  It is therefore necessary to consider whether the 
proposal accords more generally with the provisions of the development plan, so far 
as material to the application, and any other material considerations. 

10.3 District Plan Policy GBSP2 is clear that development will mainly be concentrated in 
the two towns within the Borough and Policy R1 is clear that the Council’s 
preference is that development should take place on land which has been 
previously used or developed.  The principle of the redevelopment of the site is 
therefore in accordance with the development plan.    

10.4 Policy SP21 of the Emerging Local Plan seeks to concentrate new student 
development on campus wherever possible.  However, it is recognised that a 
balance between on-campus and private rented sector provisions need to be struck.  
It is also recognised that the Emerging Local Plan is still under examination and its 
policies are only being attributed limited weight at present. 

10.5 The University of Hertfordshire is located within Hatfield on two campuses; De 
Havilland and College Lane.  In addition, the Royal Veterinary College is located to 
the south of Hatfield.  These two institutions create a demand for student 
accommodation, some of which is provided within the college campuses and some 
in the private rented sector within purpose-built developments or in lodgings and 
Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO's). 

10.6 A September 2018 market report on student accommodation was originally 
submitted with this application.  Following the objection from the University of 
Hertfordshire (UoH), this report was updated to a July 2019 version.  This updated 

Page 114



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

report identifies that the University has a total of 17,685 full-time students but only 
provides on-site accommodation for 4,611 students spread over 17 halls of 
residence, amounting to 26.1% of the total full-time student population. 
 

10.7 The application site is not on the University campus.  It is in Hatfield Town Centre, 
approximately 1.2 miles from the De Havilland campus and 1.5 miles from the 
College Lane campus.   

10.8 There are currently two off-campus student accommodation blocks within in 
Hatfield, located at 46 The Common (application number: S6/2010/1206/MA) and 
The Comet Hotel (application number: 6/2016/1739/MAJ).  46 The Common 
provides 74 bed-spaces and The Comet Hotel provides 308 bed-spaces.  Both of 
these provide purpose-built student accommodation similar to campus living, close 
to the University campuses and separate from the general housing stock. 

10.9 The University of Hertfordshire have made a representation, objecting to the 
proposal, and highlight that the figures presented in the Frank Knight report do not 
account for students on placement and the large number of their students who 
commute from home.  Therefore, the amount of students who would actively seek 
purpose built student accommodation is not as great as implied in the report.  Also, 
existing University of Hertfordshire student accommodation is not at capacity. 

10.10 The planning system is not able to consider competition between providers as a 
material consideration, although wider issues around the levels of demand and 
supply can be considered.  In October 2016 (under The Comet Hotel application) it 
was deemed that there is likely to remain a demand for accommodation in the 
private rented sector in the region of 6,000 bed-spaces in Hatfield.  This figure took 
account of the expansion of on-campus student accommodation (now built-out).  
The proposed provision of 47 bed-spaces is not therefore likely to result in an 
oversupply of student accommodation in the area. 

10.11 Along with the positive aspects of the University being located in the Borough, there 
is also some issues which have arisen from its expansion.  In particular the 
presence of a large number of students has led to a significant increase in the 
number of family homes being converted to HMO's which have adversely affected 
the visual appearance and character of certain areas.  On the basis of 5 students 
occupying the average HMO property, the implementation of the proposed 
development could potential release a further 9-10 properties back to residential 
(C3) use which is valued. 

10.12 Proposals for more general needs housing (either as flats or bedsits within Class 
C3 or an Hostel/HMO in Class C4) are subject to other Policies in the District Plan, 
which would include a requirement for provision of affordable housing (Policy H7) 
and facilities appropriate for longer term accommodation provisions.  This site has 
not been identified as a potential housing site in the Borough Council’s housing 
need assessments.  General-needs housing is unlikely to be suitable in the 
proposed site layout.  Should planning permission be granted, conditions can be 
imposed restricting the use to student accommodation only and preventing change 
of use to C3, hostel or HMO uses without the need for planning approval. 

10.13 The principle of the proposal for student housing is not considered to be contrary to 
the Policies of the District Plan, provided mechanisms are in place to retain the 
accommodation for students within Class C2 and subject to satisfying the other 

Page 115



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

policies of the District Plan.  To this end a condition restricting the use of the 
buildings on the site is recommended. 

10.14 In terms of retail, the proposal would result in the loss of a retail unit in order to 
provide appropriate access to upper floor accommodation from the site frontage.  
The application site forms part of a retail frontage (19-47 Town Centre), as 
designated in the District Plan.  Policy TCR16 seeks to retain a minimum of 70% of 
each frontage in retail Class A1 use, and that in retail frontages where already less 
than 70% of the linear frontage is in Class A1 use, planning permission will not be 
granted.  

10.15 There are currently 69% of units on this frontage in active retail use.  The loss of a 
retail unit would reduce this figure to 65%.  As such, the proposal would conflict with 
the 70% minimum retail frontage required by Policy TCR16.   

10.16 It was observed during the site visit that two of 12 units along this frontage were 
vacant, which could be indicative of a lack of demand for retail premises, however, 
no details are available in respect of the length time these units have been vacant 
or the extent of any marketing which has taken place.   

10.17 Emerging Local Plan Policy SADM4 carries forward the 70% retail threshold from 
Policy TCR16.  However, the Emerging Local Plan is not at advance stage of 
preparation; whilst its submission version policies show a potential direction of 
travel, it is not yet known what level of objection these are likely to encounter. For 
these reasons, limited weight is attributed to the policies of the Emerging Local 
Plan. 

10.18 The NPPF requires policies to make clear the range of uses permitted in town 
centre locations, as part of a positive strategy for the future.  Policy TCR16 is 
broadly in line with this aspect of the NPPF, though is inconsistent in so far as the 
NPPF does not limit appropriate main town centre uses to A1 retail.  The NPPF 
defines main town centre uses as follows: 

“retail development (including warehouse clubs and factory outlet centres); 
leisure, entertainment and more intensive sport and recreation uses 
(including cinemas, restaurants, drive-through restaurants, bars and pubs, 
nightclubs, casinos, health and fitness centres, indoor bowling centres and 
bingo halls); offices; and arts, culture and tourism development (including 
theatres, museums, galleries and concert halls, hotels and conference 
facilities). 

10.19 The NPPF also outlines that planning policies should recognise that residential 
development often plays an important role in ensuring the vitality of centres and 
encourage residential development on appropriate sites.  Whilst residential 
development is not what is being applied for in this case, student accommodation 
shares many of the characteristics of residential development and, importantly, the 
benefits of student accommodation in terms of supporting town centre vitality and 
viability would be similar to residential accommodation. 

10.20 For these reasons, the weight to be given to the 70% retail threshold is moderated 
by its inconsistency with the NPPF and significant weight is attributed to the benefits 
arising from the development of 47 student bed-spaces within a Town Centre 

Page 116



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

location.  Despite conflict with Policy TCR16, the proposal would comply with the 
aims of the NPPF to maintain town centre viability and vitality. 

 

 

2. Quality of design and impact on the character of the area 
 
10.21 District Plan Policies D1 and D2 aim to ensure a high quality of design and to 

ensure that development respects and relates to the character and context of the 
locality, maintaining and where possible enhancing the character of the existing 
area. These policies are expanded upon in the Council’s Supplementary Design 
Guidance (SDG) which requires the impact of a development to be assessed giving 
regard to the bulk, scale and design of the proposal and how it harmonises with the 
existing building and area.  These objectives are broadly consistent with the 
Council’s Emerging Local Plan and the aims of the NPPF which considers that the 
creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning 
and development process should achieve. 
 

10.22 The National Design Guide (by the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government, October 2019) forms part of the government’s collection of planning 
practice guidance and sets out the characteristics of well-designed places and 
demonstrates what good design means in practice.  The characteristics to be 
considered include: context, identity, built form, movement, nature, public spaces, 
uses, homes and buildings, resources, and lifespan. 

10.23 The existing building is considered to have a negative impact on the character and 
appearance of the area.  This results from, in particular, the above ground front 
elevation, which is windowless.  The bulky design of the building taken as a whole, 
appears at odds with the scale and massing other buildings in the area. 

10.24 The scale, form and massing of buildings within the street vary.  The parade of 
buildings on the side of the application site are broadly 2-3 storeys in height with 
either flat or pitched roofs.  On the opposite side of the street, buildings are broadly 
4-storeys in height with flat roofs.  The proposed development, at a total of 5-
storeys in height, would be the tallest building in the eastern side of the street. 

10.25 The building recently refused planning permission at the site under application 
number: 6/2018/0452/MAJ proposed to build over the ground floor retail and have a 
total height of 5 storeys.  It was considered that the building, in particular its forward 
position and height, would fail to respect the scale and form of adjacent buildings 
when viewed from the eastern side of the shopping parade. 

10.26 Whilst the proposed building would have the same footprint and height as that 
refused under application number: 6/2018/0452/MAJ, the top-floor element would 
now be set in approximately 3.2m from the eastern boundary.  Such a set-in 
distance from the eastern boundary assists in reducing the perceived height of the 
building when viewed from the eastern side of the shopping parade.  In addition, the 
submitted plans clearly show that the development would not be forward of the 
existing building and would be erected on the same building line as No.39 Town 
Centre (Lloyds Bank).   

Page 117



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

10.27 The first, second and third floors of the proposed building would be faced in buff 
coloured brickwork, whilst the top floor would be clad in dark grey zinc.  A new glass 
awning of smaller scale than existing is proposed above the ground floor shop 
fronts, together with large areas of glazing across all floors.  These features will 
assist in breaking down the scale of the building, minimising its visual mass.  
Further interest will be provided by decorative brick detailing, brick solider courses 
and a parapet.  This level of detail will contribute to the overall design quality of the 
building.   

10.28 The fenestrations of the building, in particular those to the front and rear elevation, 
are organised and well proportioned.  These fenestrations are similar in design to 
others used on adjacent buildings in the street-scene. 

10.29 The design and siting of the development above ground floor, together with the 
reduction in scale on the top floor, would result in building which would acceptably 
respect and relate to its built context in terms of scale, size and massing. 

10.30 The entrance for the student accommodation was initially proposed to the rear, 
facing Dog Kennel Lane car park.  However, following safety and crime concerns 
raised by Hertfordshire Constabulary, this arrangement has been amended.  
Access to the student accommodation at first floor and above would be via an 
entrance fronting the main shopping street.  As such, it is considered that the 
proposal would accord with Policy D7 of the District Plan regarding safety by 
design. 

10.31 Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act) 1990 
states that special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of that area. 

10.32 The specific historic environment policies within the NPPF are contained within 
paragraph 184-202. Paragraph 192 of the NPPF states: 
 

In determining planning applications, local planning authorities should take 
account of: 

 
a) The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage    

assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 
b) The positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets  can make to 

sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and 
c) The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 

character and distinctiveness. 
 
10.33 Whilst no heritage assets are located within the application site or immediate 

locality, due consideration needs to the given to the setting of Hatfield House and its 
Park and Garden and the impact of a proposal of this scale upon views which 
contribute to the significance of these designated heritage assets. 

10.34 Both Historic England and the Council’s Historic Building Consultant has been 
consulted for this application.  Both consultee’s present no objection to the 
proposed development from a heritage perspective.  The Council Historic Building 
Consultant has commented that whilst no information has been submitted by the 
application as per paragraph 128 of the NPPF, it is not perceived that the proposed 
development will have an adverse impact on such views/setting of heritage assets.  

Page 118



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

However, should the application be approved, a condition pertaining to materials 
(particularly the roof) are recommended to ensure townscape views from Hatfield 
House and its Park and Gardens are respected.  It has been considered that the 
proposed development would not cause any harm to the significance of any 
relevant heritage assets, in accordance with Policy SADM15 of the Emerging Local 
Plan and the NPPF. 

10.35 The proposed building has to be carefully designed to meet the contextual 
challenges which exist, whilst meeting the requirement of making the best use of 
the land.  Subject to careful adherence to quality external materials used in its finish 
and further details of the glazed awning, which can be controlled by condition, on 
balance, it is considered that the proposed development would not harm the 
character and appearance of the surrounding area, rather it would enable a modern 
form of development, using suitable materials to reflect the setting.  For these 
reasons it is considered that the proposed development would represent an 
acceptable standard of design.  

3. Residential amenity  

10.36 The NPPF is clear that planning should be a means of finding ways to enhance and 
improve the places in which people live their lives.  This means that authorities 
should always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity 
for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. 
 

10.37 Policy D1 of the District Plan requires the standard of design in all new development 
to be of a high quality.  This is expanded upon in the Council’s SDG which sets out 
guidelines in terms of residential development for the provision of acceptable 
amenity for future occupants and the protection of neighbouring residential amenity.  
These policies are broadly consistent with Policy SADM11 of the Council’s 
Emerging Local Plan and the NPPF. 

Residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers 

10.38 The nearest residential properties are located at No.39 Town Centre, at first and 
second floor level (above Lloyds Bank) and on the opposite side of Town Centre.  It 
is not considered that the proposed development would be unduly dominant or 
result in any adverse loss of light from adjacent properties, as a result of height, 
length of projection or proximity to boundaries. 

Residential amenity of future occupiers  

10.39 Whilst residential development is not what is being applied for in this case, student 
accommodation shares many of the characteristics of residential development and 
students would reside in the accommodation for a vast proportion of the year. 

10.40 Each bedroom and communal room is appropriately sized and well-appointed.  
Each bedroom would have a window facing outward (facing Town Centre and Dog 
Kennel Lane) and therefore sufficient outlook would be afforded.   

10.41 A BRE Daylight and Sunlight Analysis (by SHA Environmental, April 2019) has 
been submitted with this application.  An analysis was undertaken of the first floor 
habitable rooms (i.e. those which would receive the lowest amount of daylight.  All 
examined rooms comply with BRE’s Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight: 

Page 119



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

A Guide to Good Practice (BR 209) and BS 8206-2:2008 Lighting for Buildings: 
Code Practice for Daylighting.   

10.42 The University of Hertfordshire have raised concern regarding the level of sunlight 
and daylight afforded to external courtyard space and its usability.  This courtyard 
area serves as a circulation space between accommodation and would unlikely be 
used as amenity space.  In light of the above analysis, it is considered that sufficient 
daylight and sunlight would be afforded to this space on all levels.  Whilst no formal 
external amenity space would be provided on-site, the site is in an accessible 
location, reasonably close to the facilities of the UoH campus.  Future occupiers 
would also be able to use open spaces and other leisure facilities within Hatfield. 

10.43 Policy R19 of the District Plan states that proposals will be refused if the 
development is likely to be affected by unacceptable noise or vibration from other 
land uses.  This approach is reflected in Policy SADM18 of the Emerging Local 
Plan. 

10.44 The Council’s Public Health & Protection Team have been consulted for this 
application and consider that the development proposal would need to take account 
of noise from the town centre location.  The main sources for significant noise would 
be from plant and equipment and from deliveries, which would be expected to occur 
very early in the morning.  There is also the potential noise associated with early 
morning starts for Hatfield Market. 

10.45 A scheme for sound insulation and mechanical ventilation is recommended in order 
to protect future occupiers of the development from the above noise sources.  This 
can be secure through a planning condition. 

10.46 The Council’s Private Sector Housing Team raised a concern regarding the location 
of firstly laundry rooms directly below habitable accommodation as this would give 
rise issues including noise, vibration and overheating.  Subsequently, the applicant 
submitted amended plans which show the laundry rooms relocated to the basement 
which is acceptable. 

10.47 In summary, the proposal is considered to provide suitably high quality 
accommodation for students and would not have an unreasonable impact on 
neighbour amenity or living conditions.   

4. Highways and parking considerations 
 

Highways  
 

10.48 Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or 
refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.  

 
10.49 The Highway Authority have been consulted for this application and present no 

objection subject to conditions and completion of a S106 Agreement.   

10.50 Recommended conditions include: a construction management plan so construction 
impacts are understood and mitigated as necessary; and the provision and 
retention of the proposed car and cycle parking areas. 

Page 120



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

10.51 The Highways Authority have requested a financial contribution of £17,625 toward 
the delivery of schemes identified within the Hatfield 2030+Transport Strategy (June 
17) specifically Corridor 4 – Travellers Lane and to reduce localised congestion and 
encourage the uptake of sustainable travel modes through the provision of 
improved facilities for pedestrians/cyclists.  Paragraph 108(a) states that 
development proposals should ensure that appropriate opportunities to promote 
sustainable transport modes can be taken up, given the type of development and its 
location.  It is considered that this contribution is necessary, in that it would help to 
mitigate the impacts of the scheme on travel and transport and assist in promoting 
the use of sustainable modes of travel. 

 

 

Car Parking 

10.52 In terms of parking, paragraph 105 of the NPPF states that if setting local parking 
standards authorities should take into account the accessibility of the development, 
the type, mix and use of the development, availability of public transport, local car 
ownership levels and the overall need to reduce the use of high emission vehicles.  
Policy M14 of the District Plan 2005 and the Parking Standards Supplementary 
Planning Guidance (SPG) use maximum standards and are not consistent with the 
NPPF and are therefore afforded less weight.  In light of the above, the Council 
have produced an interim Policy for Car Parking Standards that states that parking 
provision will be assessed on a case by case basis and the existing maximum 
parking standards within the SPG should be taken as guidance only.  This means 
that higher or lower car parking standards than those set out in the SPG can be 
proposed and determined on a case by case basis taking into account the relevant 
circumstances of the proposal, its size context and its wider surroundings.  This 
approach is reflected in Policy SADM12 of the Emerging Local Plan.  Parking 
standards should only be imposed where there is clear and compelling justification 
that they are necessary for managing the local road network.  
 

10.53 The Council’s parking guidance SPG recommends that in this area a total of eight 
car parking spaces are provided for the proposed development.  The development 
is proposed to be car-free with the exception of two disabled parking spaces for use 
by students with disabilities. 

10.54 There are four public car parks located within the immediate vicinity of the 
application site which serve the town centre at: Dog Kennel Lane, The Common, 
Kennelwood and Link Drive. 

10.55 Dog Kennel Lane car park backs onto the application site.  This car park includes a 
total of 60 spaces (30 standard, 4 disabled and 26 permit holders).  Car parking is 
free for the general public and business permits are in effect Monday-Saturday 
between 9am-5pm. 

10.56 The Common Car Park is located approximately 100m to the north of the 
application site and includes a total of 147 spaces (137 standard and 10 disabled).  
Car parking is free for the general public but restricted to 3 hours maximum stay, 
Monday-Friday between 9am-5pm. 

Page 121



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

10.57 Kennelwood Car Park is located approximately 140m to the east of the application 
site and includes a total of 70 spaces (52 standard, 6 disabled and 12 permit 
holders).  Car parking is free for the general public but restricted to 3 hours 
maximum stay, Monday-Friday between 9am-5pm. 

10.58 To facilitate the regeneration of Hatfield Town Centre, it is proposed to consolidate 
parking provision in a 420 space multi-storey car park in a central location.  That 
application, reference 6/2019/2478/MAJ, is under consideration and is also due to 
be heard by members at Committee in February.  This will allow for the closure of 
the existing surface car parks at Link Drive (which currently provides 114 spaces) 
and Lemsford Road (which currently provides 149 spaces) and the reconfiguration 
and reallocation of the car park at Kennelwood Lane (which currently provides 74 
spaces).  

10.59 Whilst the distribution of car parking in the Town Centre would change as a result of 
the multi-storey car park proposal, there would be no reduction in the quantity of car 
parking spaces relative to the existing situation.  As such, the multi-storey car park 
would have no impact on this proposal. 

10.60 Nearby residential streets have parking controls in place given the town centre 
location.  In addition, the Highways Authority have commented that car parking 
cannot occur on the principle and main distributor routes within the local road 
hierarchy. 

10.61 The submitted planning statement and transport statement contend that on the 
basis students do not require a car for everyday travel, to and from the local 
universities, the proposed car-free scheme in Hatfield Town Centre is ideally suited.  
Whilst full-time students may not require a car for travel to and from the university, it 
cannot be assumed that no student would not have a car to use in evening and 
weekends, unless measures are put in place to prevent such ownership. 

Cycle parking  

10.62 A total of 52 on-site cycle spaces, including mounts and two tier racks, would be 
provided which is acceptable against the Council’s SPG.  It would be appropriate to 
secure the provision and retention of this important facility by condition. 

Concluding on parking 

10.63 Taking account of the above parking assessment, it is considered that the local 
area would not be able to adequately absorb the car parking provision likely 
required for this development proposal.  This impact would not be offset by location 
of the site close to services and facilities and high level of on-site provision of 
bicycles.  Consequently, there would be conflict with the above policies in this 
respect. 

10.64 To overcome the harm identified, the applicant is agreeable to a planning obligation 
including the following measures: 

- Restriction of occupation of the student accommodation to registered full 
time students at the University of Hertfordshire; 

- Tenancy Agreements including clauses that: 
i. Prohibit keeping or controlling a car within WHBC area  
ii. On-site parking prohibited unless for disabled students 

Page 122



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

iii. Prohibit applying for/obtaining a resident on-street parking permit  
 

10.65 These clauses were considered adequate by the Planning Inspector who 
determined the planning appeal for the application ref: S6/2010/1206/MA for 
student accommodation at 46 The Common, Hatfield. 

10.66 Compliance with clauses (ii) and (iii) seem reasonably enforceable subject to them 
being secured by Legal Agreement (S106).  A similar clause to Clause (i) was used 
in the planning decision for the student accommodation on De Havilland Campus 
and Comet Hotel site. 

10.67 Whilst it is acknowledged that the above measures will not prevent visitors to site 
travelling by car, it is considered that there is adequate capacity within public 
carparks to accommodate this demand.  

10.68 The above measures are considered adequate to manage the impact of the 
development on the local area with respect to car parking and promote sustainable 
transport. 

5. Other planning considerations  

i) Ecology 
 

10.69 Hertfordshire Ecology have been consulted for this application and present no 
objection.  An informative is advised which explains the process should bats, or 
evidence of them, be discovered during the course of roof works. 

 
ii) Flood risk and sustainable drainage 
 

10.70 The submitted Sustainable Urban drainage System Analysis (by SHA 
Environmental, revision 1.0, dated 23 April 2019) has been assessed by the Lead 
Local Flood Authority and considered acceptable.  Therefore, no objection is 
presented for the proposed development on flood risk grounds. 

10.71 Thames Water have been consulted for this application and advise that the 
sequential approach to the disposal of surface water is followed. The application 
site however is located in Flood Zone 1 (area of low flood risk) and less than 1 
hectare in area, so in line with the NPPF, the sequential approach would not be 
applicable in this case. 

iii)   Refuse and recycling  

10.72 The proposed bin store would be located at ground floor and accessed directly from 
Dog Kennel Lane. 4x1000 litre refuse bins would be provided for students.  The 
Council’s Client Services Team have been consulted for this application and 
present no objection.  The cost for the containers (at £390.00 each) can be secured 
through a planning contribution. 

iv)   Environmental Impact Assessment  

10.73 Whilst the applicant has not submitted an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) 
screening request, the Local Planning Authority has undertaken one.  The 
development is not contained within Schedule 1 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (the Regulations).  The 

Page 123



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

development does not fall either within Schedule 2 of the Regulations.  Whilst the 
proposal is considered an Urban Development Project, as listed at 10(b) of 
Schedule 2, the development would take place on a site less than 5 hectares, would 
not include more than 150 dwellings and would not include more than 1 hectare of 
urban development which is not dwelling house development.  An EIA is therefore 
not required. 

6. Planning obligations 

10.74 The NPPF sets out that Local Planning Authorities should consider whether 
otherwise unacceptable development could be made acceptable through the use of 
conditions or planning obligations. Planning obligations should only be sought 
where they meet all of the following tests set out in Regulation 122 of the 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended): 

• Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms 
• Directly related to the development; and 
• Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 
10.75 The Council has not adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy and therefore where 

a planning obligation is proposed for a development, The Community Infrastructure 
Levy Regulations 2010, which came into effect from 6 April 2010, has introduced 
regulation 122 which provides limitations on the use of planning obligations.   

 
10.76 The proposed development gives rise to the necessity for the following obligations: 

1. Restriction of occupation of student accommodation to registered full time 
students at the University of Hertfordshire; 

2. Tenancy Agreements including clauses that: 
i. Prohibit keeping or controlling a car within WHBC area  
ii. On-site parking prohibited unless for disabled students 
iii. Prohibit applying for/obtaining a resident on-street parking permit 

within WHBC area  
3. Sustainable transport - £17,625 
4. Refuse bin provision - £1,560 
5. Monitoring fee £959.25 (subject to indexation) 
6. Access to the student accommodation for monitoring of occupation. 

 
10.77 In accordance with the Council’s Planning Obligations SPD, a monitoring fee will be 

required and payment will be required to be made prior to commencement of the 
development.   
 

10.78 These requested contributions are considered to be reasonable and to pass the 
necessary Community Infrastructure Levy 122 tests as the works are considered 
necessary to make the development acceptable, directly related to the development 
and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.    

 
10.79 The applicant and Council have entered into negotiations to address the points 

outlined above.  If the Development Management Committee resolve to grant 
planning permission subject of the completion of the Section 106 Agreement, this 
document will be completed.   
 

Page 124



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

10.80 The proposal, subject to the completion of a Section 106 Agreement, would comply 
with Policy IM2; the Planning Obligations SPD; the NPPF and CIL Regulations 
2010, as amended. 
 
7. The Planning Balance 

10.81 Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.  This proposal both breaches and complies with different parts of 
development plan policies.  There is, therefore, a balance to be struck. 

10.82 There would be partial conflict with Policy TCR16 of the District Plan relating to the 
loss of a retail unit and a shortfall of on-site car parking against the Council’s SPG.  

10.83 District Plan Policy SD1 and the NPPF advocate sustainable development.  
Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has three 
overarching objectives (economic, social and environmental), which are 
interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways. 

10.84 There would be economic benefits arising from the initial construction as well as 
long term benefits from future spending of occupants on local facilities and services.  
This would assist in maintaining the vitality and viability of Hatfield Town Centre. 

10.85 Social and environment benefits include effective use of the land, measures to 
ensure the student development is car-free (apart from on-site disabled car 
parking), and the sustainable location of the site in terms of accessibility to services 
and facilities.   

10.86 Paragraph 11 of the NPPF states that decisions should apply a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development.  Section (d)(ii) then goes on to explain that 
where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, planning permission 
should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the 
NPPF taken as a whole.  Out-of-date policies include situations where the local 
planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing 
sites. 

10.87 The Housing Delivery Test Measurement Rule Book (by the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities & Local Government, July 2018) includes student households and 
other communal accommodation.  As such, the proposed student development 
would contribute toward housing delivery in the Borough. 

10.88 The Council cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites.  
Therefore, the titled balance as set out in paragraph 11(d)(ii) is applicable.  In this 
case, it is considered that the adverse impacts of granting permission, through the 
aforementioned development plan conflict, would not significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a 
whole.  The proposal would therefore represent sustainable development. 

11 Conclusion 
 

Page 125



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

11.1 The proposed development has been assessed against the policies of the District 
Plan, Emerging Local Plan and NPPF.  The proposed loss of a retail unit would 
partially conflict with the criteria of Policy TCR16, although it would be in line with 
the overall objective of local and national policy to ensure town centre vitality and 
viability.  It has been found to be acceptable in terms of impact on: the character of 
the area; living conditions of future occupiers and neighbouring occupiers; highways 
and parking; environmental health; ecology; flood risk and the wider environment.  
The development would also meet the economic, social and environmental 
objective of sustainable development in mutually supportive ways. 

11.2 Subject to the imposition of relevant conditions and S106 obligations, the proposal 
is considered acceptable in terms of the above.  Therefore no objections are raised 
in regards to the aims and objectives of policies of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 
2005; the Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019. 

 

12 Recommendation   
 
12.1 It is recommended that planning permission be approved subject to completion of a 

satisfactory S106 planning agreement and the agreement of any necessary 
extensions to the statutory determination period to complete this agreement for: 
 

1. Restriction of occupation of student accommodation to registered full time 
students at the University of Hertfordshire; 

2. Tenancy Agreements including clauses that: 
i. Prohibit keeping or controlling a car within WHBC area  
ii. On-site parking prohibited unless for disabled students 
iii. Prohibit applying for/obtaining a resident on-street parking permit 

3. Sustainable transport - £17,625 
4. Refuse bin provision - £1,560 
5. Monitoring fee - £959.25 (subject to indexation) 
6. Access to the student accommodation for monitoring of occupation 

 
and the following conditions: 
 
PRIOR TO DEVELOPMENT 

 
1. No development shall commence until a Construction Management Plan has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority in 
consultation with the highway authority. Thereafter the construction of the 
development shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved Plan.  

a) The Construction Traffic Management Plan must include details of: 

b) Construction vehicle numbers and type; 

c) Traffic management requirements; 

d) Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for car 
parking); 

Page 126



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

e) Siting and details of wheel washing facilities; 

f) Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway; 
and 

g) Timing of construction activities to avoid school pick up/drop off times. 

REASON:  In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of 
the public highway and rights of way, in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 

 

 

 

 

PRIOR TO ABOVE GROUND DEVELOPMENT  

2. No development above ground level shall take place until samples of the 
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the building 
hereby granted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The development shall be implemented using the approved 
materials and subsequently, the approved materials shall not be changed. 

REASON:  To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in the interests of 
visual amenity, in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005, Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

3. No development above ground level shall take place until a scheme to protect 
the proposed development from noise due to traffic is submitted to an agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

The scheme shall ensure that: 

a) The indoor ambient noise levels in living rooms and bedrooms meet the 
standards within BS 8233:2014 (10dB below these levels for noise other 
than traffic); and  

b) Mechanical ventilation is installed, with ventilation rates that meet those 
found within The Noise Insulation Regulations 1975. 

 
The approved scheme must be implemented before any part of the 
accommodation hereby approved is occupied. 

REASON:  To protect the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers, in 
accordance with Policies D1 and R19 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005, 
Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

Page 127



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

PRIOR TO FIRST OCCUPATION 

4. Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, the two disabled 
car parking spaces must be laid out and demarcated in accordance with drawing 
number: PL02 Revision C, and retained permanently thereafter for that specific 
use. 

REASON: To provide accessible parking bays and a high standard of design of 
the development, in accordance with Policy D1 of the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

5. Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, cycle racks must 
be installed in accordance with drawing number: PL02 Revision C.  Thereafter, 
these racks must be permanently retained and kept available for the purposes 
shown on the said plan. 

REASON: To ensure cycle provision is provided and retained, and to promote 
sustainable modes of transport, in accordance with Policies M6 and M14 of the 
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

6. Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, precise details of 
the new glass awning must be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The details must include: 

a) Front elevation (at 1:100 scale) in context with the front elevation of the 
building; 

b) Front and side elevation (at 1:20 scale); and  
c) Type and colour of external materials  

 
Following approval of these details, the glass canopy must be installed and 
permanently retained thereafter. 

 
REASON: The proposal contains insufficient information in regards to the 
detailed design of the glass canopy and this is required in the interests of quality 
of design and visual amenity, in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of the 
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005, Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 and 
the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 
 
POST DEVELOPMENT 

 
7. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country Planning 

Use Classes Order 1987 and Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any orders revoking 
or re-enacting these Orders) this permission shall only permit the use of the 
student accommodation blocks as student residences and the 56  and for no 
other use or purpose. 

REASON: To enable the Local Planning Authority to fully consider the effects of 
development normally permitted by these Orders in the interest of protecting the 
residential amenity of future occupiers in accordance with Policy D1 of the 
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005, Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Page 128



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

 DRAWING NUMBERS 
 

8. The development/works shall not be started and completed other than in 
accordance with the approved plans and details: 

 
Plan 

Number 

Revision 

Number 

Details Received Date 

PL01 A Proposed Basement Plan  15 January 2020 

PL02 C Proposed Ground Floor 

Plan 

15 January 2020 

PL03 B Proposed First and 

Second Floor Plans  

15 January 2020 

PL04   Proposed Third and Fourth 

Floor Plans 

15 January 2020 

PL05  A Proposed Roof Plan 15 January 2020 

PL06  A Proposed Front Elevation 15 January 2020 

PL07 A Proposed Rear Elevation 15 January 2020 

PL08  Proposed Side Elevation 15 January 2020 

PL09  Proposed Section A-A 15 January 2020 

PL10  Proposed Section B-B 15 January 2020 

SURV01  Existing Site Location Plan 

and Block Plan 

03 July 2019 

PL15  A Materials  03 October 2019 

SURV03  Existing First Floor and 

Roof Plans 

03 July 2019 

SURV02 A Existing Basement and 

Ground Floor Plans 

03 July 2019 

SURV06  Existing Section A-A 03 July 2019 

SURV07  Existing Section B-B 03 July 2019 

SURV05  Existing Rear Elevation 03 July 2019 

SURV04  Existing Front Elevation 03 July 2019 

 
REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans and details. 
 

 
INFORMATIVES 
 

Page 129



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

1. This permission does not convey any consent which may be required under any 
legislation other than the Town and Country Planning Acts. Any permission 
required under the Building Regulations or under any other Act, must be obtained 
from the relevant authority or body e.g. Fire Officer, Health and Safety Executive, 
Environment Agency (water interest etc.) Neither does this permission negate or 
override any private covenants or legal interest (easements or wayleaves) which 
may affect the land. 
 

2. The planning authority has determined the application on the basis of the 
information available to it but this does not warrant or indicate that the application 
site is safe or stable or suitable for the development proposed, or that any nearby 
land is structurally stable. The responsibility for safe and suitable development 
rests upon the developer and/or land owner and they should take expert advice 
from properly qualified experts to ensure that the historic chalk mining activities in 
the area will not adversely affect the development. 

 
3. The development will involve the numbering of properties and/or the naming of new 

streets. The applicant MUST contact Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council, 
Environmental Services (01707 357 000) before any name or number is proposed. 
This is a requirement of the Public Health Act 1875 and Public Health 
(Amendment) Act 1907. 

 
4. The construction works, and operation of the proposed development site should be 

done in accordance with the relevant British Standards and Best Management 
Practices, thereby significantly reducing the groundwater pollution risk. It should be 
noted that the construction works may exacerbate any existing pollution. If any 
pollution is found at the site then the appropriate monitoring and remediation 
methods will need to be undertaken.  For further information, we refer you to CIRIA 
Publication C532 "Control of water pollution from construction - guidance for 
consultants and contractors". 

 
5. Cadent have identified operational gas apparatus within the application site 

boundary. This may include a legal interest (easements or wayleaves) in the land 
which restricts activity in proximity to Cadent assets in private land. 

 
6. The Applicant must ensure that proposed works do not infringe on Cadent’s legal 

rights and any details of such restrictions should be obtained from the landowner in 
the first instance. 

 
7. If buildings or structures are proposed directly above the gas apparatus then 

development should only take place following a diversion of this apparatus.  
 

8. The Applicant should contact Cadent’s Plant Protection Team at the earliest 
opportunity to discuss proposed diversions of apparatus to avoid any unnecessary 
delays. 

 
9. If any construction traffic is likely to cross a Cadent pipeline then the Applicant must 

contact Cadent’s Plant Protection Team to see if any protection measures are 
required. 

 

Page 130



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

10. All developers are required to contact Cadent’s Plant Protection Team for approval 
before carrying out any works on site and ensuring requirements are adhered to.  
Email: plantprotection@cadentgas.com Tel: 0800 688 588 

 
11. If bats, or evidence for them, are discovered during the course of roof works, work 

must stop immediately and advice sought on how to proceed lawfully from an 
appropriately qualified and experienced Ecologist or Natural England, to avoid an 
offence being committed. 

 
12. The applicant is advised that the storage of materials associated with the 

construction of this development should be provided within the site on land which is 
not public highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere with the public 
highway. If this is not possible, authorisation should be sought from the Highway 
Authority before construction works commence. Further information is available via 
the website https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/highways-roads-andpavements.aspx by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
13. It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways Act 1980 for any person, without 

lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the free passage along a 
highway or public right of way. If this development is likely to result in the public 
highway or public right of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) 
the applicant must contact the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and 
requirements before construction works commence. Further information is 
available via the website https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-
roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-andpavements.aspx or by telephoning 0300 
1234047. 

 
14. Where any crane is likely to overhang the highway the applicant shall need to 

ensure that a crane license is secured in respect of Section 178 of the Highway Act 
has been arranged. Further information is available via the website 
www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-
anddeveloper-information/business-licences/oversail-licence-to-overhang-a-
structure-on-a-public-road.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
OR 

 
It is recommended that in the event that the applicant fails to agree any necessary 
extensions to the Statutory determination period, that powers are delegated to the 
Head of Planning to refuse planning permission on the basis of the absence of a 
completed S106 agreement for the following reason and subject to the application 
not being called in by the Secretary of State: 

 
1. The applicant has failed to satisfy the sustainability aims of the plan and to 

secure the proper planning of the area by failing to ensure that the development 
proposed would provide a sustainable form of development in mitigating the 
impact on local infrastructure and services which directly relate to the proposal 
and which is necessary for the grant of planning permission. The applicant has 
failed to provide a planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). The Local Planning Authority 
considers that it would be inappropriate to secure the required financial 
contributions by any method other than a legal agreement and the proposal is, 

Page 131

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-andpavements.aspx%20by%20telephoning%200300%201234047
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-andpavements.aspx%20by%20telephoning%200300%201234047


Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

therefore, contrary to Policies M2 and M4 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 
2005. 
 

 Together with the above drawing numbers to also be included. 
 

POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT 

The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and appropriate 
the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework and 
material planning considerations do not justify a decision contrary to the 
development plan. 

 
David Elmore (Development Management) 
Date: 14 January 2020  

Page 132



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

 
 

 

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton 

 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 6 February 2020 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 

 

Appeal Decisions 18/12/2019 to 16/01/2020 

 

 

   

6/2019/1329/HOUSE 

DCLG No: APP/C1950/D/19/3237058 

Appeal By: Mr & Mrs A Taylor 

Site: 33 The Avenue Welwyn AL6 0PW 

Proposal: Installation of 3 x roof lights to existing roof on side elevation, 1x front 
and 1x rear dormer to facilitate extension of existing first floor by 
raising the roof with alterations to openings and lengthening of existing 
side dormer. 

Decision: Appeal Dismissed 

Decision Date: 09/01/2020 

Delegated or 
DMC Decision: 

Delegated 

Summary: This appeal concerned the raising of the existing roof to facilitate an 
extension of the existing first floor. The proposed works also included 
the erection of 1 x front facing dormer and 1 x rear facing dormer, 
insertion of 3 x roof lights to existing roof on side elevation, alterations 
to fenestration and lengthening of existing side dormer.   
 
The key issues were whether the proposed development would be 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt; the effect of the proposal 
on the character and appearance of the host property and surrounding 
area; and whether the harm to the Green Belt would be outweighed by 
other considerations so as to amount to the very special circumstances 
necessary to justify it. 
 
The Inspector found that due to the size of the proposed development 
it would be inappropriate development in the Green Belt, which would, 
by definition, be harmful to the Green Belt. It would also cause limited 
harm to the openness of the Green Belt and would be detrimental to 
the character and appearance of the host property and of the 
surrounding area. The Inspector continued stating that very special 
circumstances do not exist, and the proposal would conflict with the 
Framework and Policy RA3 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan. 
 
The appeal was dismissed. 
 
 

Page 135

Agenda Item 10



6/2019/0824/HOUSE 

DCLG No: APP/C1950/D/19/3235591 

Appeal By: Mr & Mrs D Butt 

Site: 22 Reynards Road Welwyn AL6 9TP 

Proposal: Erection of single storey mono-pitch roofed side extension following 
demolition of existing garage. Raising of roof height to rear projection 
and erection of a storey rear extension to create dual pitched roof and 
following removal of existing dormer window. Insertion of 3 no. gable 
end first floor front extensions. Erection of front porch. Rendering of 
ground floor level and weatherboarding to first floor level. Alteration of 
openings at ground and first floor and insertion of a rooflight to the 
eastern side of eastearn rear projection. Layout of front hardstanding, 
relocation and alteration to retaining wall. 

Decision: Appeal Dismissed 

Decision Date: 14/01/2020 

Delegated or 
DMC Decision: 

Delegated 

Summary: This appeal concerned the erection of single storey side, part first floor 
and part two storey rear extension. The proposal also included a first 
floor front extension to the existing roof including alterations to 
openings.  
 
The key issues were whether the proposed development would be 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt; the effect of the proposal 
on the character and appearance of the host property and surrounding 
area; and whether the harm to the Green Belt would be outweighed by 
other considerations so as to amount to the very special circumstances 
necessary to justify it.  
 
The Inspectorate found that due to the size of the proposed 
development it would be inappropriate development in the Green Belt, 
which would, by definition, be harmful to the Green Belt. It would also 
cause limited harm to the openness of the Green Belt and would be 
detrimental to the character and appearance of the host property and 
of the surrounding area. The Inspector continued stating that very 
special circumstances do not exist, and the proposal would conflict 
with the Framework and Policy RA3 of the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan. 
 
The appeal was dismissed 

 

 
  

   

 

Page 136



   

 

Part I 
Main author: Sarah Smith 

Executive Member: Councillor 
S.Boulton 

 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL  
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE  
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, 
PLANNING AND GOVERNANCE) 

 

PLANNING UPDATE – FUTURE PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

 

1          Introduction 

 

1.1      This report is for the Development Management Committee to provide a 
summary of applications that might be presented to Committee over the 
coming months.  If the call-in or application is withdrawn, the item will not 
be presented. 
 

1.2      The applications should not be debated as part of this agenda, however 
any Councillor wishing to raise specific points about the proposal – such as 
a need for planning obligations or issue(s) that might not readily be 
apparent from the proposal or any other matter, may do so and the case 
officer will consider, where they are planning considerations, these matters 
raised as part of the future Committee report. 

 

1.3      Appendix 1 comprises all applications that have been called-in or objected 
to by Town or Parish Councils.  Appendix 2 comprises those that are a 
departure from the Local Plan, Officers consider should be determined by 
Development Management Committee, the applicant is the Borough 
Council or it has an interest in the land and an objection has been 
received. 
 

2          Recommendation 

 

2.1      That members note this report. 
 

 

Name of author              Sarah Smith 

Title                                Development Management Service Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 137

Agenda Item 11



 

 
 

 

Appendix 1 - Applications called-in or objected to 

 ward description 

6/2016/0270/VAR 

Address Four Oaks 1-4 Great North Road Welwyn AL6 0PL 

Proposal Variation of conditions 1 (occupants) and 2 (number of 
caravans) of Planning Permission N6/2010/0211/S73B to 
increase the number of caravans from 10 to 20 of which no 
more than 5 shall be static caravans or mobile homes. 

Applicant Mr J Connors 

Ward Welwyn West 

Agent Mr M Green 

Call-
In/Objection 
from 

Councillor Julie Cragg, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

Please can we call this in due to the fact that this raises a lot of 
issues of concern for the residents.  There is uneasiness about 
the fact that the number of caravans fluctuates wildly and that 
they residents do not appear to adhere to the planning that they 
do have. 
The restrictions regarding children is there as this was not 
intended to be a permanent site but only to give stability to the 
children to enable them to attend school. 
Are they planning to use caravans as an office suite and run 
business's from there? 

Case Officer Ms Clare Howe 

Call-
In/Objection 
from 

Caroline Williams, Welwyn Parish Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

15/03/2016 21:43 - Welwyn Parish Council at its Planning & 
Licensing Committee of the 15 March 2016 agreed to submit 
Major Objection.  We are unclear why the existing conditions 
have not been enforced.  We understand that the site was 
permitted as a temporary location linked to the schooling of the 
children which have now grown up and not as a permanent site.  
We are concerned that the number of caravans has continued 
to increase overtime both with, and without, permission and 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council have previously stated that 10 
is the maximum that can be accommodated.  The existing 
conditions include that the land should be restored in 
accordance with the scheme previously submitted and 
approved by the planning authority as the residents may have 
already changed. 
 

 

Page 138



Summary This application has been delayed due to the progress of the 
Local Pan, however officers are now working on bringing this 
application to the committee in the next few months. 
 
 
 
 
 

6/2016/1493/VAR 

Address Thunderbridge Yard Bulls Lane Hatfield AL9 7BB 

Proposal Variation of condition 1 to extend the temporary permission; 
condition 3 to permit eight caravans of which no more than five 
would be static caravans; condition 4 to vary the approved 
drawings; and condition 5 to vary the site development scheme; 
of planning permission S6/2011/0116/FP 

Applicant Mr J Robb 

Ward Welham Green & Hatfield South 

Agent Mrs A Heine 

Call-
In/Objection 
from 

Councillor Paul Zukowskyj, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

I would like to formally 'call in ' this applicaiton as it meets at 
least two of the key criteria for a call in, namely 1. The 
application is of an unusually sensitive nature as the current use 
of the site has led to significant adverse impact on neighbours 
amenity and that development beyond that permitted had 
occurred at the site. 2. The wider ramifications are the potential 
impact of permitting this development may have on setting 
precedent for permitting neighbouring sites in the forthcoming 
local plan examination in public. There is also the precedent 
that would be set of permitting such developments, even for a 
limited period, in flood zones. 

Call-
In/Objection 
from 

Sue Chudleigh, North Mymms Parish Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

NMPC OBJECT as this is clearly a new application. The name 
of the applicants is not the name to whom the extant  
Permission was originally given. 
 
The Government Planning Policy for traveller sites Policy E, in 
its introduction, states that making and decision taking should 
protect the Green Belt from inappropriate development - Item 4d 
and Item 16 state that inappropriate development is harmful to 
the Green Belt except in exceptional circumstances. None have 
been indicated.  
 

Page 139



Item 4f - further states the local planning authority should aim to 
reduce the number of unauthorised developments and 
encampments.  This site has consistently exceeded the 
numbers stated in the original Permission and it is too small a 
site to be abused in this way. 
 
Item 4k - states the local planning authority have to have due 
regard to the protection of local amenities and local 
environment. 
There  have also been sanitary issues arising from the over-use 
of the site. 
One or more travelling caravans have also been let to itinerant 
workers in contravention to the terms of the licence.  This has 
caused considerable problems to the neighbourhood. 
 
Item 13 of the Planning Policy for traveller sites states the local 
planning authority should ensure that their policies: 
 
a)  promote peaceful and integrated co-existence between the 
site and the local community  
 
f)  avoid placing undue pressure on local infrastructure and 
services  
 
g)  do not locate sites in areas at high risk of flooding, including 
functional floodplains, given the particular vulnerability of 
caravans 
 
Policy E, Item 24 addresses local provision and it is the case 
that WHBC do not have a firm policy on Gypsy and Traveller 
sites in the Borough but there are existing sites in Welham 
Green – including a long term Showmans site which causes no 
trouble – however the Foxes Lane site also is also over used as 
the numbers of caravans exceeds the permitted numbers. 
Item 27 states that if a local planning authority cannot 
demonstrate an up to date 5 year supply of  deliverable sites 
this should be a material consideration and in this case the 
existing sites result in  over supply in Welham Green therefore 
any expansion is unwarranted. 
 
Item 25 states that the local planning authority should very 
strictly limit traveller site development  in the Green Belt and 
further ….”sites in rural areas do not dominate the nearest 
settled  community.” Expansion of this site would cause stress 
on services and neighbours. 
 
Item 16 Inappropriate development is harmful to the Green Belt 
and should not be approved, except in very special 
circumstances. Traveller sites (temporary or permanent) in the 
Green Belt are inappropriate development.  Subject to the best 

Page 140



interests of the child, personal circumstances and unmet need 
are unlikely to clearly outweigh harm to the Green Belt and any 
other harm so as to establish very special circumstances, none 
of which have been indicated in this case. 
 
Item 24(a) The Local Planning Authority has to take into 
account the existing level of local provision and Welham Green 
currently has provision.  Indeed, even this is exceeded 
unlawfully – see report from Dennis Pennyfather, Licensing 
Technical Officer, dated 24 August 2016. 
 
Item 25 This further states the Local Planning Authority should 
very strictly limit …. sites in rural areas should not dominate the 
nearest settled community.  Of late the activities at 
Thunderbridge Yard have caused extreme concern and 
disturbance to the neighbourhood.  Police and other authorities 
are aware of this, which seems to arise from the subletting of 
the excessive on-site accommodation to persons other than 
gypsies or travellers. 
 
Footnote 9 States there is no presumption that a temporary 
grant of Planning Permission should be granted permanently, 
therefore North Mymms Parish Council consider, taking into 
account comments by Licensing Technical Officer that the site is 
not big enough, there are fire safety issues and this is a known 
flood plain with previous flooding issues, caravans on this 
Green Belt site are inappropriate development. 

Case Officer Mr Mark Peacock 

Summary This application has been delayed due to the progress of the 
Local Pan, however officers are now working on bringing this 
application to the committee in the next few months. 

6/2018/2768/OUTLINE 

Address Hatfield Business Park Hatfield AL10 9SL 

Proposal Outline application for a large-scale mixed use development 
including 1,100 new homes and supporting infrastructure 
including a primary school, local centre and open space with all 
matters reserved 

Applicant Arlington Business Parks  

Ward Hatfield Villages 

Agent Mr M Hill 

Call-
In/Objection 
from 

Councillor Duncan Bell, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Page 141



Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

I would like to conditionally call-in the above application.  
Conditional in the sense that I would only ask for it to be brought 
before DMC if Planning Department is minded to recommend 
approval. 
 
My grounds for calling this in are: 
 
• The size and scale of the proposed development make it a 
matter of significant public interest. 
• The proposal is on Green Belt land, and would risk 
coalescence with the eastern outskirts of St Albans. 
• The site is not one of those accepted for development as part 
of our current Local Plan submission.  
 
 
I will be making a more detailed set of representations once i 
have studied the plans in more detail, but I would be grateful if 
you could log my call-in on to the system as soon as possible. 
 

Case Officer Ms Gill Claxton 

Summary This major planning application is anticipated to be presented to 
committee in 2020. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6/2019/1582/FULL 

Address Land rear of 10-18 Mymms Drive Brookmans Park Hatfield AL9 
7AF 

Proposal Erection of 1x dwelling and 2x replacement bridges following 
demolition of existing buildings and bridges 

Applicant Mr & Mrs C Pocock 

Ward Brookmans Park & Little Heath 

Agent C/O Agent 

Call-
In/Objection 
from 

Sue Chudleigh, North Mymms Parish Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

North Mymms Parish Council maintain the Major Objection to 
the proposal as it would result in loss of openness to the Green 
Belt and as no special circumstances exist it would be 
inappropriate development. The application form is misleading 
as the vehicular and pedestrian access (item 8.) would be 
altered, particularly as vehicles will now have to have 
strengthened bridges for access resulting in industrial type 

Page 142



construction in a rural location. The proposal is located where it 
is visible and therefore will cause harm as a result of its effect 
on the openness adjacent to Green Belt, the comments in the 
Heritage Statement are biased in favour of the proposal but do 
not provide sufficiently good reasons to alter NMPC’s strong 
objections, and the proposal is back land development. It is also 
noted that the applicant’s previous application for this site, 
refused by WHBC is now awaiting a decision on appeal. 
 
North Mymms Parish Council bring Welwyn Hatfield Borough 
Council’s attention to the attached Land Registry title number 
HD213805 and in particular section 12.2 which imposes 
Restrictive Covenants on the land owners and gives North 
Mymms Parish Council the ability to enforce these Covenants. 
On this basis Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council should note that 
North Mymms Parish Council, given the Major Objection to the 
application, will not be giving written consent to the applicants. 
 

Case Officer Ms Lucy Hale 

 This application is likely to be presented to committee in 
February or March 2020. 

6/2019/2311/FULL 

Address 7 Hanyards Lane Cuffley Potters Bar EN6 4AS 

Proposal Erection of 2x dwellings following demolition of existing dwelling 

Applicant C/O Agent 

Ward Northaw and Cuffley 

Agent Mr S Sandler 

Call-
In/Objection 
from 

The Clerk, Northaw & Cuffley Parish Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

This is a backland development in a garden for which there is 
no precedent in Hanyards Lane.  
2.  There is precedent on Hanyards for two houses side by side 
where the plot is wide enough, but not for "Tandem 
Developments" 
3. NCPC are not aware that any similar Tandem Developments 
have ever been approved in Cuffley.   
4. We are concerned that the access road is too narrow for 
refuse lorries and fire/ambulance vehicles and for shared 
vehicle/pedestrian access. There is no appropriate turning 
circle.  It is unrealistic for house owner of House Type-02 to 
walk every week to place bins at the entrance. Refuse lorries 

Page 143



must have access. 
5. The bulk and mass of the two properties represent an over 
development of the site (approx 0.6 acres), in the context of a 
Lane which has large single dwelling houses either side. 
6. This plot has previously been subdivided 
7. The development is out of character with the local 
environment.  
8. The very small rear garden House Type-02 will be north 
facing  

Case Officer Mr Tom Gabriel 

Summary This application is likely to be presented to committee in March 
2020. 

6/2019/2430/MAJ 

Address 1 and 1A Town Centre and 3-9  Town Centre Hatfield AL10 0JZ 

Proposal Demolition of existing buildings and the erection 3 x buildings 
comprising of 71 x flats and 1,110 sqm of flexible commercial 
uses (use class: A1, A2, A3, A4, D1 & D2) (including a small 
office element (B1a)) and associated works to include car and 
bicycle parking, plant and refuse storage and public realm 
works 

Applicant C/O Agent 

Ward Hatfield Cent. 

Agent Mr C Lloyd 

Call-
In/Objection 
from 

Carrie Lloyd, Hatfield Town Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

The Committee wish to make a major objection due to this 
application having insufficient allocated car spaces. The car 
parking also needs to shared with shops and a health centre. 
The Committee wished to encourage and suggest underground 
parking for this application.  
 

Case Officer Mrs Elizabeth Aston 

Summary This application is likely to be presented to committee in March 
2020. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 144



6/2019/2621/FULL 

Address The Peartree Hollybush Lane Welwyn Garden City AL7 4JJ 

Proposal Erection of outbuilding 

Applicant Mr D Patel 

Ward Hollybush 

Agent Mr V Chirila 

Call-
In/Objection 
from 

Councillor Margaret Birleson, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

I wish to call this in- planning application 6/2019/2621/ FULL 
(Peartree Public House). 
 
This will have a significant environmental impact on 
neighbouring properties, and the noise and disturbances will 
have a detrimental effect on the local residents. 
Please can you advise if there is anymore I need to add. 
 

Case Officer Mr Tom Gabriel 

Summary This application is likely to be presented to committee in 
February or March 2020. 

6/2019/2714/OUTLINE 

Address One YMCA, 90 Peartree Lane, Welwyn Garden City AL7 3UL 

Proposal Outline planning application for a hybrid application for 
demolition of existing hostel, development of a four storey 100 
bed YMCA Hostel (All details submitted for determination) and a 
2, 3 and 4 storey building providing up to 43 residential 
apartments (All details retained for future determination as 
reserved matters,except means of access) with associated car 
parking and landscaping 

Applicant Mr G Foxell  

Ward Peartree 

Agent Miss H Scott  

Call-
In/Objection 
from 

Councillor Jayne Lesley Ranshaw, Welwyn Hatfield Borough 
Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

I would like to call-in this application for the following reasons 
(unless the Officer is minded to refuse it); The proposed height 
and density of the buildings may conflict with design policies. 
The introduction of the three-storey apartment building to the 

Page 145



front of the site fails to respect the character and context of the 
area and that of neighbouring buildings (height, mass, scale) 
including the adjacent Peartree Close. The proposal of having 
three story apartments along the front of the site will appear 
obtrusive and incongruous within the street scene. There is 
insufficient parking (confirmed by the Consultee Response from 
Parking Services - WHBC). The black brick / yellow fenestration 
appearance of the hostel building does not compliment the 
apartment building and will adversely affect local amenity. There 
is no affordable housing. 

Case Officer Ms Clare Howe 

Summary This application is likely to be presented to committee in March 
2020. 

6/2019/2902/HOUSE 

Address 2A Whitehill Ayot St Peter Welwyn AL6 9AF 

Proposal Erection of single storey front extension 

Applicant Mr S Ronay 

Ward Welwyn West 

Agent Mr S Ronay 

Call-
In/Objection 
from 

Councillor Sunny Thusu, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

Should this application be rejected I as the borough councillor of 
Welwyn West would be minded to call it in due to the 
exceptional circumstances of the application as well as the 
alternative which would cause considerable harm to the 
neighbours. 
Should this application be rejected I would be minded to call it in 
as the alternative would cause more disruption to the 
neighbours and also because of the exceptional circumstances 
to application. 

Case Officer Mrs Sarah Madyausiku 

Summary This application is likely to be presented to committee in 
February or March 2020. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 146



6/2019/3178/FULL 

Address 49 Briars Wood Hatfield AL10 8DH 

Proposal Change of use to sui-generis large house of multiple occupation 
(HMO) providing 7 bedrooms 

Applicant Mr M Choudhry 

Ward Hatfield South West 

Agent Mr Joe DUrso 

Call-
In/Objection 
from 

Councillor James Broach, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

I would like to call this application  - though I am happy for this 
to be refused under delegated powers if that is the 
recommendation from officers.  Please see the attached file 
citing the relevant planning reasons 
 

Case Officer Mr Antoine Commenville 

Summary This application is likely to be presented to committee in 
February or March 2020. 

 

 

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



   

 

Appendix 2 - All other applications not comprising call-ins or objections 

 ward description 

6/2019/1208/MAJ 

Address The Lawn Cemetery Southway Hatfield AL10 8HS 

Proposal Erection of a new crematorium and machinery store, to include new car 
parking provision and landscaping following demolition of existing 
chapel, machinery store, lodge house and central colonnade 

Applicant Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council  

Ward Welham Green & Hatfield South 

Agent Ms B Ballinger 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

To be presented to DMC as a major application for which WHBC is 
applicant 

Case Officer Mr Mark Peacock 

  

S6/2015/1342/PP 

Address Land to the north east of King George V Playing Fields, Northaw Road 
East, Cuffley, Hertfordshire, EN6 4RD 

Proposal Outline planning application for residential development of up to 121 
dwellings, associated infrastructure and a change of use from 
agricultural land to an extension of the King George V playing field.  All 
matters reserved except for new vehicular access to serve the site, the 
provision of surface water discharge points and the levels of 
development platforms 

Applicant Lands Improvement Holdings Landmatch 

Ward Northaw and Cuffley 

Agent Mr M Smith 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

The application is of a scale, sensitive nature or is controversial and 
officer’s consider that in accordance with the Council’s constitution, it 
should be determined by the Development Management Committee.   
Additionally, the application is a departure from the provisions of the 
appropriate development plan, other policy guidance or supplementary 
planning guidance. 

Case Officer Mr Mark Peacock 

  
 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Main Author: Sarah Smith 

Executive Member: Cllr S. Boulton 
 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 6 FEBRUARY 2020 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 
  

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE REPORT 

OCTOBER – DECEMBER 2019 

(All wards) 

1 Introduction 

1.1 This report relates to the performance of the Development Management Service 
over the three month period October to December 2019.   

1.2 Members should note that, whilst this quarter is traditionally considered to be 
quarter three of the financial year, the planning department software considers 
this to be quarter four, as with the calendar year. Therefore Members will see 
that some of the graphs reflect both of these approaches. 

2 Recommendation 

2.1 That Members note the content of this report.  

3 Application Numbers 

3.1 The graphs below show the number of applications that have been received 
during 2019 (the last four quarters).  In summary, in quarter one of 2019, 708 
applications were received, in quarter two 808 applications were received, in 
quarter three, 775 applications were received and in quarter four, 767 
applications were received. This data shows a slight decrease in application 
numbers in the last quarter.

 

Page 151

Agenda Item 12



 

Major applications are those with 10 or more dwellings, sites of 1 hectare or 
more, or provision of 1,000m² new floor area or more. 

Minor applications include (but are not limited to) up to 9 dwellings, gypsy and 
traveller sites and commercial proposals not falling within the major category. 

Others include (but are not limited to) householder, advertisements and listed 
building applications.  

 The ‘non countable’ category are those applications which are not reported to the 
Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG).  Such applications 
include, but are not limited to: prior approvals, discharge of conditions, etc.   

 Estate Management applications are not planning applications and therefore are 
subject to different policies and regulations compared to planning.  However, 
they continue to comprise a significant amount of the department’s work and 
have therefore been reported separately for information.  These applications 
include proposals for both built development and for landscaping (tree/hedge 
removal) proposals.   

3.2 From the graph above, it can be seen that Estate Management, Non-countable 
and Householders remain the greatest number submitted. Officer workloads 
have remained higher than is desired. It is anticipated that the new proposals for 
dealing with Estate Management applications, in a separate team, will serve to 
reduce planning officer workloads to a more manageable level. The transition to 
these arrangements has now started to take place with the appointment of the 
new Estate Management Scheme Manager. 

4 Performance 

Applications 

4.1 Government (MHCLG) monitor planning authorities on their speed of making 
decisions in relation to major and non-major applications.  The target at national 
level is to determine 60% of major applications within the statutory period of 13 
weeks or subject to the agreement of a time extension over a rolling two-year 
period.  In addition, the Council has a local performance indicator for majors of 
70%.  For non-majors, it is 70% over a two-year period.  For authorities who 
under-perform against this target, they will be classed as ‘poorly performing’ and 
applications for major development may be made by developers directly to the 
Planning Inspectorate should the target be missed.  The Council would not 
receive the fees for these but would be expected to deal with all of the associated 
administration.   

The following graph relates to the percentage of planning applications 
determined within set timescales.  

Page 152



 

4.2 Over the last quarter performance for majors has dropped to 88.9%. 
Performance for others has dipped to 85.3%, with performance for minors 
maintaining the same as the last quarter at 93.3%. Decisions are still being made 
within both statutory and local targets. 

These targets do continue to be achieved due to seeking time extensions for 
dealing with the applications beyond their statutory time period from applicants.  
Time extensions might be sought for a variety of reasons but might include 
seeking negotiations, complex and/or controversial proposals and items 
presented to Committee.  Time extensions do not go against the authority in 
terms of speed of decision making when reporting to the government.  The graph 
below shows the total number of applications determined each month in blue and 
alongside this in yellow are the number of applications where time extensions 
have been sought on those determined.  Seeking time extensions means that 
case officer workloads overall increase which makes dealing with newer 
applications on time more challenging.  Over the longer term, approximately 25% 
of all applications determined are subject to a time extension.  

 

4.3 Of the decisions reported above, the following graphs show the number of 
decisions that were granted, refused, split (i.e. part granted and part refused) and 

85.7 
87.5 

100 

88.9 

80.8 
84.4 

93.3 93.3 
86.2 

89.7 88.6 
85.3 

60 

65 

70 

75 

80 

85 

90 

95 

100 

105 

Quarter to end 
of Mar 19 

Quarter to end 
of June 19 

Quarter to end 
of Sept 19 

Quarter to end 
of Dec 19 

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 

Speed of Decisions 

Majors Minors Others 

Page 153



withdrawn across the major, minor and other categories.  All three graphs 
demonstrate that the majority of applications are granted. Withdrawals are not 
reported as part of our overall performance to government but still will have 
involved a significant amount of work by the case officers. These applications are 
frequently resubmitted often as a ‘free go’. 

 

 

Page 154



 

Landscaping 

4.4 As with previous quarters, the performance of the landscaping team is being 
reported to enable Members to understand some of the work undertaken by 
landscape and tree officers which is not already reported to other committees 
such as the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

4.5 The landscaping team is responsible for dealing with applications relating to Tree 
Preservation Orders (TPOs), applications for works to trees in Conservation 
Areas and Estate Management applications where works are proposed to trees 
or hedges.  They are also involved in masterplanning for strategic, and other 
large, sites to advise on landscaping and planting plans. 

4.6 In the region of 200 applications per annum are received which are Estate 
Management and 300 TPO and works to trees in Conservation Area applications.  
Applications for works to trees in Conservation Areas require the Council to 
determine whether or not the tree should be protected by a TPO.  Decisions 
should be made within 6-weeks and the Order issued within this timescale.  If a 
decision is not made on the first day of the 7th week, the applicant may undertake 
the works that they were seeking consent for.   

4.7 The following graphs show the number of TPO and conservation area 
applications determined each month and whether they were determined within 
the statutory timescales. This shows little consistency with the number of 
applications received each month making resourcing more difficult and the 
number of decisions made in time are sensitive to changes in officer capacity. It 
should be noted however that where the Tree Officer identifies a potential risk to 
a tree of value, this is normally determined within the statutory period in order 
that further protection for the tree can be put in place if necessary. 

Page 155



 

 

4.8 The graph below shows the number of decisions made on TPO’s and Trees in 
Conservation Areas during the reporting period. The Landscape Officer tries to 
negotiate acceptable schemes, hence a high approval or no objection rate. 

Page 156



 

 

 

4.9 The graph above shows the number of applications for works to trees within the 
Estate Management area. 

4.10 In addition to dealing with applications, Members will be aware from reports 
presented to Committee that the landscaping officer will comment on proposals 
that might have an impact on either existing landscaping or will provide an 
opinion on proposed landscaping.  The following graphs show the average 
number of consultations per month is approximately 25. Each of these 
consultations has the potential to consume significant landscape officer time as 
they interrogate tree reports and seek to advise on landscaping improvements to 
proposals. 

Page 157



 

Appeals 

4.11 The chart below shows the number of applications and enforcement notices that 
have been allowed, allowed with conditions, dismissed, split decisions (part 
allowed and part refused) and withdrawn at appeal.  This quarter has seen a 
decrease in the number of decisions compared to the previous quarter, from 24 
to 8. It now appears that the Inspectorate is dealing with appeals in batches and 
so decisions come through in groups at a time. In the most recent quarter there 
were 7 appeals dismissed and 1 that was allowed.  As has been noted 
previously, over the longer term, there continues to be a trend towards appeals 
being allowed or allowed with conditions by the Planning Inspectorate. It should 
be noted that, with the relatively small number of decisions received, the figures 
are particularly sensitive to minor changes. 

4.12 As well as the Government monitoring authorities in relation to performance for 
determining applications, it also monitors quality in relation to the number of 
major and non-major applications overturned (i.e. allowed) at appeal.  The 
threshold is for fewer than 10% of major applications overturned at appeal over a 
rolling two-year period.  For authorities who exceed this target, they will be 
classed as ‘poorly performing’ and applications for major developments may be 
made by developers directly to the Planning Inspectorate.  

4.13 As of 1 April 2018 the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) implemented a threshold for quality of decisions for non-major 
applications at 10%.  For clarification, this is 10% of all non-major (i.e. minor and 
others) decisions refused by the Council and subsequently overturned at appeal 
over a rolling two-year period.  The latest statistics collated by MHCLG have 
been published and relate to the two year period between April 2016 to March 
2018 (latest available).  For major applications, these figures show that a total of 
87 major decisions have been determined with 4 being appealed and 2 
overturned. The percentage is therefore 2.3%.  For non-majors, these figures 
show that a total of 92 appeals have been determined of which 32 were allowed.  
Over the same time period 1,787 applications have been determined.  The 
percentage is therefore 1.8%.  The Council is therefore significantly within 
government’s target and not at risk of being classed as poorly performing.  

Page 158



4.14 Planning appeals can be costly to administer in terms of officer time and expert 
advice. A straightforward householder appeal may take approximately 5 hours of 
officer time to register and respond to, assuming that it follows a written 
representations procedure. 

4.15 As well as the cost of administration, the Council must have regard to the 
potential to have costs awarded against it, should it be found that the decision, or 
the Council’s behaviour was unreasonable, such cases are reported to the 
Development Management Committee. 

 

5 Enforcement 

Number of cases received 

5.1 Enforcement continues to be busy. However there has been a slight increase in 
the number of new cases being registered in the last quarter.  

5.2 As with previous quarters, a lot of cases reported are those considered as having 
a less serious impact upon amenity, shown in blue and yellow.  Two cases 
reported consisted of unauthorised works to listed buildings. 

 

 

 

Page 159



Notices Issued 

5.3 The chart below shows the number of notices issued.  The issuing of an 
enforcement notice is the last resort for the Council.  Government guidance 
requires local planning authorities to try to negotiate with a contravener to find 
alternative means by which an unacceptable development may be made 
acceptable.  A significant amount of time is spent by the enforcement officers in 
negotiation. However, it can be seen that one enforcement notice and one Listed 
Building enforcement notice has been issued in the last quarter. 

 

5.4 There are currently 415 outstanding enforcement cases (both planning and 
Estate Management), some of which are awaiting prosecution, notices to be 
served or, in the case of estate management, for arbitration.  Others are being 
investigated with the aim to find an acceptable resolution for all parties.  The next 
report providing an update on enforcement action taken (i.e. notices issued) will 
be presented to the end of February’s Development Management Committee 
(DMC meeting as a Part II (confidential) item. 

6 Updates  

6.1 Since the last report, there have been further changes to the staffing of the 
Development Management service.  Clare Howe is now a Principal Development 
Management Officer.  The service is however still reliant on agency staff to fill 
gaps in full time staff where permanent appointments have not yet been possible. 

7 Conclusion 

7.1 Performance has been largely maintained above required local and national 
levels.  Recruitment remains very challenging but efforts continue to try and 
recruit high quality permanent staff. 

Author: Sarah Smith (Development Management Service Manager) 
Date:  20 January 2020 
 

Page 160


	Agenda
	6 THE LAWN CEMETERY, SOUTHWAY, HATFIELD, AL10 8HS - 6/2019/1208/MAJ - ERECTION OF A NEW CREMATORIUM AND MACHINERY STORE, TO INCLUDE NEW CAR PARKING PROVISION AND LANDSCAPING FOLLOWING DEMOLITION OF EXISTING CHAPEL, MACHINERY STORE, LODGE HOUSE AND CENTRAL COLONNADE
	7 MINSTER HOUSE, MINSTER CLOSE, HATFIELD, AL10 9JN - 6/2019/2086/MAJ - ERECTION OF 90 RESIDENTIAL UNITS FOR OVER 55'S WITH ASSOCIATED COMMUNAL AREAS, AMENITY SPACE, CAR PARKING AND ALTERATIONS TO EXISTING ACCESS FOLLOWING DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BUILDINGS
	8 22 THE COMMON, HATFIELD, AL10 0ND - 6/2019/2478/MAJ - ERECTION OF 4 STOREY CAR PARK COMPRISING 420 PARKING SPACES, MOTORCYCLE AND CYCLE PARKING, STORAGE AND ANCILLARY SPACE AND ASSOCIATED LANDSCAPING AND PUBLIC REALM WORKS TO ROBIN HOOD LANE
	9 41-43 TOWN CENTRE, HATFIELD, AL10 0JJ - 6/2019/1665/MAJ - PART RETENTION OF GROUND FLOOR AND BASEMENT LEVEL RETAIL AND RETAIL STORAGE (A1 USE) WITH THE FIRST FLOOR CONVERTED AND EXTENDED FROM RETAIL STORAGE (A1 USE) FOR FOUR STOREYS OF 47NO STUDENT FLATS (C2 USE) AND ASSOCIATED GROUND FLOOR CYCLE AND REFUSE STORAGE
	10 APPEAL DECISIONS
	11 PLANNING UPDATE - FUTURE PLANNING APPLICATIONS
	11- Appendix 2 Future Applications Cttee Report No Call-In

	12 DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE REPORT OCTOBER - DECEMBER 2019

